
ARCADE CREEK RECREATION & PARK DISTRICT 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 

AGENDA 
Thursday, September 19, 2024 @ 6pm 

Herzog Community Center Oak 
4855 Hamilton Street Sacramento, CA 95841 

(916) 482-8377 info@acrpd.com acrpd.com 

Board of Directors 
Scott Miller, Chair 
Travis Dworetzky, Vice Chair 
Greg Wilson, Treasurer 
Alex Vasser, Board Director 
Michael Hanson, Board Director 

1. CALL TO ORDER
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
3. ROLL CALL
4. PUBLIC COMMENT (Non-Agenda Items)

Members of the public may address the Board on topics within the District’s jurisdiction that are not listed 
on this agenda. Comments are limited to three (3) minutes. It is a violation of state law for the Board to 
discuss or take action on non-agenda items. Board members may only briefly ask clarifying questions or 
refer the matter to staff. Members of the public desiring a response to a specific question are encouraged 
to contact the General Manager. If members want to express a public comment about an agendized item, 
please submit a public comment card and the Chair will call for comments at the appropriate time. 

5. CONSENT ITEMS (Motion & Roll Call Vote)
Consent Agenda items are considered administratively routine and will be acted upon in one motion, 
unless separate action on a specific item is necessary. The Chairperson will consider any requests for 
discussion on the items prior to approval of the Consent Agenda.  
a. Minutes of Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors on 7/18/24
b. Minutes of Board of Directors Budget Workshop Meeting 8/3/24
c. Minutes of Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors on 8/15/24
d. District Financial Report - FY 24-25 Period 2
e. District Payroll Report - FY 24-25 Period 2
f. Receipt of Resource – CSDA (California Special District Association) Special District Board

Member Handbook
g. Receipt of Resource – 2024 Brown Act Handbook published by RWG LAW

6. GENERAL ADMINISTRATION INFORMATION (Non-Agenda Items & No Action Required)
a. General Manager Report

7. STANDING COMMITTEE REPORTS (No Action Required)
In compliance with Government Code Section §54954.2(a)(3), Board members shall provide brief 
reports on meetings attended at the expense of the District at the next Regular Board meeting. 
a. Administration/Finance Committee Report - (none)
b. Personnel/Policies Committee Report - (none)
c. Planning/Maintenance Committee Report - (none)
d. Ad Hoc Committee Report - (none)

8. UNFINISHED BUSINESS
9. NEW BUSINESS

a. Discussion Regarding Creation and Use of Board Subcommittees
b. Coordination Regarding Mandatory Board Member Trainings

10. INFORMATION/CORRESPONDENCE/ANNOUNCEMENTS (No Action Required)
a. Articles / Correspondence / Public Outreach

11. BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ COMMENTS (Non-Agenda Items & No Action Required)

ACRPD Mission Statement  
Arcade Creek Recreation and Park District enhances the quality of life 
for District residents, through the provision of well maintained, safe 

parks, facilities, natural resources, and by offering meaningful family 
oriented recreation experiences. 



General discussion on topics for future meetings or comments on items of interest to the Board 
a. Recreation & Community Center Space
b. Standing Committee - Chair and Vice Chair Assignments

12. ADJOURNMENT
The next regular Board of Directors meeting will be held Thursday October 17, 2024 @ 6PM

ADA Compliance Statement  
The District will provide reasonable accommodations for persons with disabilities planning to participate in Board Meetings 
who contact the main District Office at least 48 hours before the meeting at 916-482-8377. 

Release of Board Package Documents 
Non-confidential Board Package materials will be made available to the public at the same time they are made available to 
the Board of Directors. Copies of the Board Package are available online at www.acrpd.com and a hard copy is available 
72 hours in advance of the board meeting at the District Office during business hours. 

http://www.acrpd.com/


Arcade Creek Recreation & Park District 
4855 Hamilton Street, Sacramento, California 95841 

MINUTES 
of 

The Arcade Creek Recreation & Park District 
Meeting of the Board of Directors 

Held on: 

July 18, 2024 
Meeting conducted in the Herzog Community Center Oak (Small) Room 

1. Call to Order and Perform Roll Call: Chair S. Miller Time: 6:02PM 

Board Members Present: A. Vassar, T. Dworetzky and S. Miller.

NOTE: Board Member/Treasurer G. Wilson joined the meeting via Zoom 
teleconference from the Hilton Santa Cruz Hotel in Scotts Valley. 

Board Members Absent: M. Hanson

Staff Members Present: A. Peterson, and D. Nishihara

Legal Counsel Present: D. Cole

Auditor Present: None 

Guests: Brandy Wade, Boris Golub 

Public Attending: None 

2. PUBLIC COMMENTS: None 

3. CLOSED SESSION: Public Employee Appointment
Closed Session started at 6:03pm and concluded at 6:42PM. 
No reportable action taken. The Board of Directors opted to 
offer the position of General Manager to Ms. Brandy Wade. 

4. GUESTS:

     Old Business: Proposed Successor Agreement Between TRUSD 
and ACRPD 
No reportable action taken.  Postponed to meeting on 
April 18, 2024, following joint site walk through. 

New Business: 
1st Motion 

a. Approve Employment Agreement for General Manager
Board Member T. Dworetzky made a motion to approve
General Manager agreement with Ms, Wade. Board Member
G. Wilson offered a second to the motion.
Chairperson S. Miller called a vote to approve the motion by T.
Dworetzky and seconded by Board Member G. Wilson.
4 – YEA / 1 – Absent
b. Approve Employment Agreement for Interim General
Manager
No Action Taken

DRAFT



Presentation: HSP Shop Renovation – Alternative Option 
(Plan of Action) Presented by Boris Golub – Resident and 
Volunteer. 
No Action Taken 

5. ANNOUNCEMENTS: Hamilton Street Park New Playground Dedication Event –
Friday July 12th at 6pm – RECAP 
No Action Taken 

6. TASKS STARTED / ACCOMPLISHED:
Staff presented newly formatted tracking sheet for completed 
and pending items.  

7. CONSENT:
Motion Board Member T. Dworetzky made a motion to adopt consent 

items Board Member G. Wilson second the motion. 

Call to Vote Chairperson S. Miller called a vote to approve the motion by 
T. Dworetzky and seconded by Board Member G. Wilson.

Motion Passed Motion passed 4-Yes and 1-Absent. 
A. Vassar, G. Wilson, T. Dworetzky, and S. Miller voted Yes.
M. Hanson was absent.

8. OLD BUSINESS:
8a. Installation of water filtration system at Hamilton Street 

Park well - update 
No reportable action taken. 

8b. General Manager Recruitment 
Update of new positions and vacancies 

a. Account Clerk
b. Administrative Manger
c. District Intern
d. Building Monitor

Board received report
No Action Taken 

8c. Budget Update – FY 2024-25 
Board received report 

No Action Taken 
M. Hanson was absent.

9. NEW BUSINESS:
9a  Notice of Election - November 8 2024 

9b 

Board received staff report 
No action taken 

Park Enforcement 
Letter of Agency – Expires on 7/10/25 
Board received report 
No action taken 

DRAFT



10. DISCUSSIONS: Future Board Items Requested
Special Board Meeting – Budget Training and Review 
Workshop – Saturday August 3, 2024 

11. ADJOURNMENT: Meeting Ended 7:49pm 
Board Member A. Vasser motioned to close the meeting. 
Board Member G. Wilson seconded the motion. 
Motion passed 3 – yes, 1- abstain, and 1 – absent 

A. Vassar, G. Wilson, and S. Miller voted yes.
T. Dworetzky abstained from the vote.

M. Hanson was absent.

DRAFT



Arcade Creek Recreation & Park District 
4855 Hamilton Street, Sacramento, California 95841 

MINUTES 
of 

The Arcade Creek Recreation & Park District 
Budget Workshop Meeting of the Board of Directors 

Held on: 
August 3, 2024 

Meeting conducted in the Herzog Community Center Oak (Small) Room 

1. Call to Order and Perform Roll Call: Chair S. Miller Time: 9:30am 
Board Members Present: A. Vassar, T. Dworetzky, M. Hanson, G.

Wilson, and S. Miller. 
Board Members Absent: A. Vassar left at 10:42am
Staff Members Present: D. Nishihara and B. Wade
Legal Counsel Present: None 

Auditor Present: None 
Guests: None 

Public Attending: None 

2. PUBLIC COMMENTS: None

4. GUESTS: None

5. ANNOUNCEMENTS None

6. TASKS STARTED / ACCOMPLISHED: None

7. CONSENT: No reportable action taken. 

8. OLD BUSINESS: a. Budget Workshop FY 24/25 discussion
(i.) Review of tentative Committee Workflow (No action taken)
(ii) Discussion regarding HSP Playground Shade Structure
and the feasibility of the associated cost starting at $120,000
(No action taken)
(iii) Discussion regarding the HSP Maintenance Shop Plan
and potential options (No action taken)
(iv.) Discussion regarding Fiscal Forecasting FY 25/26 and FY
26/27 (No action taken)

9. NEW BUSINESS:
10. DISCUSSIONS:

None
None

DRAFT



11. ADJOURNMENT: Meeting Ended 1:19pm
Board Member M. Hanson motioned to close the meeting. 
Board Member T. Dworetzky seconded the motion. 
Motion passed 3 – yes and 1 – absent 
M. Hanson, G. Wilson, T. Dworetzky and S. Miller voted yes.
A. Vassar absent left at 10:42am.

 
  
 
 
 
 
 DRAFT



Arcade Creek Recreation & Park District 
4855 Hamilton Street, Sacramento, California 95841 

MINUTES 
of 

The Arcade Creek Recreation & Park District 
Meeting of the Board of Directors 

Held on: 

August 15, 2024 
Meeting conducted in the Herzog Community Center Oak (Small) Room 

1. Call to Order and Perform Roll Call: Chair S. Miller Time: 6:06PM 

Board Members Present: A. Vassar, T. Dworetzky, G. Wilson and S.
Miller. 

Board Members Absent: M. Hanson

Staff Members Present: B. Wade, A. Peterson, and D. Nishihara

Legal Counsel Present: None 

Auditor Present: None 

Guests: None 

Public Attending: Clay Kemper, Danielle Dworetzky, 
Ernesto Brizuela, Sanjay Lee, Jason 
Almonte, Rahkeem Fitchett, Jesus 
Samuels, Terrance Dennis, Jennell 
Dennis 

2. PUBLIC COMMENTS: Clay Kemper spoke in regards in the favor of an addition 
of a water park/splash pad at ACRPD. 
Danielle Dworetzky, Ernesto Brizuela, Sanjay Lee, 
Jason Almonte, Rahkeem Fitchett, Jesus Samuels, 
Terrance Dennis of the public in attendance spoke in 
regards to resurfacing the basketball court at HSP with 
absorbent tiles. 
Public comment closed at 6:22pm 

4. GUESTS:

     Old Business: 
No reportable action taken. 

New Business: None 

5. ANNOUNCEMENTS: None

6. TASKS STARTED / ACCOMPLISHED: No report shared

7. CONSENT: Board Member A. Vassar made a motion to adopt consent 
items, with exception of A – Minutes and J – GM Report 

DRAFT



 Board Member T. Dworetzky second the motion. 
Call to Vote 

Motion Passed 
Motion passed 4-Yes and 1-Absent. 
A. Vassar, G. Wilson, T. Dworetzky, and S. Miller voted Yes.
M. Hanson was absent.

8. OLD BUSINESS:

8a. Adopt FY 2024-25 Final Budget for 339A – Resolution 
2024-05 and  

Motion 
Motion Passed 

8b. 
 

Motion 
Motion Passed 

 
 

G. Wilson made the motion, seconded by A. Vassar
Motion passed 3 – Yes and 1 – No
A. Vassar, G. Wilson, and S. Miller – Yes
T. Dworetzky – No
M. Hanson was absent

Adopt FY 2024-25 Final Budget for 339D – Resolution 
2024-06 
G. Wilson made the motion, seconded by A. Vassar
Motion passed 3 – Yes and 1 – Abstain 
A. Vassar, G. Wilson, and S. Miller – Yes
T. Dworetzky – Abstain 
M. Hanson was absent 

8c 
 
Suspend all previous decisions pertaining to 
Maintenance Shop and refer the matter to the Project 
Committee in accordance with the workflow chart. 

Motion A. Vassar made the motion, seconded by G. Wilson 
Motion passed 4 - Yes 
A. Vassar, G. Wilson, T. Dworetzky, and S. Miller voted Yes.  M.
Hanson was absent

9. NEW BUSINESS:
9a  General Manager’s Report 

Board received report 
No Action Taken 

9b Master Plan Discussion and Future Amenities 
Board received report 
No Action Taken 

10. DISCUSSIONS: G. Wilson requested the Supplemental Report: Non-monetary
decisions related to Annual Budget Adoption be placed on the 
next agenda. 

DRAFT



11. ADJOURNMENT: Meeting Ended 8:50pm Board Member T. Dworetzky 
motioned to close the meeting. Board Member A. Vassar 
seconded the motion. Motion passed 4 – yes, 1 – absent A. 
Vassar, T. Dworetzky, G. Wilson, and S. Miller voted yes. M. 
Hanson was absent. 

  
  

  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  

  

  
  

  
  
  
  

  
  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  
  
  
  

DRAFT







 

 

 

 

 

 

5. c. District Financial Report FY 24-25 Period 2 



111000 Salaries & Wages $24,843.07 31.89%

214100 Land Improvem... $21,528.28 27.64%

323000 Lease Oblig R... $5,400.00 6.93%

232200 Custodial Supplies $3,953.81 5.08%

219800 Water $3,773.94 4.84%

219100 Electricity $2,061.78 2.65%

259100 Other Profess... $1,683.54 2.16%

211100 Building Main... $1,440.00 1.85%

Everything else $13,209.74 16.96%

Total $77,894.16

Spending by Category - Last month
08/01/2024 through 08/31/2024

All Accounts, All Categories, All Tags, All Payees

Printed from ACRPD on 09/11/2024 Page 1/7

Spending by Category - Last month
08/01/2024 through 08/31/2024

All Accounts, All Categories, All Tags, All Payees

Printed from ACRPD on 09/11/2024 Page 1/7



Category Date Account Payee Amount

Expenses -$77,894.16

111000 Salaries & Wages -$24,843.07

08/15/2024 FY 2024-25 339A August Payroll -$24,843.07

214100 Land Improvement Maint. Services -$21,528.28

08/28/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Rio Linda Fence - 57446 -$700.00

08/28/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Restoration Landscape - 71858 -$6,420.05

08/28/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Restoration Landscape - 71858 -$1,850.00

08/14/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Rio Linda Fence - 57446 -$7,833.23

08/14/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Restoration Landscape - 71858 -$550.00

08/14/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Restoration Landscape - 71858 -$225.00

08/14/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Restoration Landscape - 71858 -$350.00

08/14/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Restoration Landscape - 71858 -$1,100.00

08/14/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Restoration Landscape - 71858 -$2,500.00

323000 Lease Oblig Retirement Side Fund -$5,400.00

08/28/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Umpqua Bank - 52152 -$2,700.00

08/14/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Umpqua Bank - 52152 -$2,700.00

232200 Custodial Supplies -$3,953.81

08/28/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Cintas - 56036 -$377.63

08/28/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Cintas - 56036 -$115.96

08/28/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Cintas - 56036 -$3,089.21

Spending by Category - Last month
08/01/2024 through 08/31/2024

All Accounts, All Categories, All Tags, All Payees

Printed from ACRPD on 09/11/2024 Page 2/7



Category Date Account Payee Amount

08/14/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Cintas - 56036 -$115.96

08/14/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Umpqua CC - 71085 -$255.05

219800 Water -$3,773.94

08/28/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Sacramento Suburan Water - 26158 -$180.24

08/28/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Sacramento Suburan Water - 26158 -$2,033.62

08/28/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Sacramento Suburan Water - 26158 -$1,560.08

219100 Electricity -$2,061.78

08/28/2024 FY 2024-25 339A SMUD - 4025 -$2,061.78

259100 Other Professional Services -$1,683.54

08/14/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Sacramento For Tractors - 64608 -$1,683.54

211100 Building Maint. Service -$1,440.00

08/14/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Restoration Landscape - 71858 -$1,375.00

08/14/2024 FY 2024-25 339A J&J Locksmith - 1833 -$65.00

Everything else -$13,209.74

285200 Recreation Supplies -$1,222.26

08/14/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Umpqua CC - 71085 -$1,222.26

210300 Agriculture-Horticultural Service -$1,200.00

08/28/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Raul's Tree Care - 69419 -$1,200.00

221200 Ground Equip Maint. Supplies -$1,163.79

08/28/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Normac - 1309 -$776.64

Spending by Category - Last month
08/01/2024 through 08/31/2024

All Accounts, All Categories, All Tags, All Payees

Printed from ACRPD on 09/11/2024 Page 3/7



Category Date Account Payee Amount

08/14/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Umpqua CC - 71085 -$387.15

211200 Building Maint. Supplies -$1,008.12

08/14/2024 FY 2024-25 339A J&J Locksmith - 1833 -$1,008.12

291700 Alarm Services -$1,002.13

08/28/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Sacramento Control Systems - 1112 -$252.13

08/14/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Crime Alert Security - 41852 -$750.00

200500 Advertising - Legal Notices -$840.00

08/14/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Umpqua CC - 71085 -$840.00

321000 Interest Expense -$823.32

08/28/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Umpqua Bank - 52152 -$406.83

08/14/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Umpqua Bank - 52152 -$416.49

253100 Legal Services -$650.00

08/28/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Cole Huber - 54641 -$400.00

08/14/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Cole Huber - 54641 -$250.00

214200 Land Improvement Maint.
Supplies

-$625.05

08/14/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Restoration Landscape - 71858 -$625.05

113200 OT & Straight Time -$552.68

08/15/2024 FY 2024-25 339A August Payroll -$552.68

223600 Fuel & Lubricant Supplies -$539.47

Spending by Category - Last month
08/01/2024 through 08/31/2024

All Accounts, All Categories, All Tags, All Payees

Printed from ACRPD on 09/11/2024 Page 4/7



Category Date Account Payee Amount

08/14/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Phillips 66 - 58398 -$428.46

08/14/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Orbit Station - 33714 -$111.01

121000 Retirement ER Cost -$475.33

08/14/2024 FY 2024-25 339A CalPERS - 19732 -$401.00

08/14/2024 FY 2024-25 339A CalPERS - 19732 -$74.33

207600 Office Supplies -$469.30

08/14/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Staples Business Advantage - 14122 -$177.71

08/14/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Staples Business Advantage - 14122 -$291.59

298700 Telephone Services -$394.63

08/28/2024 FY 2024-25 339A T-Mobile - 32685 -$28.70

08/28/2024 FY 2024-25 339A **VOID**Fast Break - 37998 $0.00

08/28/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Comcast - 12322 -$170.93

08/14/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Fast Break - 37998 -$195.00

244300 Medical Service -EE & Live
Scan

-$380.00

08/28/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Kaiser On The Job - 4839 -$130.00

08/28/2024 FY 2024-25 339A State Of CA-Dept Of Justice - 8186 -$64.00

08/28/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Carmichael Box Shop - 59986 -$100.00

08/28/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Preferred Alliance - 34429 -$86.00

219500 Sewage Services -$303.23

Spending by Category - Last month
08/01/2024 through 08/31/2024

All Accounts, All Categories, All Tags, All Payees

Printed from ACRPD on 09/11/2024 Page 5/7



Category Date Account Payee Amount

08/14/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Sacramento County utilities - 666 -$303.23

112400 Stipend Commission &
Board

-$250.00

08/15/2024 FY 2024-25 339A August Payroll -$250.00

208100 Postage Service (PO
Box)

-$232.00

08/14/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Umpqua CC - 71085 -$232.00

244400 Medical Supplies (First
Aid)

-$210.67

08/28/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Staples Business Advantage - 14122 -$210.67

219300 Refuse
Collection-Disposal

-$189.90

08/14/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Republic Services - 57909 -$189.90

215100 Mechanical Sys Maint.
Services

-$180.00

08/28/2024 FY 2024-25 339A All Pro Backflow - 69926 -$180.00

257100 Security Services -$173.09

08/14/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Umpqua CC - 71085 -$38.09

08/14/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Crime Alert Security - 41852 -$135.00

123000 Health Insurance(s) -$147.42

08/28/2024 FY 2024-25 339A GSRMA - 29229 -$122.85

08/28/2024 FY 2024-25 339A GSRMA - 29229 -$122.85

Spending by Category - Last month
08/01/2024 through 08/31/2024

All Accounts, All Categories, All Tags, All Payees

Printed from ACRPD on 09/11/2024 Page 6/7



Category Date Account Payee Amount

222600 Hand - Expendable
Tools

-$139.61

08/14/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Home Depot - 2843 -$139.61

298701 Cell Phones -$30.55

08/28/2024 FY 2024-25 339A T-Mobile - 32685 -$30.55

227504 Misc (Bottled
Water for Staff)

-$7.19

08/14/2024 FY 2024-25 339A Umpqua CC - 71085 -$7.19

Everything else (Others) -$37.74

Everything else (Others) -$1,560.43

Everything else (Others) -$5,300.12

OVERALL TOTAL -$77,894.16

Spending by Category - Last month
08/01/2024 through 08/31/2024

All Accounts, All Categories, All Tags, All Payees

Printed from ACRPD on 09/11/2024 Page 7/7



 

 

 

 

 

 

PLACE HOLDER FOR PAYROLL REPORT 



Arcade Creek Recreation Park District

  Monthly Payroll Report

August 1, 2024 August 16, 2024

August 15, 2024 August 31, 2024

August 30, 2024 September 15, 2024

Administration Division 3832.03 5733.67 9,565.70     

Board Members = 5 250.00 0.00 250.00        

Parks Division 2938.64 3090.29 6,028.93     

PT Maint 0 0.00 -              

Recreation Division

751.70 2193.98 2,945.68     

0.00 0.00 -              

0.00 0.00 -              

7,772.37$                    11,017.94$                   18,790.31$  

Employer Paid Taxes unavailable 842.87                         

(FICA, Medicare, SUI)

Misc - Staff

Rec. Staff (Other)

Start of Pay Period

End of Pay Period

Payroll Issued:

Monitors, etc

9/16/2024



5. e. CSDA (California Special District
Association), Special District Board Member 

Handbook 



A California Special Districts Association Publication ©2020

SPECIAL DISTRICT

Board Member 

Handbook



Special District Board Member Handbook2

You have been 

elected or appointed 

to a special district 

board by your 

community. This is 

a tremendous honor 

that comes with 

much responsibility. 

Printing made possible by the California Special Districts Alliance, a partnership between CSDA, 

the CSDA Finance Corporation, and the Special District Risk Management Authority (SDRMA).



3A CSDA Publication ©2020

What do You Need to Know as a 

Special District Board Member?

You have been elected or appointed to a 

special district board by your community. 

This is a tremendous honor that comes 

with much responsibility. The mission of 

the California Special Districts Association 

(CSDA) is to provide you and your district 

with the resources necessary to best meet 

this responsibility. This handbook will serve 

as a fundamental guide in this endeavor.

Your special district may refer to its board members as 

trustees, directors, commissioners, or another similar 

term. For simplicity and readability, this handbook 

will use the term “board member” as a universal term 

for all special districts. The handbook will focus on the 

commitments, responsibilities, and resources that are 

relevant to all board members of every type of special 

district.

As a board member for a special district, you have 

committed to represent the best interests of your 

community, ensure the delivery of essential local services 

and infrastructure, and faithfully serve the public good 

while upholding the law. This is a high calling that 

depends upon mutual trust, support, and collaboration 

with your fellow board members, your district’s 

professional staff, and the network of special district 
leaders you will develop through CSDA.

First steps board members should take after 
election or appointment include:

• Meet with the district’s general manager 

and legal counsel

• Ask the general manager and/or finance 

officer for an overview of the most recently 

approved budget and audit

• Take a tour of the district facilities

• Read your district’s enabling act found in 

California’s statutory codes

• Review your district’s most recent municipal 

services review (MSR) published by the local 

agency formation commission (LAFCO)

• Register for board member training 

at csda.net

QUICK
TIPS



Special District Board Member Handbook4

About Special Districts

As a special district board member, you will 

often be asked, “What is a special district?” 

People sometimes do not realize how many 

of their essential services are provided 

by special districts, and they often do not 

understand what a special district is, how it 

functions, or even why it exists. Here are few 

answers to some frequently asked questions 

you’ll encounter as a board member. 

What is a “special district”?
An independent special district is a local form of government 

that is created, funded, and overseen by a community’s residents 

to provide a new or enhanced level of service and infrastructure 

to a community. Like counties and cities, special districts are 

an independent form of local government. Special districts are 

not school districts, community college districts, joint powers 

authorities, assessment districts, community facilities districts, 

“Mello-Roos” districts, or improvement districts. 

Why are special districts formed? 
Special districts are formed when a community decides a 

specific type of service is needed and the community wants 
the service to be maintained with local control.  The first 
special district in California, the Turlock Irrigation District, 

was established in 1887. Local farmers needed a way to access 

the local water supply and the Wright Act was passed by the 

Legislature to provide the legal foundation for water districts, 

and many other special districts. 

The Legislature continued to develop new types of special 

districts as tools to help local residents come together to solve 

community problems and needs. Ultimately, special districts 

are formed by the community for the community. Special 

districts empower residents to find local solutions to fit the 
unique needs of their community.

 

What types of special districts exist? 
There are many types of special districts that can be 

established to fit the specific needs of a community. Some 
district types include: 

• Airport

• Cemetery

• Community Services

• Fire Protection

• Harbor and Port

• Healthcare

• Irrigation

• Library

How many special districts are there? 
There are just over 2,000 independent special districts 

throughout California. They vary in size and some may serve a 

community of hundreds of thousands while others serve only 

a few hundred. Special districts are created to fit the size of the 
community they serve. 

 

How are special districts governed? 
Independent special districts are governed by a board of directors 

that is elected by the community or appointed to fixed terms 
by one or more other locally elected governing bodies. Board 

members are responsible for setting the policies that ensure 

special districts continue to function and serve the community. It 

is also important to distinguish independent special districts from 

dependent special districts. Unlike independent special districts, 

dependent districts are indirectly governed by other government 

entities, such as city councils or county boards of supervisors. 

This is because dependent special district board members include 

ex-officio members from another legislative body or board 
members who are appointed to non-fixed terms. Ex-officio board 
members serve on the special district board only by virtue of their 

participation on another board. Board members appointed to 

non-fixed terms serve at the pleasure of another governing body. 
In other words, they may be replaced at any time and are not 

entitled to a full four-year term.

• Mosquito and Pest Abatement

• Recreation and Park

• Resource Conservation

• Sanitation

• Transit

• Utility

• Veterans Memorial

• Water

To expand your knowledge further, visit csda.net to find the About Special 

Districts Guide and the Special District Formation Guide to learn more about 

special districts and how they are formed.



5A CSDA Publication ©2020

Special districts and their board members are subject to a 

number of laws established to ensure special districts remain 

transparent and accountable to their communities. These laws 

are discussed in greater detail later in this handbook under the 

chapter, Accountability and Transparency.

How are special districts funded? 
Special districts utilize many different funding sources 
to establish and maintain their services and overall 

infrastructure. Some districts receive enterprise revenues 

that are collected as fees for services such as water, sewer, or 

electricity. Special districts can also receive non-enterprise 

revenues that include one percent ad valorem property tax, 
parcel taxes, or benefit assessments that are approved by 
the community. Frequently, special districts will receive a 

combination of enterprise and non-enterprise revenues in 

order to best meet the needs of their community.

What makes special districts so “special”? 
As a board member who dedicates time and effort to your 
local special district, you understand and know from firsthand 
experience what makes special districts so special. It’s the 
connection to the community, the focused specialized service, 

and the commitment of local residents such as yourself that 

distinguishes special districts from other forms of government.  

To raise awareness and understanding 

of special districts, CSDA established 

the Districts Make the Difference public 

outreach campaign. Resources are 

available at DistrictsMakeTheDifference.org 

to explain special districts and include: 

• Videos • Fact sheets • Infographics

• Posters • Brochures

MAKE
THE



Special District Board Member Handbook6

Good Governance

Special district boards are the voice of the 

community. Every elected or appointed public 

official needs to care about governance—it is 

the essence of what boards do. Governance 

is taking the wishes, needs, and desires of 

the community and transforming them into 

policies that govern the district.

The success of your district, and special districts as a form of 

government, depends largely upon how well you do your job as 

a board member. If the board does not respond to the needs of 

the community and govern its district effectively, it will erode 
the public trust, jeopardize public support of district services, 

and may even threaten the existence of the district itself.

Effective Governance Model
The good news is that a lot of work has been done on effective gov-

ernance. Based upon a model developed by the California School 

Boards Association and adapted by CSDA for special districts, 

there are three critical dimensions that interact to determine how a 

board operates and its effectiveness as an organization:
1. The board as an organizational entity;

2. Individuals who together make up the board; and

3. Specific jobs the board must perform.

These are the core components of effective special district 
governance: a competency-based group of individual citizens 

coming together as an effective team to accomplish the specific 
responsibilities that only governing boards can do on behalf of 

their community.

The Board as an Organizational Entity

Any board, public or private, nonprofit or corporate, exists as 
an organizational entity, with its own unique organizational 

culture, norms, values, and operating style. There are 

attributes or characteristics that are consistently present in 

boards that operate in a highly effective way. 

Effective boards become known as effective because they operate 
in an organizational environment of trust, honesty, and openness. 

These boards exhibit, as a team, the following characteristics:
• Recognize all board members as equally legitimate—no 

matter how different or difficult an individual may be.
• Strive to maintain a “no secrets, no surprises” 

operating norm.

• Acknowledge that conflicts and differences are 
inevitable, not necessarily “bad”, and must be faced 

and analyzed.

• Immediately turn to solutions rather than playing the 

“gotcha” game.

• Treat all staff with dignity and respect.
• Treat all community members with dignity and respect, 

even in the face of criticism and opposition.

• Exhibit creative thinking, know how to handle failure 
as well as success, encourage risk taking, and create a 

climate of support for excellence.
• Accept collective responsibility for the conduct, 

behavior, and effectiveness of the board.

Individuals Who Together Make up the Board

While boards develop unique organizational cultures, they are, 

after all, composed of individuals. These individuals and their 

values, skills, and knowledge shape how boards operate an any 

given time. Individuals also determine whether the board will 

sustain effective behavior as a group expectation.

Not everyone who serves on a special district board becomes 

an effective board member or leader. Those who do become 
effective board members also become highly valued 
community leaders. When an entire board is composed of truly 

effective board members, rather than individuals, the board 
becomes highly effective.

So, how are highly valued community leaders different than 
individuals who just serve on boards? They think about 

governance differently by understanding the fundamental role 



7A CSDA Publication ©2020

of effective governance and the citizen leader. Effective board 
members exhibit the following characteristics:

• Recognize that the board, not the individual board 

member, governs the special district—the authority 

of any one board member rests only with the board 

as a whole.

• Heed caution when someone attempts to impose their 

own agenda on the district rather than working to build 

support for an institutional agenda.

• Appreciate that “how” a board member governs is 

as important as “what” a board member does—that 

manners make a huge difference.
• Establish trust and treat everyone with the same 

respect with which the board member expects others 

to treat them.

• Respect the diversity of perspectives and styles.

• Operate in a transparent fashion, while always keeping 

confidential information confidential.

Specific Jobs the Board Must Perform
We know that effective boards have strong competency-
based cultures and that individual effective board members 
have strong governance skills, but the next question is: “To 
do what?” The third dimension of a board addresses the 

governing body’s specific responsibilities. Special district 
boards have certain duties that no one else in the organization 

or the community can perform.

In the next chapter, Primary Roles and Responsibilities, we 

will explore these duties, but first we must acknowledge one of 
the biggest challenges to special districts—how board members 

can learn and demonstrate competency.

Training and Development
We all have room to learn the governance skills required to be 

an effective special district leader. To do so, we must establish 
a culture of participation in our special district community. 

Just as we expect our staff to be involved in their profession, to 
learn and develop new skills, so too must we as effective board 
members learn to hone our governance skills.

We must lead by example and encourage our colleagues 
to branch out and learn the skills of governance. We must 

establish a culture of continuing education in the special 

district community. This includes both required trainings and 

recommended trainings.

Required Trainings

Every special district board member is required by law to 
complete ethics training and sexual harassment prevention 
training at least once every two years. 

Ethics training is mandated by Government Code Section 
53235 et. seq., which is popularly referred to by its enacting 

legislation, AB 1234 (Salinas) of 2005. Special district board 

members must receive the required two-hour training within 

The most effective board 

members maintain the 

following priorities:

• Serve the public

• Support the staff as 

they carry out direction

• Respect fellow 

board members

• Seek consensus

QUICK
TIP

Governance is taking 

the wishes, needs, and 

desires of the community 

and transforming them 

into policies that govern 

the district.



Special District Board Member Handbook8

one year of their first day of service, and then every two years 
thereafter. A board member who serves more than one agency 

shall satisfy the requirements once every two years, regardless 

of how many boards they serve on.

All ethics trainings must cover laws related to conflicts of 
interest, gifts, reimbursements, government transparency, and 

fair processes, including but not limited to incompatible offices 
and competitive bidding practices.

Sexual harassment prevention training is mandated by 
Government Code 53237 et. seq., which was enacted by AB 1661 
(McCarty) of 2016. Special district board members must receive 
the required two-hour training within the first six months of 
taking office, and then at least once every two years thereafter.

All sexual harassment prevention trainings must include practical 
guidance regarding the federal and state statutory provisions 

concerning the prohibition against, and the prevention and 

correction of, sexual harassment and the remedies available 
to victims. The training includes practical examples aimed 
at instructing the board member in the prevention of sexual 
harassment, discrimination, and retaliation.

CSDA offers various forms of online and in-person ethics and 
sexual harassment prevention training opportunities. You can 
register online at csda.net.

Recommended Trainings

It is recommended that every newly elected or appointed 

special district board member attend CSDA’s workshops that 

introduce the topic of governance. CSDA strives to offer these 
opportunities in various locations throughout the state annually. 

As a longer-term goal, during your first term in office it is 
also recommended you obtain the Recognition in Special 

District Governance certificate from the Special District 
Leadership Foundation (SDLF). This recognition was designed 

to honor special district board members and is comprised 

of two distinct parts: the completion of the Special District 

Leadership Academy and 10 hours of continuing education.

The Special District Leadership Academy consists of four 

courses: Governance Foundations, Setting Direction/
Community Leadership, Board’s Role in Human Resources, 

and Board’s Role in Finance and Fiscal Accountability. The four 

courses are unique from any other courses on special district 

governance in that they are curriculum that has been created by 

special districts and agreed upon as what governing officials of 
special districts should know. SDLF has endorsed the Academy 

as the core special district governance training in California.

SDLF is a 501(c)(3) organization formed to provide recognition and 

certification opportunities to special district officials and employees to enhance 
service to the public. It is dedicated to excellence in local government. You can 

learn more about SDLF at sdlf.org. 

Learn more 

about CSDA’s 

professional 

development 

offerings at 
csda.net.



9A CSDA Publication ©2020

ACHIEVING 

DISTRICT GOALS...

TOGETHER.

Special District
Leadership Academy Conference

A Comprehensive Governance Leadership Conference for Elected and Appointed Directors/Trustees.

presented by 

CSDA and 
co-sponsored 

by SDRMA

VISIT CSDA.NET FOR DATES AND LOCATIONS



Special District Board Member Handbook10

Primary Roles and Responsibilities

One of the first and most important 

distinctions to make in your work as a board 

member is the difference between your 

responsibilities and those of the general 

manager and staff. Clearly understanding 

and respecting these roles, and how they 

interact, is critical to the long-term success 

and sustainability of your special district.

Role of a Board Member
One of the most significant responsibilities as a board member 
is to understand that the board is a team and you need to work 

together as such. Understanding the dynamics of the group, 

as well as the individual perspectives and opinions of your 

fellow board members, is crucial to the success of the team, the 

district, and community you represent. This united approach 

will help to strengthen the district and provide the grounds for 

maintaining a clear vision of the future, a unity of purpose, and 

a cohesive board.

The specific responsibilities of the board are clustered 

into five areas:
1. Setting the direction for the district; 

2. Establishing and supporting the policies and structure 
of the district; 

3. Overseeing the financial resources necessary to 

fund the district; 

4. Guiding employee relations policy, including the hiring 
and supervising of the general manager who, in turn, 

operates the district and hires/manages its staff; and 
5. Serving as community leaders who communicate 

effectively on behalf of the district.

Setting Direction

The board establishes the special district’s mission and vision. In 

building a mission statement, the board must clearly understand 

the purpose of the district and answer the question of “why?” 

Why does the district exist? It will also be helpful for the board to 
identify core values that guide the district in its mission. 

When developing a vision statement, the board must answer 

the question of “what?” What would the district look like 

should it accomplish its mission to the fullest extent? Doing so 
requires agreement on the board as to what the future of the 

district should look like.



11A CSDA Publication ©2020

California Special

Districts Association

Districts Stronger Together

California Public 

Records Act 

Compliance Manual
for Special Districts

S E C O N D  E D I T I O N

With a mission and vision as its founda-

tion, the board sets direction through the 

district’s strategic plan, which may guide 

the development of more specific objectives 
for implementation by the general manager 

and staff. In developing a strategic plan, the 
board will evaluate the present, anticipate 

the future, and prioritize goals that must be 

accomplished to achieve the vision. Strate-

gic plans should be reviewed periodically 

and adjusted appropriately.

Establishing Policies

Policies are written statements 

specifying the manner in which the 

district’s business is conducted. The 

board’s job is to develop, maintain, 

revise, and enforce the district’s policies. 

These policies provide needed direction 

for the general manager and staff, and 
for the constituents of the district.

One may view a special district’s enabling 

act in California statute as the framework 

or “constitution” the district must operate 

under as a “subdivision of the state.” 

However, independent special districts are 

not state entities, nor are they entities of a 

city or county. They are independent local 

governments, which are separate legal 

entities similar to other municipalities. 

Board-approved policies, resolutions, 

and ordinances are the tools by which 

boards direct the district in achieving its 

mission and securing its vision within the 

boundaries of its enabling act.

Board policies should guide district gover-

nance, such as board meetings, agendas, 

and minutes, board conduct, and rules 

of order. Policies should also be adopted 

To expand your knowledge further, visit csda.net to find CSDA’s Sample Policy 

Handbook, Special District Reserve Guidelines, and CSDA’s California Public 

Records Act Compliance Manual to learn more. 

concerning district finances, personnel, 
communications, and other key functions.

While policies are approved by the 

board and may be requested by the 

board, they are typically drafted and 

recommended by staff. Sometimes this 
is done with review and direction of a 

board subcommittee.

Overseeing Finances

Boards ensure sound fiscal policy exists 
and that practices and controls are in 

place so that the district, board, general 

manager, and staff have direct account-
ability to their constituents. Furthermore, 

the board will approve an annual budget 

and request and approve periodic reports 

on the fiscal status of the district.

Commensurate with the board’s role 

in financial oversight and fiduciary 
responsibilities, it should establish 

a financial reserve policy and capital 
improvement plan (CIP). It will also 

approve contracts of certain size and scope 

according to State law and board policy. 

To ensure adequate funding to provide 

quality services and infrastructure to 

its community, the board must impose 

sufficient rates, fees, and taxes.

Guiding Employee Relations

The board’s charge is to support and 

assess the performance of the general 

manager, approve personnel policies, 

establish salary structure and benefits 
packages, approve memorandums of 

understanding (MOUs) negotiated with 

labor, approve job descriptions and 

organizational structure, and establish a 

strong communications link between the 

board and general manager.

One of the most important decisions a 

board will ever make is the hiring of a 

general manager. Other than a district’s 

general counsel and some rare additional 

exceptions for large special districts, the 
general manager is the only individual the 

board hires and supervises.

The general manager is responsible for 

hiring and supervising all other staff, 
sometimes through senior or mid-level 

managers in larger districts. Empowering 
the general manager to successfully carry 

out this key duty is critical to the success 

of the district. This should include a fair 

and constructive annual general manager 

evaluation process.

Serving as Community Leaders

A district and its board are linked in the 

eyes of the public and often seen as one and 

the same. Therefore, the conduct of board 

members reflects upon the district and 
the community it serves. This holds true 

during board meetings and formal district 

events, as well as during other interactions 

with community, the media, businesses, 

and other levels of government. Even the 
personal lives and behaviors of a board 

member can impact the perception and 

effectiveness of the district.

In your role as a board member, 

your board may designate you to 

formally represent your board to other 

organizations or participate in ceremonial 

events. Boards will often establish 

policies to guide such situations. It is 

Sample Policy

Handbook

California Special

Districts Association

Districts Stronger Together



Special District Board Member Handbook12

important to distinguish when you are speaking on behalf 

of the board and when you are speaking as an individual. 

However, as a public official, you should recognize that people 
will often construe your speech and actions as representative 

of your district, its staff, and your fellow board members 
regardless of the manner, time, and place in which they occur. 

This reality should lead board members to be thoughtful, 

intentional, and unified, not to be silent or absent.

It is a mistake for a special district to attempt to “fly under the 
radar.” Transparency is essential to democracy, and scrutiny 

is inevitable in government. This will be covered more in the 

next chapter, Accountability and Transparency, but here it 

is important to note that board members play a key role in a 

special district’s public outreach and engagement efforts. If a 
special district and its leaders are not telling the story of the 

district, somebody else will.

Role of the General Manager and Staff
The general manager is the executive staff officer of the district 
and for the board. This individual administers the district, 

providing day-to-day leadership, and maintains exclusive 
management and control of the operations and works of the 

district within State law and the policies of the board. In 

some districts, this position may be referred to as the district 

administrator, chief executive officer, executive director, 
district director, or another title. For the purposes of this 

handbook, it will be referred to as general manager.

Overarching best practices for a general manager include:

1. Developing and delivering reports to keep the board of 

directors and public well-informed of district operations 

and the status of district goals;

2. Providing recommendations on actions requiring board 

approval, including policies, resolutions, ordinances, 

and other matters;

3. Maintaining and advancing the operations of the 

district and implementing those policies, strategies, and 

directives approved by the board; and

4. Playing an active role in moving the district forward in 

serving its mission, carrying out its strategic plan, and 

attaining its vision.

As noted previously, the general manager has authority over and 

directs all employees, including hiring, supervision, evaluations, 

promotions, disciplinary actions, and terminations. All directives 

for staff should be given by the general manager or designated 
supervisor within the district. Authority may be delegated to 

other staff or consultants at the general manager’s discretion. 

The general manager should dutifully and faithfully carry into 

effect the lawfully expressed policies of the board, including 
planning the short, medium, and long-term work program for 

the district, facilitating constructive and harmonious board re-

lations, preparing and managing the district budget, conducting 

studies, and delivering written and oral presentations.

Best practices that make the best board members:

• Do your homework: Read all board packets and materials in advance of meetings.

• Don’t play “gotcha”: Share questions with the general manager in advance of the board meeting.

• Listen first, speak second: Prioritize understanding the perspectives of others.

• Build an expertise: Find an important issue that other board members are not already invested in and become a leader, 

such as on LAFCO, environmental sustainability, etc.

• Stick to principles, not positions: Develop strong and well-considered principles, rather than digging heals into 

one position of a false dichotomy.

• Oppose the action, not the implementation: When necessary, vote “No” on a board agenda item, but don’t undermine or 

obstruct the successful implementation of board-approved decisions. Support and respect the actions of the board as a whole.

QUICK
TIP

Visit sdlf.org to download the SDLF High Performing District

Checklist to provide special districts with best practices related

to the areas of finance and human resources.

BEST PRACTICES - FINANCE

 

 Training

   Board and staff obtain regular training on finance/fiscal accountability.

   Board and designated employees (those who participate in making decisions that may materially affect 

their financial interests) complete ethics training as required by law, including initial and biennial training 

requirements.*

 Reporting

   All financial reports are filed on time and in compliance with applicable laws and recognized standards for 

best management/reporting practices (including Governmental Accounting Standards Board):

   Comprehensive annual financial report

   Annual Audit*

   State Controller’s Financial Transaction Report*

   State Controller’s Compensation Report*

   The district requires board members and designated employees to prepare and file statements of economic 

interests (FPPC Form 700) to identify and disclose potential conflicts of interest.

 Governance

   Board establishes and periodically reviews strategic, financial, and other goals.

   Board approves an annual balanced budget in an open and public meeting and periodically reviews  revenue 

and expenses for compliance with the budget.*

   Board approves capital improvement plans in an open and public meeting and periodically reviews  revenue 

and expenses for compliance with the plans.

   Board sets rates and fees in compliance with applicable state laws and district ensures its revenues maintain 

financial stability and support its commitments.

 Policies

   The district has written, board-approved codes of conduct and ethics policies, including compliance with 

conflicts of interest laws and proper financial management.

   Board establishes and periodically reviews fund balances and reserve policies that meet district’s needs.*

   Board establishes and periodically reviews sound fiscal and internal control policies and procedures 

(including checks and balances) sufficient to (1) safeguard its assets and resources, (2) deter and detect 

errors, fraud, waste, abuse and theft, (3) ensure accuracy and completeness of its accounting data, and (4) 

produce reliable and timely financial and management information.

   District has an investment policy describing approved investment types, and management periodically 

reports investment information (types of investments held, market values, maturity dates, etc.) to the board, 

according to a board approved policy.

   The district has adopted and implements policies and procedures concerning the payment of claims, bills, and 

invoices, the issuance, approval and signing of district checks/warrants, and the use of district credit cards.

   District actively adopts mechanisms to prevent, detect, and/or report fraud, waste, and abuse. 

High Performing District Checklist

– CONTINUED ON REVERSE –

FINANCE AND HUMAN RESOURCES

This checklist was designed and approved by the Special District Leadership Foundation (SDLF) to 

provide special districts with best practices in the areas of Finance and Human Resources.  

Visit us online at sdlf.org for comprehensive resources and samples related to each of the best practices listed.

SPECIAL DISTRICT

LEADERSHIP FOUNDATION

CONTACT SDLF: 1112 I STREET, SUITE 200, SACRAMENTO, CA 95814  •  T: 916.231.2909  •  SDLF.ORG     

SDLF is supported by

*Also included on the District Transparency of Excellence Certificate Checklist



13A CSDA Publication ©2020



Special District Board Member Handbook14

Accountability and Transparency

The residents of the district, as voters, owners, 

constituents, and customers of the district, possess 

the ultimate responsibility for its oversight and 

direction. The board is elected or appointed to serve 

as the voice of these residents. There are a host of 

legal requirements designed to ensure special districts 

remain accountable and transparent to its residents.

While special district boards must meet all mandated State laws, they 

should strive to exceed these requirements and set an example to other 
governments and organizations.

Legal Requirements
Significant mandates have been placed upon special districts by the State 
Legislature, which often exceed the standards for the State and some other 
local agencies. These legal requirements include, but are not limited to:

• Website Maintenance

• Open and Public Meetings under the Ralph M. Brown Act

• Public Records under the California Public Records Act

• Regular Financial Audits

• Finances and Compensation Posted Online

• Ethics Training for Board Members
• Conflict of Interest Compliance under the Political Reform Act

Websites

Beginning January 1, 2020 every special district must maintain a website, 

per Government Code Section 53087.8. All special district websites must 
display district contact information, agendas, state-mandated financial 
transaction and compensation reports, and a report of the district’s 

enterprise systems. An exemption is available for special districts that pass 
an annual resolution detailing evidence of a hardship.

Open and Public Meetings

Per the Ralph M. Brown Act (Brown Act), special 

district board meetings must be accessible to 

the public. To facilitate access and participation, 

special districts must post their regular meeting 

agendas at least 72 hours in advance in a publicly 

accessible location and on their website. The board 

may only act on issues included in the agenda and 

the public must be permitted to address the board. 

The Brown Act includes myriad provisions and 

exceptions and has been the subject of significant 
litigation. It is recommended that board members 

read the Brown Act, found at Government Code 
Section 54950 et. seq., in its entirety and consult 

district legal counsel as necessary.

Public Records

As required by the California Public Records Act 

(CPRA), found in Government Code 6250 et. seq., 
special district records are subject to public review 

and scrutiny. The public may request copies of 

records in the possession of a special district, 

including records on a board member’s personal 

device or account that are related to district 

business. Districts may charge a reasonable fee 

for the cost of printing and paper, but the district 

may not charge for staff time in producing such 
copies. As with the Brown Act, the CPRA includes 

numerous provisions and exceptions and is shaped 
by countless lawsuits. It is recommended special 

districts consult legal counsel as necessary in 

response to specific public records act requests.

Financial Audits

Government Code Section 26909 mandates 
regular audits of special districts by the county 

auditor-controller or a certified public accountant. 
The audit must be filed with the state controller 
and county auditor-controller.

Online Financial and Compensation Reports

Since 1949, special districts have been required 

to submit a financial transaction report to the 
state controller. In 2014, legislation additionally 

required completion of a compensation report and 

required that both the compensation report and 

financial transaction reports be posted or linked to 



15A CSDA Publication ©2020

a conspicuous place on each special district’s website. The state 

controller now provides all of this information in an open data 

format at www.bythenumbers.ca.gov and www.publicpay.ca.gov.

Ethics Training

In 2005, the State enacted AB 1234 (Salinas) mandating 

special district board members complete at least two hours of 

training in general ethics principles and ethics laws every two 

years. Board members have an obligation to conduct business 

in an ethical manner and make decisions that are in the best 

interests of their constituents. Building and maintaining the 

public’s trust requires you to avoid any situation where your 

self-interest may come first.

Conflict of Interest Compliance
Passed by voters via Proposition 9 in 1974, the Political 

Reform Act (PRA) is designed to ensure elections are fair 

and government officials serve all citizens equally. The 
PRA generally governs political campaign spending and 

contributions, as well as a variety of ethics rules, including 

conflicts of interest. It prohibits a special district official from 
making, participating in making, or influencing a decision in 
which the official knows or has reason to know the decision 
will have a material financial effect on the official’s economic 
interests, with limited exceptions.

Third Party Oversight, Review, and Regulation
In addition to the legal requirements adhered to by special 

districts, there are a number of entities and programs, which 

provide varying levels of oversight, review, or regulation:

• Local Agency Formation Commission

• County Auditor-Controller

• County Civil Grand Jury
• County District Attorney and State Attorney General
• State Controller

• State Auditor

• State Treasurer

• State Fair Political Practices Commission

• Other State Regulators

Best Practices
Many special districts go beyond State mandated legal 

requirements to promote accountability and transparency. To 

facilitate and recognize best practices among special districts, 

the Special District Leadership Foundation (SDLF) has 

established a District Transparency Certificate of Excellence 
as well as other programs and scholarships. Visit sdlf.org to 

review the programs and download an application.

Learn more 

about SDLF 

Programs & 

Scholarships 

at sdlf.org.



Special District Board Member Handbook16

Legislative Advocacy, Media 

Outreach, and Public Engagement

The decisions you make and the actions 

you take as a board member directly 

impact your community and the services 

they receive. It is equally true that districts 

are affected when board members do not 

make crucial decisions or fail to take action. 

As a board member, you are an advocate for your district 

and your community. You will have to balance a number 

of responsibilities throughout your term. However, there 

are several simple yet influential ways you can take action 
as a board member.

 



17A CSDA Publication ©2020

Engage with the Capitol 
Extensive travel to Sacramento is not necessary to effectively 
engage with the Capitol. Likely the most important way board 

members can partake in advocacy efforts is to submit letters of 
support or opposition when CSDA sends out a “Call-to-Action.” 

Throughout the legislative session, CSDA closely analyzes 

and tracks any bill that may impact special districts. When 

an especially important bill arises, CSDA will issue a “Call-

to-Action” and request letters so the Capitol hears the voice 

of special districts. Make sure your district’s voice is heard 

and work with others at your district to write support and 

opposition letters on behalf of your district.

Meeting with your legislators is another valuable way of 

advocating for your district and engaging with the Capitol. 

There are times throughout the year when legislators leave 

the Capitol and return to their legislative districts. During 

these legislative recesses, do your best to schedule a meeting 

with your legislator and their staff. Just as you represent your 
community as a special district board member, your legislator 

represents you, your special district, and your community. Make 

sure your legislator knows what issues are important to your 

district and how your district is impacted by legislation. The 

more legislators know about the special districts they represent, 

the more educated they will be when creating legislation that 

affects all special districts. 

Once you’ve met with your legislators, let CSDA know which 

legislators you have a relationship with so that CSDA can 

coordinate grassroots activities on key votes in the State 

Legislature. Do this by completing the Grassroots Mobilization 
Survey at csda.net/take-action.
  

Engage with the Media
During your term as a special district board member, you will 

likely have to interact with the media. Do not be intimated 

by the idea of communicating with the press. It is vital that 

you help inform the media’s narrative regarding your district. 

You do not want the only media mentions for your district 

to be one-sided or unfairly skewed against your district. 

The only way to ensure your district has a voice in what the 

media covers is for your district to be proactive. Be sure that 

any media outreach you undertake is in line with your board 

policies and/or protocols. Every special district should have 
a media protocol that determines who should serve as a 

spokesperson for the district under different circumstances. 
It is important to work as a team and support a clear and 

consistent message from your district. 

Press releases should be utilized as a way to inform the press 

of particularly significant events. A few opportunities to send 
out press releases include when your district receives an 

award, after new board members are elected, or after a major 

project is successfully completed. Encourage your district to 
send out timely press releases in accordance with your board 

policy.  You should also be looking for the best opportunities 

for your district to interact with the media. Not everything will 

be compelling to the media, but the media cannot acknowledge 

your district’s positive achievements if they are not informed.  

Media advisories are another way to engage with the media. 

If your district is hosting an event, encourage the general 

manager or district staff to send out an invitation to local 
reporters. Sometimes allowing the media to see for themselves 

helps garner positive press for your district. Also, inviting 

the media to your district allows you and other district 

representatives to build a working relationship with the 

Throughout the year, CSDA maintains multiple resources to ensure you can stay up to date on the latest 

issues impacting special districts. Explore the following resources:  

• Advocacy News: Provides real-time notifications or daily summaries of legislative updates directly to your inbox. 

Join Advocacy News at csda.net/advocate/advocacy-blog.

• Take Action Page: Lists the most pressing legislative issues and provides background information and next steps 

for your district. Visit the Take Action page at csda.net/advocate/take-action.

• Legal Advocacy Page: Lists the actions CSDA has taken in important legal cases affecting special districts. You 

can find these cases and copies of CSDA filings at csda.net/advocate/legal-advocacy. 



Special District Board Member Handbook18

reporters in your community. You want to serve as a resource 

to the media so when reporters have questions, they reach out 

for your district’s perspective. 

You may also want to suggest your district’s media policy 

and/or protocol includes standard talking points for district 
representatives to reference when working with the media. 

Maintaining consistent messaging with the media will 

lend a level of credibility and reliability that the media will 

remember when writing about your district. As the media’s 

understanding of your district grows, you should notice more 

accurate and informed press attention for your district. 

Engage with Your Community
Special districts provide essential services to millions of 

Californians. Yet, many people have not heard of special 

districts or do not understand what a special district truly is. 

Polling shows that as soon as people understand the services 

provided and maintained by special districts, their perceived 

value of special districts rises exponentially. As a board 
member, you can help the public understand your district and 

its important role in your community. 

Social Media

There are numerous ways to interact and connect with the 

community you serve. In today’s world, most community 

members are on some form of social media. Although social 

media can be time consuming for you and district staff, it is 
worthwhile. A district policy or protocol should guide who 

is responsible for posting on behalf of the district. Typically, 

this is assigned to a member of the staff and board members 
may engage by liking and/or sharing district posts from their 
personal accounts.

Social media can provide an instant connection with your 

community. Instead of forcing local residents to go looking 

for information, you can make important information 

immediately available on social media. 

Engaging on social media does not require continuous posts to 
all platforms throughout the day. Instead, post to social media 

when you have something you need and want to share with the 

public. Post about any community events where your district 

will be represented. Share a quick fact or update about your 

district that may interest your community. 

Even if you do not frequently post to social media, monitor 
your accounts to see if people make comments, have questions, 

or provide suggestions. You may choose not to respond to 

comments on social media but at least you are aware of what 

your community is saying. People may voice something on social 

media that they would not ordinarily say in person or in a more 

formal setting. At times, people may post negative comments 

but with social media, engagement is ultimately the goal. Social 

media starts an ongoing conversation with your community.

Community Events

Another effective way to engage with your community is with 
community events. As a board member, you can encourage 

your district to host an event where the public is invited to your 

district. Holding tours during the summer to demonstrate how 

your district functions or hosting a holiday party as a way for the 

community to celebrate together are just a few event ideas. 

If you are a board member at a smaller district or a district 

type that does not easily lend itself to visits, collaborate with 

other districts and businesses in your community. Reach out 

to other special districts in your area to discuss a possible 

“district day” where representatives from multiple districts 

gather together and answer questions about their respective 

districts. Hosting a booth at the local career fairs or sponsoring 

a local event are other valuable ways of building a connection 

with the community you serve. 

 

Join the Public Outreach Campaign
CSDA launched the Districts Make the Difference public 
outreach campaign to raise awareness and understanding for 

special districts. Encourage your district to participate in the 
campaign. Add a link to the DistrictsMakeTheDifference.org 
on your district’s website so people can utilize the campaign 

resources and learn about the different types of special districts 
and how they are governed. Raising awareness for special 

districts helps local residents understand the value of special 

districts and the significant role they play in the community. 



19A CSDA Publication ©2020

Responses to Tough Questions

As with all forms of government, special 

districts sometimes face tough questions. 

Special district board members should be 

aware of these questions and be prepared 

to respond to them.

Why are some special districts funded by property taxes, 

while others are funded by fees or a combination of fees 

and taxes?

Special district funding is primarily determined by 

the residents who receive district services and pay for 

those services. Special districts may receive two types of 

revenue: enterprise revenue and non-enterprise revenue. 

Some districts rely exclusively on one type, but most 
receive a combination of the two.

Enterprise revenue is derived by fees for service. Common 
forms of enterprise revenue include property-related fees, 

governed under Proposition 218, such as water, sewer, 

or trash rates. However, enterprise revenue may also include 

smaller charges like registration fees for a soccer league or 

yoga class. Facility rentals, cemetery interment fees, and 

medical billing are also forms of enterprise revenues.

Non-enterprise revenue is derived from taxes and assessments 
paid as a condition of owning property that benefits from 
the services and infrastructure provided by a special district. 

The most common form of non-enterprise revenue is the one 

percent ad valorem local property tax, which is distributed 
through the county auditor-controller’s office. This is dictated 
by Proposition 13 and is usually what someone is referring to 

when they mention the “property tax.” Non-enterprise revenue 
may also include special taxes, benefit assessment districts, 
community facilities districts (also known as CFDs or Mello-

Roos districts), and similar funding mechanisms.

It is important to note that most residents have approved 

at least some level of both enterprise and non-enterprise 

revenue for their special district. This provides the district 



Special District Board Member Handbook20

with a diverse and sustainable revenue portfolio that can 

better withstand economic shifts and secure the highest credit 

ratings for infrastructure investment. It also ensures that 

everyone who benefits from a district contributes to the cost 
of the district. For example, water and sewer services benefit 
a property’s value regardless of whether that property’s owner 

currently uses those services.

Can special districts tax residents without their consent?

No. Proposition 13 limited ad valorem property taxes to one 
percent of property value for every homeowner. Many special 

districts, along with cities, counties, and schools, receive a share of 

this revenue. If a district requires additional revenue it must obtain 

the approval of its voters or property owners as appropriate. 

While cities and counties may impose general taxes with 
majority voter approval, all special district taxes are considered 
“special taxes” and require a two-thirds vote. A general 
obligation bond that raises property taxes temporarily to 
pay-off the bond must also receive two-thirds voter approval. 
Certain assessments may be approved with a majority of those 

who benefit from the service and property related fees must 
go through what’s known as a majority protest proceeding in 

accordance with Proposition 218.

Why do we have community facilities districts, Mello-Roos 

districts, and special districts all funding our services?

Community facilities districts (CFDs) and Mello-Roos districts 

are just two names for the same thing, but neither are a special 

district with a board that provides a service. CFDs or Mello 

Roos districts are funding mechanisms that may be established 

by a special district, city, county, or school district to help 

fund services and public works for that area. CFDs or Mello-

Roos districts are typically approved by property owners in 

developing areas where there are fewer than 12 residents. 

In cases where there are 12 or more residents, they must be 

approved by voters.

Why do special districts have such large reserves?

Special districts need adequate reserves to ensure they 

can respond to their community’s needs in the event of 

emergencies or disasters, like flooding, earthquakes, wildfires, 
or even droughts. Prudent reserves are often needed to 

accumulate the capital to pay for large infrastructure projects, 

or to secure financing. In addition, reserves provide a safety 
cushion to stabilize rates and maintain adequate services 

during economic downturns.

It should be noted that some reports of special district reserve 

levels have misinterpreted data within the state controller’s 

Financial Transaction Report in a manner that confused 

districts’ fixed assets with cash on hand. CSDA has worked 
with the State Controller’s Office to ensure this report is 
presented in the most clear and consistent manner possible to 

avoid such errors in the future.

CSDA has also developed the Special District Reserve 

Guidelines, a comprehensive guide for accumulation and 
management of special district reserves. The report lays out 

policy procedures and high standards for special districts to 

follow in handling their fiduciary responsibilities.

Don’t special districts have board members who are heavily 

compensated?

Board member compensation is set in statute by the State 

Legislature. Some special districts have statutory authority 

to adjust compensation, within strict limits, via a vote of the 

board during a properly noticed open and public meeting. 

Unlike city council members and county supervisors, special 

district board members are not eligible for the California 

Public Employees’ Retirement System (SB 53 of 1993).

While every type of special district must comply with its own 

statutory parameters, most special district board members 

receive about $100 per meeting. It is important to note that 

the work of a board member does not begin when a meeting 

commences and end when it adjourns. Board members 

typically review lengthy meeting packets, study issues 

thoroughly, and may be in communication with constituents 

or district staff throughout the month. 

Every special district is unique and the demands and 
qualifications necessary to well-serve different special districts 
will vary.

Aren’t special districts fragmented government?

Special districts provide real-world solutions to meet the 

needs of residents that otherwise would not be met. In fact, 

their name and their strength is derived from the way they 

specialize in a service. Special districts are passionate about 

providing a service people need. They are not easily distracted 

from their mission, and they develop an expertise at providing 
a service in the most efficient, effective, and sustainable 
manner possible.



21A CSDA Publication ©2020

While special districts may dot many local landscapes, each 

one is unique to the needs of its community. Special districts 

arguably offer the closest, or “most local,” level of service to 
their community. Residents will likely notice a difference in 
access and responsiveness when attending a recreation and 

park district meeting to discuss a playground as opposed to 

what they may receive on such a specific topic at a general-
purpose government meeting. The same could be said 

in relation to library districts, harbor districts, mosquito 

abatement districts, water districts, and so on.

Similarly, special districts offer residents a meaningful 
opportunity to engage with their government and serve their 

community. The barriers associated with running for Congress, 

the State Legislature, and even county or city governing bodies 

are often staggering, with campaigns sometimes costing 

hundreds of thousands or millions of dollars. And the politics 

are sometimes highly partisan. Raising that level of campaign 

money and investing that number of hours away from family 

and paid employment is out of the reach of most Californians. 

While serving on a special district board is a significant 
undertaking, it is far more accessible to the average person.

Do special district services overlap with cities and counties?

No. local agency formation commissions (LAFCOs) oversee the 

formation, dissolution, and boundaries of special districts and 

cities. There are 58 LAFCOs, one per county. They ensure that 

special districts and cities don’t overlap in a way that provides 

redundant services. LAFCOs also conduct regular municipal 

services reviews (MSR) on special districts to help ensure they 

are providing efficient and effective services.

There are just over 2,000 independent special districts 

compared to 977 school districts, 482 cities and 58 counties. 

Why so many and why can’t they be consolidated to save 

taxpayers money?

What really matters is the quality of services and how 

well a special district responds to the residents it serves. 

Consolidation may work in some cases, but it doesn’t work in 

all cases. Bigger bureaucracies that are further removed from 

voters are not always more efficient. Even where consolidation 
may make sense in concept, it may not be economically 

feasible due to lack of proximity to neighboring infrastructure, 
such as water or sewer pipes.

An inherent bias for or against consolidation doesn’t 

improve services. Rather, a thoughtful, case-by-case 

approach, that includes stakeholders and an objective 

analysis, will promote the best local government options 

for each community. Ultimately, the residents who receive 

and pay for the services should have the final say.

It is also important to keep in mind that there are 

not 2,000 special districts providing the same service 

throughout the state. For instance, there are about 346 
fire protection districts, 47 mosquito abatement and 
vector control districts, 95 recreation and park districts, 10 

airport districts, and so on. 

Who are special districts accountable to?

Special districts are accountable to the residents who elect 

their boards, approve their funding sources, and use their 

services. This offers a community local control. 

If residents need something or want to see something 

changed, they may go to their special district and petition 

their board. When authority is pulled away from local 

government bodies and centralized further from residents, 

the community’s ability to influence its government and 
hold it accountable may become more challenging.

Numerous state laws help residents hold special districts 

accountable, such as the Ralph M. Brown Act, the California 

Public Records Act, the Political Reform Act, and more. 

Additionally, a number of other bodies facilitate oversight 

and reporting requirements, including the LAFCO, county 

auditor-controller, county district attorney, state attorney 

general, and state controller’s office.



Special District Board Member Handbook22

Quick Reference for Laws Affecting 

Special Districts

As subdivisions of the State of California, 

special districts are governed by state 

law. Every fall, after the legislative session 

concludes, CSDA runs a “New Laws” 

series. At the beginning of each year, 

CSDA provides its members with a New 

Laws report, which includes hundreds of 

enacted bills and court rulings. 

CSDA’s publication, Laws Governing Special Districts, 

is a member resource that provides a thorough overview 

of the most significant long-standing laws affecting the 
governance of all types of special districts. This resource 

includes a spreadsheet outlining the enabling act for each 

type of special district. Following are excerpts of some of 
the most frequently referenced laws affecting all special 
districts.

Resources for You and Your 

Special District

Since 1969, CSDA has been providing 

special districts with representation at 

the Capitol, professional development 

opportunities, and a host of programs 

and resources designed to help them 

better serve their communities. 

Advocacy and Public Affairs 
CSDA is the only association representing the interests 

of California’s independent special districts, of all types 

and sizes and from all corners of the state. Our legislative 

staff reviews and monitors every bill introduced for 
its potential impact on special districts. Bills requiring 

action are quickly brought to the attention of the 

Legislative Committee and Board of Directors to adopt a 

position on each issue and lobby accordingly.  

Our District NetWorks program helps special 

districts connect and take action on issues of concern, 

locally or statewide. A CSDA Public Affairs Field 
Coordinator works with leaders in each Network, 

providing valuable legislative updates, facilitating 

communications, and coordinating regional events. 

Local chapters of CSDA provide more opportunities 

for collaboration and information sharing. 

Professional Development
CSDA offers many unique educational opportunities for 
special district board members and staff. These range 
from extensive governance training to specialized 
conferences and regional workshops. 

• Special District Leadership Academy (SDLA) 

• Special District Board Secretary/Clerk Conference 
• General Manager Leadership Summit 
• Annual Conference and Exhibitor Showcase
• Workshops in Ethics, Harassment Prevention,  

and more

• All webinars FREE for CSDA members
In addition, CSDA webinars, offered live and on-
demand, provide affordable and convenient access to 
education in a wide variety of topics. Find a complete 

list of trainings at csda.net.  

See what’s included in the 

Laws Governing Special 

Districts Guide at csda.net.   



23A CSDA Publication ©2020

Online Resources
At csda.net, members have access to tools and information 

crucial to any special district’s operational effectiveness. Below 
are a few highlights of what you can find once you’ve logged in.  

CSDA Communities 

Our online forum gives CSDA members a fast and easy way to 

share relevant information and get answers to questions from 

those most qualified to answer – your peers. Search for and 
connect with other members through the Member Directory, or 

find service and product providers through the Buyers Guide.   

Knowledge Base

The Knowledge Base is your online go-to for answers to 

many questions about local governance and policies related 

to special districts. The Frequently Asked Questions section 

contains answers to the inquiries we hear most often from 

special districts. The Sample Document Library is a collection 

of useful examples contributed by other special districts. 

Also included in the Knowledge Base is an array of downloadable 

publications and reference materials on topics such as: 

• Ballot Measure Guidelines
• Brown Act Compliance

• California Public Records Act

• Parliamentary Procedure

• Reserve Guidelines
• And many more

California Special Districts Alliance is a collaborative 

partnership between CSDA, the CSDA Finance Corporation and the 

Special District Risk Management Authority (SDRMA). Our three 

organizations work together to provide the best in resources and 

education for your special district.    

CSDA Finance Corporation has facilitated nearly $1 billion 

in financing for capital improvements, land acquisitions, and 

equipment purchases. Learn more at csdafinance.net.  

Special District Risk Management Authority provides full-service 

risk management programs, including Workers’ Compensation, 

Property/Liability, and Health Coverages. Learn more at sdrma.org.

Visit csda.net for online 

resources available for 

members, including tools 

and information crucial 

to any special district’s 

operational effectiveness. 

CSDA is committed to 

providing solutions to 

special district needs. 

That includes discounts 

and programs especially 

designed to save 

districts time and money. 

A complete listing of 

Value Added Benefits is 

available at csda.net.   



California Special Districts Association

1112 I Street, Suite 200

Sacramento, CA 95814

toll-free: 877.924.2732

csda.net

©2020



 

 

 

 

 

 

5. g. 2024 Brown Act Handbook  

published by RWG LAW 



Uwooct{!cpf!Fkuewuukqp!qh!vjg!Oclqt!Rtqxkukqpu!qh!vjg!Dtqyp!Cev

Vgzv!qh!vjg!Tcnrj!O/!Dtqyp!Cev

Wrfcvgf!kpenwfkpi!ejcpigu!ghhgevkxg!Lcpwct{!2-!3135

Uwooct{!qh!vjg!Oclqt!Rtqxkukqpu!cpf!Tgswktgogpvu!!

qh!vjg!Tcnrj!O/!Dtqyp!Cev

Dtqyp!Cev
JCPFDQQM

Tgrtgugpvkpi!Ecnkhqtpkc!rwdnke!cpf!rtkxcvg!gpvkvkgu!ukpeg!2;65

"
!
"
#

For complete digital copies of RWG's handbooks
on Conflicts of Interest and the Public Records Act,
please email lericson@rwglaw.com.



Ralph M. Brown Act  Page i 
© 2024 Richards, Watson & Gershon 
2918705 

Table of Contents 
INTRODUCTION ............................................................................................................................................... iii 

PART ONE:  SUMMARY OF THE MAJOR PROVISIONS AND REQUIREMENTS OF THE RALPH M. 
BROWN ACT  ...................................................................................................................................... 1 

I. APPLICATION OF BROWN ACT TO “LEGISLATIVE BODIES” ......................................................... 2

II. DEFINITION OF “MEETING” ............................................................................................................... 3

III. EXCEPTIONS TO MEETING REQUIREMENT ...................................................................................... 3

A. The Individual Contact Exception ................................................................................... 4

B. The Seminar or Conference Exception ........................................................................... 4

C. The Community Meeting Exception ................................................................................ 4

D. The Other Legislative Body Exception............................................................................. 4

E. The Social or Ceremonial Occasion Exception ............................................................ 5

F. The Standing Committee Exception ............................................................................... 5

IV. PERMITTED LOCATIONS OF MEETINGS AND TELECONFERENCING ........................................... 5

A. Permitted Locations of Meetings ..................................................................................... 5

B. Teleconferencing ................................................................................................................ 5

1) Assembly Bill 361 .................................................................................................... 6

2) Assembly Bill 2449 .................................................................................................. 7

V. ADA COMPLIANCE ........................................................................................................................... 9

VI. SIMULTANEOUS OR SUCCESSIVE MEETINGS ................................................................................ 10

1) There is a subsequent legislative body ........................................................... 10

2) The amount of compensation or stipend, if any, each 
member may receive as a result of the multiple meetings ........................ 10

3) The compensation or stipend is provided as a result of 
convening the multiple meetings .................................................................... 10

VII. SERIAL MEETINGS ............................................................................................................................. 10

A. Contacts with Staff ........................................................................................................... 11

B. Contacts with Constituents, Developers and Lobbyists ............................................ 12



Ralph M. Brown Act  Page ii 
© 2024 Richards, Watson & Gershon 
2918705 

C. Contacts with Fellow Members of the Same Legislative Body ................................ 13

D. Contacts on Social Media .............................................................................................. 13

VIII. NOTICE, AGENDA AND REPORTING REQUIREMENTS ................................................................ 14

A. Time of Notice and Content of Agenda ...................................................................... 14

B. Action and Discussion on Non-agenda Items............................................................. 17

C. Reporting of Actions ......................................................................................................... 18

IX. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION ................................................................................................................... 18

A. Regular Meetings .............................................................................................................. 18

B. Public Comments at Special Meetings ........................................................................ 19

C. Limitations on the Length and Content of Public Comments ................................. 19

D. Additional Rights of the Public ....................................................................................... 20

X. CLOSED SESSIONS ........................................................................................................................... 22

XI. ENFORCEMENT ................................................................................................................................ 24

XII. CONCLUSION .................................................................................................................................. 25

PART TWO:  THE RALPH M. BROWN ACT………………………………………………………… 26 



Ralph M. Brown Act  Page iii 
© 2024 Richards, Watson & Gershon 
2918705 

INTRODUCTION 

This Handbook is prepared to provide you with a summary of the major provisions of 
California’s open meeting law for local governments – the Ralph M. Brown Act, including 
rules about calling and holding various types of meetings and closed sessions, as well as 
guidelines for how to avoid serial meetings.  The second part contains the complete text 
of the Brown Act.  This Handbook is designed for local government officials and staff and 
we hope you will find it useful.  Should you have any questions about the information 
included in this Handbook, please do not hesitate to contact us. 

__________________________________________ 
Richards, Watson & Gershon 



Ralph M. Brown Act  Page 1 
© 2024 Richards, Watson & Gershon 
2918705 

PART ONE: 

SUMMARY OF THE MAJOR PROVISIONS  
AND REQUIREMENTS OF THE RALPH M. 

BROWN ACT 



Ralph M. Brown Act Page 2 
© 2024 Richards, Watson & Gershon 
2918705 

Summary of the Major Provisions  
and Requirements of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

The Ralph M. Brown Act, more commonly known as the “Brown Act,” is California’s 
“sunshine” law for local government.  The Brown Act is found in the California 
Government Code commencing with Section 54950.  In a nutshell, the Brown Act requires 
local government business to be conducted at open and public meetings, except in 
certain limited situations.  This Handbook briefly summarizes and discusses the major 
provisions of the Brown Act. 

I. APPLICATION OF BROWN ACT TO 
“LEGISLATIVE BODIES” 

The requirements of the Brown Act apply to “legislative bodies” of local governmental 
agencies.  The term “legislative body” is defined to include the governing body of a local 
agency (e.g., the city council or the board of supervisors) and any commission, 
committee, board, or other body of the local agency, whether permanent or temporary, 
decision-making or advisory, that is created by formal action of a legislative body.  
§ 54952(a)-(b) (unless indicated otherwise, all statutory references herein are to the 
California Government Code). 

Standing committees of a legislative body, that have either “continuing subject matter 
jurisdiction” or a meeting schedule fixed by formal action of the legislative body, are also 
subject to the requirements of the Brown Act.  Some common examples include the 
finance, personnel, or similar policy subcommittees of a legislative body.  Standing 
committees exist to make routine, regular recommendations on a specific subject 
matter.  These committees continue to exist over time and survive resolution of any one 
issue or matter.  They are also a regular part of the governmental structure. 

The Brown Act does not apply to “ad hoc” committees comprised solely of members of 
the legislative body that are less than a quorum of the body, provided these committees 
do not have a “continuing subject matter jurisdiction,” or a meeting schedule fixed by 
formal action of the legislative body.  Such ad hoc committees are purely advisory; they 
generally serve only a limited or single purpose, are not perpetual, and are dissolved 
when their specific task is completed. 

Advisory and standing committees, but not ad hoc committees, are required to have 
agendas, and to have their agendas posted at least 72 hours in advance of their 
meetings.  If this is done, the meeting is considered to be a regular meeting for all 
purposes.  § 54954(a).  If the agenda is not posted at least 72 hours in advance, the 
meeting must be treated as a special meeting, and all of the limitations and requirements 
for special meetings apply, as discussed later in Section VIII of this Handbook. 



Summary of the Major Provisions of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act  Page 3 

© 2024 Richards, Watson & Gershon 
2918705 

The governing boards of some private corporations, limited liability companies, and 
private entities may be subject to the Brown Act under certain circumstances.  A private 
entity’s governing board constitutes a legislative body within the meaning of the 
Brown Act if either of the following applies:  (i) the private entity is created by an elected 
legislative body to exercise lawfully delegated authority of the legislative body; or (ii) the 
private entity receives funds from a local agency and its governing board includes a 
member of the legislative body of the local agency who was appointed by the legislative 
body to the governing board as a full voting member.  § 54952(c).  Additionally, charter 
schools and entities managing charter schools may also be subject to the Brown Act. 
Educ. Code, §  47604.1(b)(1). 

The Brown Act also applies to persons who are elected to serve as members of a 
legislative body of a local agency even before they assume the duties of office.  
§ 54952.1.  Under this provision, the statute is applicable to newly elected, but not-yet-
sworn-in, members of the legislative body. 

II. DEFINITION OF “MEETING” 

The central provision of the Brown Act requires that all “meetings” of a legislative body 
be open and public.  The Brown Act defines the term “meeting” very broadly in 
§  54952.2(a), and encompasses almost every gathering of a majority of legislative body 
members, including: 

“[A]ny congregation of a majority of the members of a legislative body at 
the same time and location, including a teleconference, . . . to hear, 
discuss, deliberate, or take action on any item that is within the subject 
matter jurisdiction of the legislative body.” 

In plain English, this definition means that a meeting is any gathering of a majority of 
council members, board of directors or other applicable legislative body, to hear, discuss 
or deliberate any item of local agency business or potential local agency business.  It is 
important to emphasize that a meeting occurs if a majority gathers to hear, discuss or 
deliberate on a matter and not just voting or taking action on the issue. 

III. EXCEPTIONS TO MEETING 
REQUIREMENT 

There are six types of gatherings that are not subject to the Brown Act.  We commonly 
refer to these exceptions as:  (1) the individual contact exception; (2) the seminar or 
conference exception; (3) the community meeting exception; (4) the other legislative 
body exception; (5) the social or ceremonial occasion exception; and (6) the standing 
committee exception.  Unless a gathering of a majority of the members of a legislative 
body falls within one of the exceptions discussed below, even if a majority of members 
are merely in the same room listening to a discussion of local agency business, they will 



Summary of the Major Provisions of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act  Page 4 

© 2024 Richards, Watson & Gershon 
2918705 

be participating in a meeting within the meaning of the Brown Act that requires notice, 
an agenda, and a period for public comment. 

A. The Individual Contact Exception 

Conversations, whether in person, by telephone, video conferencing, or other means, 
between a member of a legislative body and any other person do not constitute a 
meeting under the Brown Act.  § 54952.2(c)(1).  However, such contacts may constitute 
a “serial meeting” (discussed below) in violation of the Brown Act, if the individual also 
makes a series of individual contacts with other members of the legislative body, and 
communications with these other members are used to “discuss, deliberate, or take 
action on any item of business that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative 
body.”  § 54952.2(b)(1). 

B. The Seminar or Conference Exception 

Attendance by a majority of the legislative body at a seminar, conference or similar 
educational gathering is generally exempted from Brown Act requirements.  
§ 54952.2(c)(2).  However, in order to qualify under this exception, the seminar or 
conference must be open to the public and must involve issues of general interest to the 
public or to local agencies.  Attendance at a California League of Cities or California 
Contract Cities seminar is an example of an educational gathering that fulfills these 
requirements.  However, as with many of the exceptions, this exception will not apply if a 
majority of legislative body members discuss among themselves items of specific business 
relating to their own local agency other than as part of the scheduled program. 

C. The Community Meeting Exception 

The community meeting exception allows a majority of legislative body members to 
attend privately sponsored neighborhood meetings, town hall forums, chamber of 
commerce lunches or other community meetings at which issues of local interest are 
discussed.  § 54952.2(c)(3).  In order to fall within this exception, however, the community 
meeting must satisfy specific criteria.  First, the community meeting must be “open and 
publicized.”  Therefore, a homeowners’ association meeting restricted to the residents of 
a particular development and only publicized to those residents cannot be attended by 
a majority of the legislative body without following the Brown Act requirements because 
the meeting does not qualify for the exception.  And again, for those meetings that fall 
within the community meeting exception, a majority of legislative body members cannot 
discuss among themselves items of business of their own local agency other than as part 
of the scheduled program. 

D. The Other Legislative Body Exception 

This exception allows a majority of members of any legislative body to attend open and 
noticed meetings of other legislative bodies of their local agency, or of another local 
agency, without treating such attendance as a meeting of the body.  § 54952.2(c)(4).  



Summary of the Major Provisions of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act  Page 5 

© 2024 Richards, Watson & Gershon 
2918705 

Of course, the legislative body members are prohibited from discussing items of business 
of their local agency among themselves other than as part of the scheduled meeting. 

E. The Social or Ceremonial Occasion Exception 

As has always been the case, the Brown Act does not apply to attendance by a majority 
of the legislative body members at purely social or ceremonial occasions.  
§ 54952.2(c)(5).  This exception only applies if a majority of legislative body members do 
not discuss among themselves items of business of their local agency. 

F. The Standing Committee Exception 

The standing committee exception allows members of a legislative body, who are not 
members of a standing committee of that body, to attend an open and noticed meeting 
of the committee without making the gathering a meeting of the full legislative body 
itself.  § 54952.2(c)(6).  If a majority of the legislative body is created by the attendance 
of the additional members, the legislative body members who are not members of the 
standing committee may attend only as “observers.”  This means that the noncommittee 
members of the legislative body should not speak at the standing committee’s meeting, 
sit in their usual seat on the dais, or otherwise participate in the meeting.  It is generally 
recommended that, if a standing committee meeting is likely to be attended by other 
legislative body members, then the meeting should be agendized as a meeting of the 
whole legislative body.  This will allow full participation by all members of the legislative 
body. 

IV. PERMITTED LOCATIONS OF MEETINGS 
AND TELECONFERENCING 

A. Permitted Locations of Meetings 

The Brown Act generally requires all meetings of a legislative body to occur within the 
boundaries of the local agency.  § 54954(b).  There are limited exceptions to this rule, 
however, such as allowing meetings with a legislative body of another local agency in 
that agency’s jurisdiction.  Meetings held outside of a local agency’s boundaries 
pursuant to an exception still must comply with agenda and notice requirements, as 
discussed below. 

B. Teleconferencing 

The role of “teleconferencing,” or using telephonic and/or video technology in public 
meetings was expanded significantly during the COVID-19 pandemic.   

Because the Brown Act relies on physical, in-person meetings as the primary means to 
achieve its goals of public participation and transparency, the law has traditionally 
limited a local agency’s ability to use teleconferencing to hold public meetings.  



Summary of the Major Provisions of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act  Page 6 

© 2024 Richards, Watson & Gershon 
2918705 

Generally, teleconferencing may only be used by members of a legislative body as a 
way to participate fully in the meeting from remote locations.  § 54953(b).  If one or more 
members participate in a meeting via teleconferencing, the following requirements 
apply to that meeting:  (1) the remote location must be connected to the main meeting 
location by telephone, video or both; (2) the notice and agenda of the meeting must 
identify the remote location; (3) the remote location must be posted and accessible to 
the public; (4) all votes must be by roll call; and (5) the meeting must comply with the 
Brown Act, which includes allowing participation by members of the public present in 
remote locations.  A quorum of the legislative body must participate from locations within 
the agency’s jurisdiction, but other members may participate from outside the 
jurisdiction.  These teleconferencing rules only apply to members of the legislative body.  
Staff members, attorneys or consultants may participate remotely without following the 
posting and public access requirements of the teleconferencing rules. 

On March 17, 2020, Governor Newsom issued Executive Order (“EO”) N-29-20, which 
temporarily relaxed these traditional teleconferencing requirements in response to the 
COVID-19 pandemic.  EO N-29-20 and the Governor’s COVID-19 state of emergency 
have expired, but recent amendments to the Brown Act, described below, now provide 
other alternatives to the standard teleconferencing rules under specific conditions.  The 
Brown Act’s standard teleconferencing rules described in the preceding paragraph 
remain available in lieu of the alternatives described below. 

1) Assembly Bill 361 

AB 361 (2021), which was recently amended by AB 557 (2023), built upon EO N-29-20 to 
provide a statutory basis in the Brown Act for relaxed teleconferencing requirements 
during the COVID-19 declared emergency.  As described below, however, there must 
be a proclaimed state of emergency for an agency to rely on AB 361.  Because the 
Governor has since lifted the COVID-19 state of emergency as of February 28, 2023,1

agencies will be unable to rely on AB 361 after that date absent a new emergency 
declaration, which does not have to be related to COVID-19. 

The teleconferencing option authorized by AB 361 has been extended by the legislature 
and will remain available indefinitely.  AB 361 authorizes local agencies to continue 
meeting remotely during a state of emergency proclaimed by the Governor without 
following the Brown Act’s standard teleconferencing provisions, including the 
requirement that meetings be conducted in physical locations, if the agency has already 
determined or is determining whether, as a result of the emergency, meeting in person 
would present imminent risks to the health or safety of attendees. § 54953(e)(1)(A)-(B). 
“State of emergency” means a state of emergency proclaimed pursuant to Section 8625 
of the California Emergency Services Act. 

AB 361 generally requires legislative bodies to make remote public meetings accessible 
telephonically or otherwise electronically to all members of the public seeking to observe 
and to address the local legislative body, and to adhere as closely as reasonably possible 

1 Governor Newsom Marks End of California’s COVID-19 State of Emergency (Feb. 28, 2023), available at:  

https://www.gov.ca.gov/2023/02/28/governor-newsom-marks-end-of-californias-covid-19-state-of-emergency/ (as of 
Dec. 22, 2023).



Summary of the Major Provisions of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act  Page 7 

© 2024 Richards, Watson & Gershon 
2918705 

to the provisions of the Brown Act.  AB 361 provides the following procedures and 
requirements for conducting remote meetings as follows:  

1. Public Comment Opportunities in Real Time:  A legislative body that meets 
remotely pursuant to AB 361 must allow members of the public to access 
the meeting via a call-in option or an internet-based service option, and 
the agenda for the remote meeting must provide an opportunity for 
members of the public to directly address the body in real time.  Although 
the agency may still ask for public comments to be submitted in advance, 
the agency cannot require public comments to be submitted in advance 
of the meeting.  § 54953(e)(2)(E).  Agencies may not close a public 
comment period until members of the public are given the opportunity to 
register and the time for that comment period has elapsed, whether it is for 
a specific agenda item or a general comment period.  If an agency does 
not provide a timed public comment period, but takes public comment 
separately on each agenda item, it must allow a reasonable amount of 
time per agenda item to allow members of the public the opportunity to 
provide public comment, including time to register or “otherwise be 
recognized for the purpose of providing public comment.”  
§ 54953(e)(2)(E)(ii). 

2. No Action During Disruptions:  In the event of a disruption that prevents the 
local agency from broadcasting the remote meeting, or in the event of a 
disruption within the local agency’s control that prevents members of the 
public from offering public comments using the call-in option or internet-
based service option, AB 361 prohibits the legislative body from taking any 
further action on items appearing on the meeting agenda until public 
access to the meeting via the call-in or internet-based options is restored.  
§ 54953(f)(1)(D). 

3. Periodic Findings:  To continue meeting remotely pursuant to AB 361, an 
agency must make periodic findings that:  (1) the body has reconsidered 
the circumstances of the declared emergency; and (2) the emergency 
impacts the ability of the body’s members to meet safely in person.  
§ 54953(e)(3).  These findings must be made not later than 45 days 
(previously 30 days) after teleconferencing for the first time pursuant to 
AB 361, and every 45 days (previously 30 days) thereafter.  We recommend 
that after the agency makes these findings for the first time, it place on the 
agenda (as a placeholder) “reconsideration” of the findings every 45 days 
thereafter.  § 54953(e)(3). 

2) Assembly Bill 2449 

AB 2449 (2022) provides alternate authority, separate from both the traditional Brown Act 
teleconferencing requirements and the relaxed teleconferencing requirements during 
declared emergencies under AB 361.  The provisions of AB 2449 are effective for a period 
of three years beginning January 1, 2023 and ending January 1, 2026. 



Summary of the Major Provisions of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act  Page 8 

© 2024 Richards, Watson & Gershon 
2918705 

AB 2449 requires at least a quorum of the legislative body to participate in person from a 
singular, physical location clearly identified on the agenda, open to the public, and 
situated within the boundaries of the territory over which the agency exercises jurisdiction.  
§ 54953(f)(1).  AB 2449 allows other individual members to participate remotely without 
posting agendas at all teleconference locations, identifying all such locations in the 
agendas, or making each teleconference location open to the public in two specified 
circumstances:  (1) “just cause” or (2) “emergency circumstances.”   

“Just cause” means any of the following:  (A) a childcare or caregiving need of a child, 
parent, grandparent, grandchild, sibling, spouse, or domestic partner that requires them 
to participate remotely; (B) a contagious illness that prevents a member from attending 
in person; (C) a need related to a physical or mental disability not otherwise 
accommodated by the agency’s procedures for receiving and swiftly resolving requests 
for reasonable accommodation for individuals with disabilities, consistent with the 
Americans with Disabilities Act; or (D) travel while on official business of the legislative 
body or another state or local agency.  § 54953(j)(2). 

To participate remotely for just cause, a member must notify the legislative body “at the 
earliest opportunity possible, including at the start of a regular meeting, of their need to 
participate remotely for just cause.”  § 54953(f)(2)(A)(i).  This notification must include a 
general description of the circumstances relating to their need to appear remotely at 
the given meeting. 

“Emergency circumstances” means a physical or family medical emergency that 
prevents a member from attending a meeting in person.  § 54953(j)(1). 

To participate remotely due to emergency circumstances, the member must request the 
legislative body to allow them to participate in the meeting remotely due to emergency 
circumstances and the legislative body must take action to approve the request.  
§ 54953(f)(2)(A)(ii).  If the legislative body does not approve the request, the member 
may not participate via teleconference under AB 2449 at that meeting other than as a 
member of the public.  The legislative body must request a general description of the 
circumstances relating to the member’s need to appear remotely at the given meeting.  
A general description need not exceed 20 words and does not require the member to 
disclose any medical diagnosis or disability, or any personal medical information that is 
already exempt under existing law.  A legislative body member should request to 
participate remotely at a meeting due to emergency circumstances as soon as possible, 
and a separate request is required for each meeting in which they seek to participate 
remotely.  § 54953(f)(2)(A)(i)(I).  The legislative body may approve such a request by a 
majority vote.  §§ 54953(f)(2)(A)(i)(II); 54954.2(b)(4).  If the request is received at least 72 
hours before a regular meeting, the legislative body’s action on the request should be 
included on the agenda.  If the request does not allow sufficient time to place proposed 
action on such a request on the posted agenda for the meeting, the legislative body 
may take action at the beginning of the meeting.  § 54953(f)(2)(A)(i)(II). 

There are strict limits on how often AB 2449 may be used for individual members.  For “just 
cause,” legislative members are only allowed to participate remotely up to two meetings 
per calendar year.  Otherwise, legislative members may not participate solely by 



Summary of the Major Provisions of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act  Page 9 

© 2024 Richards, Watson & Gershon 
2918705 

teleconference from a remote location for a period of more than three consecutive 
months or 20 percent of the regular meetings for the legislative body within a calendar 
year, or more than two meetings if the legislative body regularly meets fewer than 10 
times per calendar year. 

At the meeting before any action is taken, members of the legislative body participating 
remotely pursuant to AB 2449 must publicly disclose whether any other individuals 18 
years of age or older are present in the room at the remote location with the member, 
and the general nature of the member’s relationship with any such individuals.  
§  54953(f)(2)(B).  Members must also participate through both audio and visual 
technology to allow the public to remotely hear and visually observe them.  
§  54953(f)(2)(C). 

Local agencies relying on AB 2449 must follow certain requirements for noticing and 
conducting remote meetings similar to those required by AB 361.  Meeting notices and 
agendas must identify the means by which members of the public may access the 
meeting and offer public comment.  § 54953(f)(1)(B). Meeting agendas must identify and 
include an opportunity for all persons to attend and address the legislative body directly 
via a call-in option, via an internet-based service option, and at the in-person location of 
the meeting. § 54953(f)(1)(C).  In the event of a disruption that prevents the legislative 
body from broadcasting the meeting to members of the public using the call-in option 
or internet-based service option, or in the event of a disruption within the agency’s 
control that prevents members of the public from offering public comments using the 
call-in option or internet-based service option, the legislative body may take no further 
action on items appearing on the meeting agenda until public access to the meeting 
via the call-in option or internet-based service option is restored.  § 54953(f)(1)(D).  The 
legislative body may not require public comments to be submitted in advance of the 
meeting and must provide an opportunity for the public to address the legislative body 
and offer comment in real time.  § 54953(f)(1)(E). 

V. ADA COMPLIANCE 

Pursuant to Section 54953.2, all meetings of a legislative body, other than closed session 
meetings or parts of meetings involving a closed session, are required to be held in a 
location and conducted in a manner that complies with the Americans with Disabilities 
Act of 1990. 

However, local agencies must ensure that remote meetings are conducted in a manner 
that allows persons with a disability to participate to the fullest extent possible.  
Additionally, if requested, the agenda and documents in the agenda packet shall be 
made available in alternative formats to persons with a disability.  § 54954.1.  The agenda 
shall include information regarding how, to whom and when a request for disability-
related modification or accommodation, including auxiliary aids or services, may be 
made by a person with a disability who requires a modification or accommodation in 
order to participate in the meeting.  § 54954.2. 



Summary of the Major Provisions of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act  Page 10 

© 2024 Richards, Watson & Gershon 
2918705 

VI. SIMULTANEOUS OR SUCCESSIVE 
MEETINGS 

A legislative body that has convened a meeting and whose membership constitutes a 
quorum of any other legislative body may convene a meeting of that other legislative 
body, simultaneously or successively, only if a clerk or a member of the convened 
legislative body announces the following prior to convening the simultaneous or 
successive meeting:  

1) There is a subsequent legislative body; 

2) The amount of compensation or stipend, if any, each member may 
receive as a result of the multiple meetings; and 

3) The compensation or stipend is provided as a result of convening the 
multiple meetings.   

The amount of compensation and stipend is not required to be announced if it is listed in 
a statute without additional compensation authorized by the local agency, and in any 
case, the announced “compensation” does not include amounts reimbursed for actual 
and necessary expenses incurred by a member in the performance of his or her official 
duties.  § 54952.3. 

VII. SERIAL MEETINGS 

In addition to regulating all gatherings of a majority of the members of a legislative body, 
the Brown Act also addresses certain contacts between individual members of the 
legislative body.  On the one hand, the Brown Act specifically provides that nothing in 
the Act is intended to impose requirements on individual contacts or conversations 
between a member of a legislative body and any other person.  § 54952.2(c)(1).  This 
provision even applies to individual contacts between two members of the legislative 
body (the individual contact exception to the “meeting” described above).  Despite this 
exception, however, the Brown Act prohibits “serial meetings.”  § 54952.2(b)(1). 

A serial meeting is a series of meetings or communications, either in person or by other 
means, between individual members of the legislative body in which ideas are 
exchanged among a majority of a legislative body regarding an item of business that is 
within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body.  A serial meeting can occur 
even though a majority of legislative body members never gather in a room at the same 
time.  For example, an email response concerning an agency’s business circulating 
among a majority of the members of the legislative body, such as “reply to all,” could be 
considered a serial meeting.  A serial meeting typically occurs in one of two ways.  The 
first is when a staff member, a legislative body member or some other person individually 
contacts a majority of legislative body members and shares ideas among the majority 
(e.g., “I’ve talked to members A and B and they will vote ‘yes.’  Will you?”).  Alternatively, 



Summary of the Major Provisions of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act  Page 11 

© 2024 Richards, Watson & Gershon 
2918705 

member A calls member B, who then calls member C and so on, until a majority of the 
legislative body has discussed or deliberated or has taken action on the item of business.  

The prohibition against serial meetings does not, however, prohibit communications 
between staff and legislative body members for the purpose of answering questions or 
providing information regarding a matter that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of 
the local agency, as long as the staff person does not communicate with other members 
of the legislative body, the comments or positions of any other member of the legislative 
body.  § 54952.2(b)(2).   

Social media interactions between or among members of a legislative body can also 
raise serial meeting concerns.  However, the prohibition against serial meetings does not 
prevent communication between members of a legislative body and members of the 
public on internet-based social media platforms to answer questions, provide information 
to the public, or to solicit information from the public regarding a matter that is within the 
subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body provided that:  (i) a majority of the 
members of the legislative body do not use the social media platform to discuss among 
themselves business of a specific nature that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the 
legislative body, and (ii) members of the legislative body do not respond directly to any 
communication on a social media platform regarding a matter that is within the subject 
matter jurisdiction of the legislative body that is made, posted, or shared by any other 
member of the legislative body.  § 54952.2(b)(3).   

Observing the following guidelines can avoid inadvertent violation of the serial meeting 
rule.   

A. Contacts with Staff 

Staff can inadvertently become a conduit among a majority of a legislative body in the 
course of providing briefings on items of local agency business.  Originally, the California 
Court of Appeal held that staff briefings of individual city council members do not 
constitute an illegal serial meeting under the Brown Act unless there was additional 
evidence that:  (1) staff acted as a personal intermediary for other members of the 
legislative body; and (2) the meetings led to a collective concurrence among members 
of the legislative body.  Following that decision, the state legislature amended 
Government Code Section 54952.2 in 2008, effective in 2009, to further clarify that staff 
briefings of individual city council members for the purpose of answering questions or 
providing information regarding an item of business do not constitute an illegal serial 
meeting under the Brown Act as long as a staff person does not communicate the 
comments or positions of a member of the legislative body to other members.  Staff 
briefings must therefore be handled carefully.  To avoid having a staff briefing become 
a serial meeting: 

 Staff briefings of members of the legislative body should be “unidirectional” 
when done on an individual basis for a majority of the legislative body.  This 
means that information should flow from staff to the member, and the 
member’s participation should be limited to asking questions and acquiring 
information.  Otherwise, if multiple members separately give staff direction 



Summary of the Major Provisions of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act  Page 12 

© 2024 Richards, Watson & Gershon 
2918705 

thereby causing staff to shape or modify their ultimate recommendations 
in order to reconcile the views of a majority of the members, a violation 
might occur. 

 A legislative body member should not ask staff to describe the views of any 
other members of the legislative body, and staff should not volunteer those 
views if known. 

 Staff may present their views to a legislative body member during an 
individual contact, but staff should not ask for that member’s views unless it 
is absolutely clear that staff is not discussing the matter with a majority of 
the legislative body. 

B. Contacts with Constituents, Developers and Lobbyists 

A constituent, developer or lobbyist can also inadvertently become an intermediary 
among a majority of members of a legislative body thereby creating an illegal serial 
meeting in violation of the Brown Act.  Such person’s unfamiliarity with the requirements 
of the Brown Act aggravate this potential problem because they may expect a 
legislative body member to be willing to commit to a position in a private conversation 
in advance of a meeting.  To avoid violations arising from contacts with constituents, 
developers and lobbyists: 

 State the ground rules “up front.”  Ask if the person has talked, or intends to 
talk, with other members of the legislative body about the same subject.  If 
the answer is “yes,” then make it clear that the person should not disclose 
the views of other legislative body member(s) during the conversation. 

 Explain to the person that you will not make a final decision on a matter 
prior to the meeting.  For example:  “State law prevents me from giving you 
a commitment outside a noticed meeting.  I will listen to what you have to 
say and give it consideration as I make up my mind.” 

 Do more listening and asking questions than expressing opinions.  If you 
disclose your thoughts about a matter, counsel the person not to share 
them with other members of the legislative body. 

 Be especially careful with discussions about matters involving “quasi-
judicial” land use decisions such as subdivision maps, site development 
plans, conditional use permits or variances.  Consult with your city attorney 
or legal counsel before the meeting in order to avoid any potential 
problems involving illegal prejudice against the project or illegally receiving 
evidence about the project outside of the administrative record. 



Summary of the Major Provisions of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act  Page 13 

© 2024 Richards, Watson & Gershon 
2918705 

C. Contacts with Fellow Members of the Same Legislative 
Body 

Direct contacts concerning local agency business with fellow members of the same 
legislative body – whether through face-to-face or telephonic conversations, notes, 
letters, online exchanges, email with or to staff members – are the most obvious means 
by which an illegal serial meeting can occur.  This is not to say that a member of a 
legislative body is precluded from discussing items of local agency business with another 
member of that legislative body outside of a meeting; as long as the communication 
does not involve a majority of the legislative body, no “meeting” has occurred.  There is, 
however, always the risk that one participant in the communication will disclose the views 
of the other participant to a third or fourth legislative body member, creating the 
possibility of a discussion of an item of business outside a noticed public meeting.  
Therefore, avoid discussing city business with a majority of the members of your legislative 
body and communicating the views of other legislative body members outside a 
meeting. 

D. Contacts on Social Media 

Social media engagement can also inadvertently lead to concerns of creating an illegal 
serial meeting in violation of the Brown Act.  The Brown Act was previously silent regarding 
social media and its use by members of a legislative body, leading to uncertainty as to 
whether certain uses of social media could result in unintended violations of the Brown 
Act.  Assembly Bill 992, passed in 2020 and effective January 1, 2021, amended certain 
provisions of the Brown Act until January 1, 2026 to clarify allowable uses of social media 
under the Act.   

A member of a legislative body may engage in separate conversations or 
communications on an internet-based social media platform to answer questions, 
provide information to the public, or to solicit information from the public regarding a 
matter that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body.  However, a 
majority of the members of the legislative body cannot use the internet-based social 
media platform to discuss among themselves business of a specific nature that is within 
the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body.  Further, a member of the legislative 
body is prohibited from responding directly to any communication on an internet-based 
social media platform regarding a matter that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of 
the legislative body that is made, posted, or shared by any other member of the 
legislative body.  § 54952.2(b)(3)(A).  Unlike other serial meeting restrictions that are 
invoked when there are contacts of a majority of the legislative body, this provision is 
triggered when there is interaction between as little as two members of a body.  For 
purposes of these provisions, such interaction includes commenting or using digital icons 
that express reactions to communications made by other members of the legislative 
body.  § 54952.2(b)(3)(B)(i).  Thus, it is now clear that “liking” a post or using a digital icon 
is considered a discussion under the Brown Act. 

Therefore, to avoid violations arising from social media engagement, members of a 
legislative body should avoid interacting on social media platforms with any other 



Summary of the Major Provisions of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act  Page 14 

© 2024 Richards, Watson & Gershon 
2918705 

members of their legislative body regarding matters within the subject matter jurisdiction 
of the legislative body.  

These suggested rules of conduct may seem unduly restrictive and impractical, and may 
make acquiring important information more difficult or time-consuming.  Nevertheless, 
following them will help assure that your conduct comports with the Brown Act’s goal of 
achieving open government.  If you have questions about compliance with the Act in 
any given situation, you should seek advice from your city attorney or legal counsel.  
Adherence to the foregoing guidelines is not a substitute for securing advice from your 
legal counsel. 

VIII. NOTICE, AGENDA AND REPORTING 
REQUIREMENTS 

A. Time of Notice and Content of Agenda 

Two key provisions of the Brown Act which ensure the public’s business is conducted 
openly are the requirements that legislative bodies publicly post agendas prior to their 
meetings, (§§ 54954.2, 54955, 54956 and 54957.5) and that no action or discussion may 
occur on items or subjects not listed on the posted agenda (§ 54954.2).  The limited 
exceptions to the rule against discussing or taking action not on a posted agenda are 
discussed further below. 

Legislative bodies, except advisory committees and standing committees, are required 
to establish a time and place for holding regular meetings.  § 54954(a).  A “regular” 
meeting is a meeting that occurs on the legislative body’s established meeting day.  
Generally, agendas for a regular meeting must be publicly posted 72 hours in advance 
of the meeting in a place that is freely accessible to the public.   

Agendas must contain a brief general description of each item of business to be 
transacted or discussed at the meeting.  § 54954.2(a).  The description should inform the 
public of the “essential nature” of the matter, but need not exceed 20 words.  San 
Diegans for Open Government v. City of Oceanside, 4 Cal. App. 5th 637 (2016).  Courts 
will uphold a challenge to the sufficiency of an agenda item description when the 
description provides fair notice of what the agency will consider.  The San Diegans for 
Open Government case provides an example of a sufficient agenda description that 
provides fair notice.  In San Diegans for Open Government, the Oceanside City Council 
approved a subsidy agreement with a hotel developer using the following agenda item 
description:   

Adoption of a resolution to approve:  1. An Agreement Regarding 
Real Property (Use Restrictions) between the City of Oceanside and 
SD Malkin Properties Inc. to guarantee development and use of the 
property as a full service resort consistent with the entitlements for 
the project; 2. An Agreement Regarding Real Property to provide a 
mechanism to share Transient Occupancy Tax (TOT) generated by 



Summary of the Major Provisions of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act  Page 15 

© 2024 Richards, Watson & Gershon 
2918705 

the Project; 3. A Grant of Easement to permit construction of a 
subterranean parking garage under Mission Avenue; 4. A report 
required by AB 562 prepared by Paul Marra of Keyser Marston and 
Associates documenting the amount of subsidy provided to the 
developer, the proposed start and end date of the subsidy, the 
public purpose of the subsidy, the amount of the tax revenue and 
jobs generated by the project; and 5. A License Agreement to 
permit construction staging for the project on a portion of Lot 26. 

The court ruled that this agenda description complied with the requirements of 
Government Code Section 54954.2 because the agenda description expressly gave the 
public notice that the council would consider a fairly substantial development of publicly 
owned property as a hotel, that the City would share the transient occupancy tax 
generated by the project and that the transaction would involve a subsidy by the City.  
Additional information, while helpful, was not necessary to provide fair notice of the 
essential nature of the action under state law.  The court found that the language of the 
agenda, considered as a whole, provided more than a “clue” that the City planned to 
provide the developer with a substantial and ongoing financial subsidy in exchange for 
the project. 

In contrast, in Hernandez v. Town of Apple Valley, 7 Cal. App. 5th 194 (2017), the court 
held that the Apple Valley Town Council’s agenda description was insufficient.  There, 
the Apple Valley Town Council adopted three resolutions that called for a special 
election related to an initiative to adopt a commercial specific plan and the filing of 
arguments and rebuttal arguments for and against the initiative.  In addition, the Town 
Council adopted a Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) that authorized the 
acceptance of a gift from an interested party, Wal-Mart, to pay for the special election.  
The agenda description for the matter read “Wal-Mart Initiative Measure” and included 
a recommendation for action that read “[p]rovide direction to staff.” 

The court reiterated that the Brown Act requires that each item of business be placed on 
the agenda.  Specifically, the court highlighted that nothing in the agenda description, 
or even in the agenda packet, indicated that the Town Council was going to consider 
an MOU to accept a gift from Wal-Mart to pay for a special election to pass the initiative.  
The court concluded that the City violated the Brown Act by omitting the MOU from the 
agenda description because the omission meant that the plaintiff was given no notice 
of the item of business. 

Furthermore, agendas should make clear whether items may be acted on or whether 
they are informational only.  Thus, if an agenda for a meeting states that the legislative 
body will only “discuss” an item, the legislative body may not take an “action” on that 
item. 

Agendas must also be posted on the local agency’s website, if one exists, for City Council 
meetings, and meetings of any other legislative body where some members are City 
Council members and are compensated for their appearance.  While the language of 
the 72 hour posting requirement appears absolute, the California Attorney General 
opined that technical difficulties, such as a power failure, cyber-attack or other third-



Summary of the Major Provisions of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act  Page 16 

© 2024 Richards, Watson & Gershon 
2918705 

party interference that prevents a local agency from posting its agenda on its website 
for the full 72 hours will not necessarily preclude the legislative body from lawfully holding 
its meeting.  99 Ops. Cal. Atty. Gen. 11 (2016).  Whether a public meeting may continue 
as scheduled requires a fact specific analysis that turns on whether the local agency has 
otherwise “substantially complied” with the Brown Act’s agenda posting requirements by 
properly posting a physical agenda and making other “reasonably effective efforts” 
(such as making the agenda available on social media or some other alternative 
website) to notify the public of the meeting. 

Please note that a Planning Commission’s or a City Council’s proposed approval of a 
CEQA document, such as an environmental impact report or a negative declaration, is 
a distinct item of business separate from the item approving the project and must be 
expressly described in an agenda.  San Joaquin Raptor Rescue Center v. County of 
Merced, 216 Cal. App. 4th 1167 (2013).  In addition, one court has held that a Planning 
Commission’s or a City Council’s consideration of a CEQA exemption is also a distinct 
item of business for purposes of the Brown Act.  G.I. Industries v. City of Thousand Oaks
(2022) 84 Cal. App. 5th 814 (ordered not published by California Supreme Court, February 
15, 2023). 

A “special” meeting is a meeting that is held at a time or place other than the time and 
place established for regular meetings.  For special meetings, the “call and notice” of the 
meeting and the agenda must be posted in a publicly accessible area, including in some 
cases on the local agency’s website, at least 24 hours prior to the meeting.  § 54956(a).  
Additionally, each member of the legislative body must personally receive written notice 
of the special meeting either by personal delivery or by “any other means” (such as 
facsimile, email or U.S. mail) at least 24 hours before the time of the special meeting, 
unless they have previously waived receipt of written notice.  Members of the press 
(including radio and television stations) and other members of the public can also 
request written notice of special meetings and, if they have, then that notice must be 
given at the same time notice is provided to members of the legislative body. 

An “emergency” meeting may be called to address certain emergencies, such as a 
terrorist act or crippling disaster, without complying with the 24-hour notice requirement.  
Certain requirements apply for notifying the press and for conducting closed sessions as 
part of those meetings and except as specified, all other rules governing special 
meetings apply.  § 54956.5. 

Both regular and special meetings may be adjourned to another time.  Notices of 
adjourned meetings must be posted on the door of the meeting chambers where the 
meeting occurred within 24 hours after the meeting is adjourned.  § 54955.  If the 
adjourned meeting occurs more than five days after the prior meeting, a new agenda 
for that adjourned meeting must be posted 72 hours in advance of the adjourned 
meeting.  § 54954.2(b)(3). 

The Brown Act requires local agencies to mail the agenda or the full agenda packet to 
any person making a written request no later than the time the agenda is posted or is 
delivered to the members of the body, whichever is earlier.  Additionally,  a local agency 
with an internet website must send a website link to or a copy of the agenda or the full 



Summary of the Major Provisions of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act  Page 17 

© 2024 Richards, Watson & Gershon 
2918705 

agenda packet by email, if a person requests that the documents be sent by email.  A 
local agency may charge a fee to recover its costs of copying and mailing.  Any person 
may make a standing request to receive these materials, in which event the request must 
be renewed annually.  Failure by any requestor to receive the agenda does not 
constitute grounds to invalidate any action taken at a meeting.  § 54954.1. 

B. Action and Discussion on Non-agenda Items 

The Brown Act also ensures the public’s business is conducted openly by restricting a 
legislative body’s ability to deviate from posted agendas.  The statute affords a legislative 
body limited authority to act on or discuss non-agenda items at regular meetings, but 
forbids doing so at special meetings. 

As a general rule, a legislative body may not act on or discuss any item that does not 
appear on the agenda posted for a regular meeting.  § 54954.2(a)(3).  This rule does not, 
however, preclude a legislative body from acting on a non-agenda item that comes to 
the local agency’s attention subsequent to the agenda posting which requires 
immediate action.  § 54954.2(b)(2).  In order to utilize this exception, the legislative body 
must make findings of both components of the exception by a two-thirds vote of those 
present (by unanimous vote if less than two-thirds of the body is present).  This means that 
if four members of a five-member body are present, three votes are required to add the 
item; if only three are present, a unanimous vote is required.  In addition, an item not 
appearing on an agenda may be added if the legislative body determines by a majority 
vote that an emergency situation exists.  § 54954.2(b)(1).  For purposes of this exception, 
the term “emergency situation” refers to work stoppages or crippling disasters that 
severely impair public health, safety, or both. 

AB 2449 discussed above, also allows a legislative body act at the beginning of a 
meeting on a request from a member to participate in a meeting remotely due to 
emergency circumstances pursuant to AB 2449 if the member’s request to participate 
remotely does not allow sufficient time to place the proposed action on the posted 
agenda for the meeting for which the request is made. § 54953(f)(2)(A)(i)(II); 
§ 54954.2(b)(4).  The legislative body may approve such a request by a majority vote of 
the legislative body.  § 54954.2(b)(4). 

In addition to the general exceptions discussed above, a legislative body may also 
discuss non-agenda items at a regular meeting under the following five additional 
exceptions: 

 Members of the legislative body or staff may briefly respond to statements 
made or questions posed by persons during public comment periods; 

 Members of the legislative body or staff may ask a question for clarification, 
make a brief announcement or make a brief report on their own activities; 

 Members of the legislative body may, subject to the procedural rules of the 
body, provide a reference to staff or other resources for factual information; 



Summary of the Major Provisions of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act  Page 18 

© 2024 Richards, Watson & Gershon 
2918705 

 Members of the legislative body may, subject to the procedural rules of the 
body, request staff to report back to the legislative body at a subsequent 
meeting concerning any matter; and 

 Members of the legislative body may, subject to the procedural rules of the 
body, take action to direct staff to place a matter of business on a future 
agenda. 

Therefore, spending a few minutes to discuss whether a matter should be placed on a 
future agenda or asking staff procedural questions is permissible.  Cruz v. City of Culver 
City, 2 Cal.App. 5th 239 (2016).  The legislative body may not, however, discuss non-
agenda items to any significant degree.  This means there should not be long or wide-
ranging question and answer sessions on non-agenda items between the legislative 
body and the public or between the legislative body and staff.  It is important to follow 
these exceptions carefully and construe them narrowly to avoid tainting an important 
and complex action by a non-agendized discussion of the item. 

The Brown Act contains even more stringent regulations to restrict action on and 
discussion of non-agenda items at special meetings.  In particular, the statute mandates 
that only business that is specified in the “call and notice” of the special meeting may be 
considered by the legislative body.  § 54956.  Notwithstanding, a special meeting may 
not be called to discuss compensation of a local agency executive.  § 54956(b). 

C. Reporting of Actions 

The Brown Act mandates the public reporting of individual votes or abstentions by 
members of legislative bodies on any given motion or action.  This requirement may be 
satisfied in most situations by reporting the individual vote or abstention of each member 
in the minutes of a meeting.  § 54953(c).  The Brown Act also requires that the legislative 
body orally report a summary of recommendations made with respect to the salary, 
salary schedule or compensation paid to a local agency executive.  The legislative body 
must issue the report at the same meeting in which the final action on compensation is 
being considered.  § 54953(c)(3). 

IX. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

A. Regular Meetings 

The Brown Act mandates that every agenda for a regular meeting provide an 
opportunity for members of the public to directly address the legislative body on any 
matter that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body.  § 54954.3(a).  
In addition, the Brown Act requires the legislative body to allow members of the public to 
comment on any item on the agenda either before or during the body’s consideration 
of that item.  § 54954.3(a).  Also, although not required under the Brown Act, local 
agencies may consider reading written comments received into the public record by the 
city clerk, or his or her designee, subject to reasonable time and content limitations 



Summary of the Major Provisions of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act  Page 19 

© 2024 Richards, Watson & Gershon 
2918705 

imposed in accordance with the requirements outlined below in Section C (titled 
Limitations on the Length and Content of Public Comments). 

Some local agencies accomplish both public comment requirements by placing a 
general audience comment period at the beginning of the agenda where the public 
can comment on both agenda and non-agenda items.  Others provide public comment 
periods as each item or group of items comes up on the agenda, and then leave the 
general public comment period to the end of the agenda.  Either method is permissible, 
though public comment on public hearing items must be taken during the hearing. 

The Brown Act allows a legislative body to preclude public comments on an agenda 
item in one limited situation sometimes referred to as the “committee exception” - where 
the item was considered by a committee, composed solely of members of the body, that 
held a meeting where public comments on that item were allowed.  So, if the legislative 
body has standing committees (which are required to have agendized and open 
meetings with an opportunity for the public to comment on agenda items) and the 
committee has previously considered an item, then at the time the item comes before 
the full legislative body, the body may choose not to take additional public comments 
on that item.  However, if the version presented to the full legislative body is different from 
the version presented to, and considered by, the committee, then the public must be 
given another opportunity to speak on that item at the meeting of the full body.  
§ 54954.3(a). 

B. Public Comments at Special Meetings 

The Brown Act requires that agendas for special meetings provide an opportunity for 
members of the public to address the legislative body concerning any item listed on the 
agenda before or during the body’s consideration of that item.  § 54954.3(a).  Unlike 
regular meetings, though, the legislative body does not have to allow public comment 
on non-agenda matters at a special meeting.  Additionally, unlike regular meetings, the 
exception to the requirement for public comment opportunity for items already 
considered by a committee (i.e., the “committee exception”) does not apply to special 
meetings.  Preven v. City of Los Angeles, 32 Cal. App. 5th 925, 936 (2019). 

C. Limitations on the Length and Content of Public 
Comments 

A legislative body may adopt reasonable regulations limiting the total amount of time 
allocated to each person for public testimony.  § 54954.3(b).  Typical time limits restrict 
speakers to three or five minutes.  If an individual utilizes a translator to give testimony and 
simultaneous translation equipment is not used, the legislative body must allot at least 
twice the standard amount of time to the speaker.  § 54954.3(b)(2).  A legislative body 
may also adopt reasonable regulations limiting the total amount of time allocated for 
public testimony on legislative matters, such as a zoning ordinance or other regulatory 
ordinance.  However, setting total time limits per item for any quasi-judicial matter, such 
as a conditional use permit application, is not recommended because the time 



Summary of the Major Provisions of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act  Page 20 

© 2024 Richards, Watson & Gershon 
2918705 

restriction could violate the due process rights of those who were not able to speak to 
the body during the time allotted. 

The Brown Act precludes a legislative body from prohibiting public criticism of the 
policies, procedures, programs or services of the local agency or the acts or omissions of 
the body.  § 54954.3(c).  This restriction does not mean that a member of the public may 
say anything during public testimony.  If the topic of the public’s comments falls outside 
the subject matter jurisdiction of the local agency, the legislative body may stop a 
speaker’s comments if the comments are disruptive, as described below. 

A legislative body also may adopt reasonable rules of decorum that preclude a speaker 
from disrupting, disturbing or otherwise impeding the orderly conduct of its meetings.  
§ 54954.3(b).  The right to publicly criticize a public official does not include the right to 
slander that official, though the line between criticism and slander is often difficult to 
determine in the heat of the moment.  Care must be given to avoid violating the free 
speech rights of speakers by suppressing opinions relevant to the business of the 
legislative body. 

Finally, in some circumstances, the use of profanity may serve as a basis for stopping a 
speaker.  It will depend, however, upon what profane words or comments are made and 
the context of those comments.  Therefore, no one should be ruled out of order for 
profanity unless the language both is truly objectionable and causes a disturbance or 
disruption in the proceeding. 

The presiding officer of a legislative body may remove an individual from a meeting for 
actual disruptive behavior if they first warn the individual that their behavior is disruptive 
and that failure to cease their disruptive behavior could result in removal from the 
meeting. § 54957.95(a).  Behavior is disruptive only if it actually disrupts, disturbs, impedes, 
or renders infeasible the orderly conduct of the meeting. § 54957.95(b)(1).  Disruptive 
behavior may include noncompliance with the legislative body’s established rules of 
decorum, such as speaking out of turn or exceeding established time limits on how long 
an individual can speak on a particular topic during public comment.  
§ 54957.95(b)(1)(A).  If the individual disrupting the meeting is using force or a true threat 
of force — meaning serious enough that a reasonable observer would perceive the 
threat to be an actual threat to use force by the person making the threat — they may 
be removed without a prior warning to cease their behavior.  § 54957.95. 

D. Additional Rights of the Public 

The Brown Act grants the public the right to videotape or broadcast a public meeting, 
as well as the right to make a motion picture or still camera record of such meeting.  
§ 54953.5(a).  A legislative body may prohibit or limit recording of a meeting, however, if 
the body finds that the recording cannot continue without noise, illumination or view 
obstruction that constitutes, or would constitute, a disruption of the proceedings.  
§ 54953.6. 

Any audio or videotape record of an open and public meeting that is made, for 
whatever purpose, by or at the direction of the local agency is a public record and is 



Summary of the Major Provisions of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act  Page 21 

© 2024 Richards, Watson & Gershon 
2918705 

subject to inspection by the public consistent with the requirements of the Public Records 
Act.  § 54953.5(b).  The local agency must not destroy the tape or film record for at least 
30 days following the date of the taping or recording.  Inspection of the audiotape or 
videotape must be made available to the public for free on equipment provided by the 
local agency. 

The Brown Act requires written material distributed to a majority of the body by any 
person to be provided to the public without delay.  This rule is inapplicable, to attorney-
client memoranda, the confidentiality of which was affirmed by the California Supreme 
Court in Roberts v. City of Palmdale, 5 Cal. 4th 363, 381 (1993).  However, if non-privileged 
material is distributed during the meeting and prepared by the local agency, it must be 
available for public inspection at the meeting.  If it is distributed during the meeting by a 
member of the public, it must be made available for public inspection after the meeting.  
§ 54957.5(c). 

If material related to an agenda item is distributed to a majority of the body less than 72 
hours prior to an open session of a regular meeting, the writing must be made available 
at the same time for public inspection at a public office or location that has been 
designated in advance for such purpose.  Each local agency must list the address of the 
designated office or location on the agendas for all meetings of the legislative body of 
that agency.  § 54957.5(b).  Although this Brown Act provision technically requires an 
agency to list the designated office address on closed session meeting agendas, it does 
not require an agency to make such closed session documents and materials available 
for public inspection. 

A local agency may also post all documents made available for public inspection 
pursuant to Section 54957.5(b) on the agency’s Internet Web site.  However, a local 
agency may not post the writings to its website in lieu of designating a public office or 
location for inspection of physical copies of the documents. 

There is a limited exception for certain supplemental materials to the requirement 
described above regarding making a writing distributed to a majority of the legislative 
body less than 72 hours in advance of a meeting immediately available for public 
inspection at a physical location.  § 54957.5(b)(2)(B).  The exception only applies to 
materials that are supplementing an initial staff report or similar document containing an 
executive summary and the staff recommendation, if any, relating to that agenda item 
that was made available for public inspection at the office or location designated at 
least 72 hours before the meeting.  The exception allows the agency to make the 
materials available for public inspection the next business day commencing at least 24 
hours in advance of the meeting during regular hours if the agency posts the materials 
on the agency’s website immediately upon distributing them to the majority of the body, 
making it clear they relate to the item at the upcoming meeting, and the agenda posted 
for all meetings of the legislative body contains the agency’s website address.   

We recommend that local agencies implement the following procedures to comply with 
Section 54957.5(b): 



Summary of the Major Provisions of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act  Page 22 

© 2024 Richards, Watson & Gershon 
2918705 

 Place a binder at the agency’s principal place of business next to the 
public counter agenda packet that identifies the contents as follows:  
“Disclosable public documents related to an open session agenda item on 
the _____ Agenda Packet distributed by the [AGENCY] to a majority of the 
[LEGISLATIVE BODY] less than 72 hours prior to the meeting.” 

 On the agenda template for all meetings, there should be a standard 
footer or statement that indicates the following:  “Any disclosable public 
writings related to an open session item on a regular meeting agenda and 
distributed by the [AGENCY] to at least a majority of the [LEGISLATIVE BODY] 
less than 72 hours prior to that meeting are available for public inspection 
at the _____ Counter at [AGENCY’S PLACE OF BUSINESS] located at 
[ADDRESS] and [optional] the _____ Counter at the _____ Library located at 
[LIBRARY ADDRESS] during normal business hours.  [Optional] In addition, the 
Agency may also post such documents on the Agency’s Website at 
[WEBSITE ADDRESS].”  Agencies should make these documents available 
online to the greatest extent possible, when public buildings or facilities are 
temporarily closed to public access. 

 On the agency’s website, create a subfolder under the agenda packet 
folder that identifies the contents of the subfolder as follows:  “Disclosable 
public documents related to an open session agenda item on the _____
Agenda Packet distributed by the [AGENCY] to a majority of the 
[LEGISLATIVE BODY] less than 72 hours prior to the meeting.” 

 On all documents made available for public inspection pursuant to 
Section 54957.5(b), make a notation of the date when distributed to at least 
a majority of the legislative body and placed in the binder at agency’s 
place of business, [optional] the Library, or [optional] on the agency’s 
Website. 

 Charge customary photocopying charges for copies of such documents. 

One problem left unaddressed by Section 54957.5(b) is what to do when written materials 
are distributed directly to a majority of the legislative body without knowledge of staff, or 
even without the legislative body members knowing that a majority has received it.  The 
law still requires these materials to be treated as public records.  Thus, it is a good idea for 
at least one member of the legislative body to ensure that staff gets a copy of any 
document distributed to members of the legislative body so that copies can be made 
for the local agency’s records and for members of the public who request a copy. 

X. CLOSED SESSIONS 

The Brown Act allows a legislative body to convene a “closed session” during a meeting 
in order to meet privately with its advisors on specifically enumerated topics.  Sometimes 
people refer to closed sessions as “executive sessions,” which is a holdover term from the 
statute’s early days.  Examples of business that may be conducted in closed session 



Summary of the Major Provisions of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act  Page 23 

© 2024 Richards, Watson & Gershon 
2918705 

include personnel actions and evaluations, threats to public safety, labor negotiations, 
pending litigation, real estate negotiations and consideration of a response to an audit 
report.  §§ 54956.8, 54956.9, 54957, 54957.6, 54956.75.  Political sensitivity of an item is not 
a lawful reason for a closed session discussion. 

The Brown Act requires that closed session business be described on the public agenda. 
For a litigation threat against a city made outside an open and public meeting to be 
discussed in closed session it must be included in the agenda packet made available 
upon request before the meeting.  Fowler v. City of Lafayette, 46 Cal. App. 5th 360, 370 
(2020), as modified on denial of reh'g (Mar. 11, 2020), review denied (July 22, 2020).   

Moreover, there is a “safe harbor” for using prescribed language to describe closed 
session items on an agenda in that legal challenges to the adequacy of the description 
are precluded when such language is used.  § 54954.5.  This so-called “safe harbor” 
encourages many local agencies to use a very similar agenda format, especially in light 
of a California Court of Appeal ruling that a local agency substantially complied with the 
Brown Act’s requirement to describe closed session agenda items even though the 
notice referred to the wrong subsection of Section 54956.9.   Castaic Lake Water Agency 
v. Newhall County Water District, 238 Cal.App. 4th 1196, 1207 (2015).  Audio recording of 
closed sessions is not required unless a court orders such recording after finding a closed 
session violation.  § 54960.  

Closed sessions may be started in a location different from the usual meeting place as 
long as the location is noted on the agenda and the public can be present when the 
meeting first begins.  Moreover, public comment on closed session items must be allowed 
before convening the closed session. 

After a closed session, the legislative body must reconvene the public meeting and 
publicly report certain types of actions if they were taken and the vote on those actions.  
§ 54957.1.  There are limited exceptions for specified litigation decisions and to protect 
the victims of sexual misconduct or child abuse.  Contracts, settlement agreements or 
other documents that are finally approved or adopted in closed session must be 
provided at the time the closed session ends to any person who has made a standing 
request for all documentation in connection with a request for notice of meetings 
(typically members of the media) and to any person who makes a request within 24 hours 
of the posting of the agenda, if the requestor is present when the closed session ends.  
§ 54957.1. 

One perennial area of confusion is whether a legislative body may discuss the salary and 
benefits of an individual employee (such as a city manager) as part of a performance 
evaluation session under Section 54957.  It may not.  However, the body may designate 
a negotiator or negotiators, such as two members of a five-member legislative body, to 
negotiate with that employee and then meet with the negotiator(s) in closed session 
under Section 54957.6 to provide directions on salary and compensation issues.  The 
employee in question may not be present in such a closed session.  The Brown Act 
prohibits attendees from disclosing confidential information obtained during a closed 
session, unless the legislative body authorizes the disclosure.  Violations can be addressed 
through injunctions, disciplinary action, and referral to the grand jury.  § 54963. 



Summary of the Major Provisions of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act  Page 24 

© 2024 Richards, Watson & Gershon 
2918705 

XI. ENFORCEMENT 

There are both civil remedies and criminal misdemeanor penalties for Brown Act 
violations.  The civil remedies include injunctions against further violations, orders nullifying 
any unlawful action, orders determining that an alleged act violated the Brown Act, 
orders determining the validity of any rule to penalize or discourage the expression of a 
member of the legislative body, and remedies for breaching closed session confidences.  
§§ 54960, 54960.1, 54960.2, 54963. 

The procedures for claiming there was a Brown Act violation vary depending upon what 
the complaining party is seeking.  If the complaining party is seeking to invalidate an 
action based on a violation of the Brown Act, the procedures for doing so are set forth in 
Section 54960.1, as summarized below.  If the complaining party is merely seeking a 
determination that a Brown Act violation occurred or desires the court to impose an order 
preventing further violations, the procedures for doing so are set forth in Section 54960.2, 
also as summarized below. 

Under Section 54960.1, prior to filing suit to obtain a judicial determination that an action 
is null and void because of an alleged Brown Act violation, the complaining party must 
make a written demand on the legislative body to cure or correct the alleged violation.  
§ 54960.1(b).  The written demand must be made within 90 days after the challenged 
action was taken.  However, if the challenged action was taken in open session and 
involves a violation of the agenda requirements of Section 54954.2, then the written 
demand must be made within 30 days.  § 54960.1(c)(1).  The legislative body is required 
to cure or correct the challenged action and inform the party who filed the demand of 
its correcting actions or its decision not to cure or correct, within 30 days.  § 54960.1(c)(2).  
The complaining party must file suit within 15 days after receipt of the written notice from 
the legislative body or if there is no written response, within 15 days after the 30-day cure 
period expires.  § 54960.1(c).  Under Section 54960.2, prior to filing suit to obtain a judicial 
determination that an alleged Brown Act violation occurred after January 1, 2013, the 
district attorney or interested person must submit a cease and desist letter to the 
legislative body clearly describing the legislative body’s past action and the nature of 
the alleged violation within nine months of the alleged violation.  § 54960.2(a).  Second, 
the legislative body may respond within 30 days, including responding with an 
unconditional commitment to cease and desist from, and not repeat the past action 
that is alleged to violate the Brown Act.  § 54960.2(b).  If the legislative agency responds 
with an unconditional commitment, that commitment must be approved by the 
legislative body in open session at a regular or special meeting as a separate item of 
business not on the consent calendar and must be in substantially the form set forth in 
Section 54960.2(c)(1).  Also, a legislative body may resolve to rescind an unconditional 
commitment with proper notice to the public and to each person to whom the 
unconditional commitment was made.  § 54960.2(e).  Upon rescission, the district 
attorney or any interested person may file an action pursuant to Section 54960(a).  Finally, 
Section 54960.2 provides further deadlines and requirements that must be met when filing 
an action in connection with an unconditional commitment.  § 54960.2.  Note that even 
where a plaintiff can satisfy the threshold procedural requirements, a Brown Act violation 
will not automatically invalidate the action taken by the legislative body absent a 



Summary of the Major Provisions of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act  Page 25 

© 2024 Richards, Watson & Gershon 
2918705 

showing that the violation caused prejudice.  Martis Camp Cmty. Ass'n v. Cty. of Placer, 
53 Cal. App. 5th 569, 592 (2020). 

A member of a legislative body will not be criminally liable for a violation of the Brown Act 
unless the member intends to deprive the public of information which the member knows 
or has reason to know the public is entitled to under the Brown Act.  § 54959.  This 
standard became effective in 1994 and is a different standard from most criminal 
standards.  Until it is applied and interpreted by a court, it is not clear what type of 
evidence will be necessary to prosecute a Brown Act violation. 

XII. CONCLUSION 

The Brown Act’s many rules and ambiguities can be confusing, and compliance with it 
can be difficult.  In the event that you have any questions regarding any provision of the 
law, you should contact your legal counsel for advice. 



Ralph M. Brown Act  Page 26 
© 2024 Richards, Watson & Gershon 
2918705 

PART TWO: 

THE RALPH M. BROWN ACT 

Updated including changes effective January 1, 2024 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 27 

2918705 

The Ralph M. Brown Act 
Government Code §§ 54950-54963 

Section 54950. Declaration of public policy 

In enacting this chapter, the Legislature finds and declares that the public commissions, 
boards and councils and the other public agencies in this State exist to aid in the conduct 
of the people’s business.  It is the intent of the law that their actions be taken openly and 
that their deliberations be conducted openly. 

The people of this State do not yield their sovereignty to the agencies which serve them.  
The people, in delegating authority, do not give their public servants the right to decide 
what is good for the people to know and what is not good for them to know.  The people 
insist on remaining informed so that they may retain control over the instruments they 
have created. 

Section 54950.5. Title of act 

This chapter shall be known as the Ralph M. Brown Act. 

Section 54951. “Local agency” 

As used in this chapter, “local agency” means a county, city, whether general law or 
chartered, city and county, town, school district, municipal corporation, district, political 
subdivision, or any board, commission or agency thereof or other local public agency. 

Section 54952. “Legislative body” 

As used in this chapter, “legislative body” means: 

(a) The governing body of a local agency or any other local body created by state 
or federal statute. 

(b) A commission, committee, board or other body of a local agency, whether 
permanent or temporary, decision making or advisory, created by charter, ordinance, 
resolution or formal action of a legislative body.  However, advisory committees, 
composed solely of the members of the legislative body that are less than a quorum of 
the legislative body are not legislative bodies, except that standing committees of a 
legislative body, irrespective of their composition which have a continuing subject matter 
jurisdiction, or a meeting schedule fixed by charter, ordinance, resolution or formal action 
of a legislative body are legislative bodies for purposes of this chapter. 

(c) (1) A board, commission, committee or other multimember body that governs 
a private corporation, limited liability company or other entity that either: 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 28 

2918705 

(A) Is created by the elected legislative body in order to exercise 
authority that may lawfully be delegated by the elected governing body to a private 
corporation, limited liability company or other entity. 

(B) Receives funds from a local agency and the membership of whose 
governing body includes a member of the legislative body of the local agency 
appointed to that governing body as a full-voting member by the legislative body of the 
local agency. 

(2) Notwithstanding subparagraph (B) of paragraph (1), no board, 
commission, committee or other multimember body that governs a private corporation, 
limited liability company or other entity that receives funds from a local agency and, as 
of February 9, 1996, has a member of the legislative body of the local agency as a full 
voting member of the governing body of that private corporation, limited liability 
company or other entity shall be relieved from the public meeting requirements of this 
chapter by virtue of a change in status of the full-voting member to a nonvoting member. 

(d) The lessee of any hospital, the whole or part of which is first leased pursuant to 
subdivision (p) of Section 32121 of the Health and Safety Code after January 1, 1994, 
where the lessee exercises any material authority of a legislative body of a local agency 
delegated to it by that legislative body whether the lessee is organized and operated by 
the local agency or by a delegated authority. 

Section 54952.1. Conduct and treatment of electee 

Any person elected to serve as a member of a legislative body who has not yet assumed 
the duties of office shall conform his or her conduct to the requirements of this chapter 
and shall be treated for purposes of enforcement of this chapter as if he or she has 
already assumed office. 

Section 54952.2. Prohibited communications of local agency’s legislative body; 
social media; exclusions from this chapter 

(a) As used in this chapter, “meeting” means any congregation of a majority of the 
members of a legislative body at the same time and location, including teleconference 
location as permitted by Section 54953, to hear, discuss, deliberate or take action on any 
item that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body. 

(b) (1) A majority of the members of a legislative body shall not, outside a meeting 
authorized by this chapter, use a series of communications of any kind, directly or through 
intermediaries, to discuss, deliberate or take action on any item of business that is within 
the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body. 

(2) Paragraph (1) shall not be construed as preventing an employee or official 
of a local agency, from engaging in separate conversations or communications outside 
of a meeting authorized by this chapter with members of a legislative body in order to 
answer questions or provide information regarding a matter that is within the subject 
matter jurisdiction of the local agency, if that person does not communicate to members 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 29 

2918705 

of the legislative body the comments or position of any other member or members of the 
legislative body. 

(3) (A)  Paragraph (1) shall not be construed as preventing a member of 
the legislative body from engaging in separate conversations or communications on an 
internet-based social media platform to answer questions, provide information to the 
public, or to solicit information from the public regarding a matter that is within the subject 
matter jurisdiction of the legislative body provided that a majority of the members of the 
legislative body do not use the internet-based social media platform to discuss among 
themselves business of a specific nature that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the 
legislative body.  A member of the legislative body shall not respond directly to any 
communication on an internet-based social media platform regarding a matter that is 
within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body that is made, posted, or 
shared by any other member of the legislative body. 

(B) For purposes of this paragraph, all of the following definitions shall 
apply: 

(i) “Discuss among themselves” means communications made, 
posted, or shared on an internet-based social media platform between members of a 
legislative body, including comments or use of digital icons that express reactions to 
communications made by other members of the legislative body. 

(ii) “Internet–based social media platform” means an online 
service that is open and accessible to the public. 

(iii) “Open and accessible to the public” means that members of 
the general public have the ability to access and participate, free of charge, in the social 
media platform without the approval of the social media platform or a person or entity 
other than the social media platform, including any forum and chatroom, and cannot 
be blocked from doing so, except when the internet-based social media platform 
determines that an individual violated its protocols or rules. 

(c) Nothing in this section shall impose the requirements of this chapter upon any of 
the following: 

(1) Individual contacts or conversations between a member of a legislative 
body and any other person that do not violate subdivision (b). 

(2) The attendance of a majority of the members of a legislative body at a 
conference or similar gathering open to the public that involves a discussion of issues of 
general interest to the public or to public agencies of the type represented by the 
legislative body, provided that a majority of the members do not discuss among 
themselves, other than as part of the scheduled program, business of a specified nature 
that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the local agency.  Nothing in this paragraph 
is intended to allow members of the public free admission to a conference or similar 
gathering at which the organizers have required other participants or registrants to pay 
fees or charges as a condition of attendance. 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 30 

2918705 

(3) The attendance of a majority of the members of a legislative body at an 
open and publicized meeting organized to address a topic of local community concern 
by a person or organization other than the local agency, provided that a majority of the 
members do not discuss among themselves, other than as part of the scheduled 
program, business of a specific nature that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the 
legislative body of the local agency. 

(4) The attendance of a majority of the members of a legislative body at an 
open and noticed meeting of another body of the local agency or at an open and 
noticed meeting of a legislative body of another local agency, provided that a majority 
of the members do not discuss among themselves, other than as part of the scheduled 
meeting, business of a specific nature that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the 
legislative body of the local agency. 

(5) The attendance of a majority of the members of a legislative body at a 
purely social or ceremonial occasion, provided that a majority of the members do not 
discuss among themselves business of a specific nature that is within the subject matter 
jurisdiction of the legislative body of the local agency. 

(6) The attendance of a majority of the members of a legislative body at an 
open and noticed meeting of a standing committee of that body, provided that the 
members of the legislative body who are not members of the standing committee attend 
only as observers. 

(d) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2026, and as of that date is 
repealed. 

Section 54952.3. Simultaneous or serial order meetings authorized; Requirements; 
Compensation or stipends 

(a) A legislative body that has convened a meeting and whose membership 
constitutes a quorum of any other legislative body may convene a meeting of that other 
legislative body, simultaneously or in serial order, only if a clerk or a member of the 
convened legislative body verbally announces, prior to convening any simultaneous or 
serial order meeting of that subsequent legislative body, the amount of compensation or 
stipend, if any, that each member will be entitled to receive as a result of convening the 
simultaneous or serial meeting of the subsequent legislative body and identifies that the 
compensation or stipend shall be provided as a result of convening a meeting for which 
each member is entitled to collect compensation or a stipend.  However, the clerk or 
member of the legislative body shall not be required to announce the amount of 
compensation if the amount of compensation is prescribed in statute and no additional 
compensation has been authorized by a local agency. 

(b) For purposes of this section, compensation and stipend shall not include amounts 
reimbursed for actual and necessary expenses incurred by a member in the 
performance of the member's official duties, including, but not limited to, reimbursement 
of expenses relating to travel, meals, and lodging. 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 31 

2918705 

Section 54952.6. “Action taken” 

As used in this chapter, “action taken” means a collective decision made by a majority 
of the members of a legislative body, a collective commitment or promise by a majority 
of the members of a legislative body to make a positive or a negative decision, or an 
actual vote by a majority of the members of a legislative body when sitting as a body or 
entity, upon a motion, proposal, resolution, order or ordinance. 

Section 54952.7. Copy of chapter to members of legislative body of local agencies 

A legislative body of a local agency may require that a copy of this chapter be given to 
each member of the legislative body and any person elected to serve as a member of 
the legislative body who has not assumed the duties of office.  An elected legislative 
body of a local agency may require that a copy of this chapter be given to each 
member of each legislative body all or a majority of whose members are appointed by 
or under the authority of the elected legislative body. 

Section 54953. Requirement that meetings be open and public; Teleconferencing; 
Teleconference meetings by health authority 

(a) All meetings of the legislative body of a local agency shall be open and public, 
and all persons shall be permitted to attend any meeting of the legislative body of a local 
agency, except as otherwise provided in this chapter. 

(b) (1) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the legislative body of a local 
agency may use teleconferencing for the benefit of the public and the legislative body 
of a local agency in connection with any meeting or proceeding authorized by law.  The 
teleconferenced meeting or proceeding shall comply with all otherwise applicable 
requirements of this chapter and all otherwise applicable provisions of law relating to a 
specific type of meeting or proceeding. 

(2) Teleconferencing, as authorized by this section, may be used for all 
purposes in connection with any meeting within the subject matter jurisdiction of the 
legislative body.  If the legislative body of a local agency elects to use teleconferencing, 
the legislative body of a local agency shall comply with all of the following:  

(A) All votes taken during a teleconferenced meeting shall be by roll call. 

(B) The teleconferenced meetings shall be conducted in a manner that 
protects the statutory and constitutional rights of the parties or the public appearing 
before the legislative body of a local agency. 

(C) The legislative body shall give notice of the meeting and post agendas as 
otherwise required by this chapter. 

(D) The legislative body shall allow members of the public to access the 
meeting and the agenda shall provide an opportunity for members of the public to 
address the legislative body directly pursuant to Section 54954.3. 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 32 

2918705 

(3) If the legislative body of a local agency elects to use teleconferencing, it 
shall post agendas at all teleconference locations.  Each teleconference location shall 
be identified in the notice and agenda of the meeting or proceeding and each 
teleconference location shall be accessible to the public.  During the teleconference, at 
least a quorum of the members of the legislative body shall participate from locations 
within the boundaries of the territory over which the local agency exercises jurisdiction, 
except as provided in subdivisions (d) and (e).   

(c) (1) No legislative body shall take action by secret ballot, whether preliminary 
or final. 

(2) The legislative body of a local agency shall publicly report any action taken 
and the vote or abstention on that action of each member present for the action. 

(3) Prior to taking final action, the legislative body shall orally report a summary 
of a recommendation for a final action on the salaries, salary schedules or compensation 
paid in the form of fringe benefits of a local agency executive, as defined in subdivision 
(d) of Section 3511.1, during the open meeting in which the final action is to be taken.  
This paragraph shall not affect the public’s right under the California Public Records Act 
(Division 10 (commencing with Section 7920.000) of Title 1) to inspect or copy records 
created or received in the process of developing the recommendation. 

(d) (1) Notwithstanding the provisions relating to a quorum in paragraph (3) of 
subdivision (b), if a health authority conducts a teleconference meeting, members who 
are outside the jurisdiction of the authority may be counted toward the establishment of 
a quorum when participating in the teleconference if at least 50 percent of the number 
of members that would establish a quorum are present within the boundaries of the 
territory over which the authority exercises jurisdiction, and the health authority provides 
a teleconference number and associated access codes, if any, that allows any person 
to call in to participate in the meeting and the number and access codes are identified 
in the notice and agenda of the meeting. 

(2) Nothing in this subdivision shall be construed as discouraging health 
authority members from regularly meeting at a common physical site within the 
jurisdiction of the authority or from using teleconference locations within or near the 
jurisdiction of the authority.  A teleconference meeting for which a quorum is established 
pursuant to this subdivision shall be subject to all other requirements of this section. 

(3) For purposes of this subdivision, a health authority means any entity created 
pursuant to Sections 14018.7, 14087.31, 14087.35, 14087.36, 14087.38 and 14087.9605 of 
the Welfare and Institutions Code, any joint powers authority created pursuant to Article 
1 (commencing with Section 6500) of Chapter 5 of Division 7 for the purpose of 
contracting pursuant to Section 14087.3 of the Welfare and Institutions Code and any 
advisory committee to a county-sponsored health plan licensed pursuant to Chapter 2.2 
(commencing with Section 1340) of Division 2 of the Health and Safety Code if the 
advisory committee has 12 or more members. 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 33 

2918705 

(e) (1) The legislative body of a local agency may use teleconferencing without 
complying with the requirements of paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) if the legislative body 
complies with the requirements of paragraph (2) of this subdivision in either of the 
following circumstances: 

(A) The legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of 
emergency for the purpose of determining, by majority vote, whether as a result of the 
emergency, meeting in person would present imminent risks to the health or safety of 
attendees. 

(B) The legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of 
emergency and has determined, by majority vote, pursuant to subparagraph (A), that, 
as a result of the emergency, meeting in person would present imminent risks to the 
health or safety of attendees. 

(2) A legislative body that holds a meeting pursuant to this subdivision shall do 
all of the following: 

(A) In each instance in which notice of the time of the teleconferenced 
meeting is otherwise given or the agenda for the meeting is otherwise posted, the 
legislative body shall also give notice of the means by which members of the public may 
access the meeting and offer public comment.  The agenda shall identify and include 
an opportunity for all persons to attend via a call-in option or an internet-based service 
option. 

(B) In the event of a disruption that prevents the legislative body from 
broadcasting the meeting to members of the public using the call-in option or internet-
based service option, or in the event of a disruption within the local agency’s control that 
prevents members of the public from offering public comments using the call-in option 
or internet-based service option, the legislative body shall take no further action on items 
appearing on the meeting agenda until public access to the meeting via the call-in 
option or internet-based service option is restored.  Actions taken on agenda items during 
a disruption that prevents the legislative body from broadcasting the meeting may be 
challenged pursuant to Section 54960.1. 

(C) The legislative body shall not require public comments to be 
submitted in advance of the meeting and must provide an opportunity for the public to 
address the legislative body and offer comment in real time.  

(D) Notwithstanding Section 54953.3, an individual desiring to provide 
public comment through the use of an internet website, or other online platform, not 
under the control of the local legislative body, that requires registration to log in to a 
teleconference may be required to register as required by the third-party internet website 
or online platform to participate. 

(E) (i) A legislative body that provides a timed public comment 
period for each agenda item shall not close the public comment period for the agenda 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 34 

2918705 

item, or the opportunity to register, pursuant to subparagraph (D), to provide public 
comment until that timed public comment period has elapsed. 

(ii) A legislative body that does not provide a timed public 
comment period, but takes public comment separately on each agenda item, shall 
allow a reasonable amount of time per agenda item to allow public members the 
opportunity to provide public comment, including time for members of the public to 
register pursuant to subparagraph (D), or otherwise be recognized for the purpose of 
providing public comment. 

(iii) A legislative body that provides a timed general public 
comment period that does not correspond to a specific agenda item shall not close the 
public comment period or the opportunity to register, pursuant to subparagraph (D), until 
the timed general public comment period has elapsed. 

(3) If a state of emergency remains active, in order to continue to 
teleconference without compliance with paragraph (3) of subdivision (b), the legislative 
body shall, not later than 45 days after teleconferencing for the first time pursuant to 
subparagraph (A) or (B) of paragraph (1), and every 45 days thereafter, make the 
following findings by majority vote: 

(A) The legislative body has reconsidered the circumstances of the state 
of emergency. 

(B) The state of emergency continues to directly impact the ability of 
the members to meet safely in person. 

(4) This subdivision shall not be construed to require the legislative body to 
provide a physical location from which the public may attend or comment. 

(f)  (1) The legislative body of a local agency may use teleconferencing without 
complying with paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) if, during the teleconference meeting, at 
least a quorum of the members of the legislative body participates in person from a 
singular physical location clearly identified on the agenda, which location shall be open 
to the public and situated within the boundaries of the territory over which the local 
agency exercises jurisdiction and the legislative body complies with all of the following: 

(A) The legislative body shall provide at least one of the following as a 
means by which the public may remotely hear and visually observe the meeting, and 
remotely address the legislative body: 

(i) A two-way audiovisual platform. 

(ii) A two-way telephonic service and a live webcasting of the 
meeting. 

(B) In each instance in which notice of the time of the teleconferenced 
meeting is otherwise given or the agenda for the meeting is otherwise posted, the 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 35 

2918705 

legislative body shall also give notice of the means by which members of the public may 
access the meeting and offer public comment. 

(C) The agenda shall identify and include an opportunity for all persons 
to attend and address the legislative body directly pursuant to Section 54954.3 via a call-
in option, via an internet-based service option, and at the in-person location of the 
meeting. 

(D) In the event of a disruption that prevents the legislative body from 
broadcasting the meeting to members of the public using the call-in option or internet-
based service option, or in the event of a disruption within the local agency’s control that 
prevents members of the public from offering public comments using the call-in option 
or internet-based service option, the legislative body shall take no further action on items 
appearing on the meeting agenda until public access to the meeting via the call-in 
option or internet-based service option is restored.  Actions taken on agenda items during 
a disruption that prevents the legislative body from broadcasting the meeting may be 
challenged pursuant to Section 54960.1. 

(E) The legislative body shall not require public comments to be 
submitted in advance of the meeting and must provide an opportunity for the public to 
address the legislative body and offer comment in real time. 

(F) Notwithstanding Section 54953.3, an individual desiring to provide 
public comment through the use of an internet website, or other online platform, not 
under the control of the local legislative body, that requires registration to log in to a 
teleconference may be required to register as required by the third-party internet website 
or online platform to participate. 

(2) A member of the legislative body shall only participate in the meeting 
remotely pursuant to this subdivision, if all of the following requirements are met: 

(A) One of the following circumstances applies: 

(i) The member notifies the legislative body at the earliest 
opportunity possible, including at the start of a regular meeting, of their need to 
participate remotely for just cause, including a general description of the circumstances 
relating to their need to appear remotely at the given meeting.  The provisions of this 
clause shall not be used by any member of the legislative body for more than two 
meetings per calendar year. 

(ii) The member requests the legislative body to allow them to 
participate in the meeting remotely due to emergency circumstances and the legislative 
body takes action to approve the request.  The legislative body shall request a general 
description of the circumstances relating to their need to appear remotely at the given 
meeting.  A general description of an item generally need not exceed 20 words and shall 
not require the member to disclose any medical diagnosis or disability, or any personal 
medical information that is already exempt under existing law, such as the Confidentiality 
of Medical Information Act (Chapter 1 (commencing with Section 56) of Part 2.6 of 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 36 

2918705 

Division 1 of the Civil Code).  For the purposes of this clause, the following requirements 
apply: 

(I) A member shall make a request to participate 
remotely at a meeting pursuant to this clause as soon as possible.  The member shall 
make a separate request for each meeting in which they seek to participate remotely. 

(II) The legislative body may take action on a request to 
participate remotely at the earliest opportunity.  If the request does not allow sufficient 
time to place proposed action on such a request on the posted agenda for the meeting 
for which the request is made, the legislative body may take action at the beginning of 
the meeting in accordance with paragraph (4) of subdivision (b) of Section 54954.2. 

(B) The member shall publicly disclose at the meeting before any action 
is taken, whether any other individuals 18 years of age or older are present in the room 
at the remote location with the member, and the general nature of the member’s 
relationship with any such individuals. 

(C) The member shall participate through both audio and visual 
technology. 

(3) The provisions of this subdivision shall not serve as a means for any member 
of a legislative body to participate in meetings of the legislative body solely by 
teleconference from a remote location for a period of more than three consecutive 
months or 20 percent of the regular meetings for the local agency within a calendar 
year, or more than two meetings if the legislative body regularly meets fewer than 10 
times per calendar year. 

(g) The legislative body shall have and implement a procedure for receiving and 
swiftly resolving requests for reasonable accommodation for individuals with disabilities, 
consistent with the federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sec. 12132), 
and resolving any doubt in favor of accessibility.  In each instance in which notice of the 
time of the meeting is otherwise given or the agenda for the meeting is otherwise posted, 
the legislative body shall also give notice of the procedure for receiving and resolving 
requests for accommodation. 

(h) The legislative body shall conduct meetings subject to this chapter consistent with 
applicable civil rights and nondiscrimination laws. 

(i) (1) Nothing in this section shall prohibit a legislative body from providing the 
public with additional teleconference locations. 

(2) Nothing in this section shall prohibit a legislative body from providing 
members of the public with additional physical locations in which the public may observe 
and address the legislative body by electronic means. 

(j) For the purposes of this section, the following definitions shall apply: 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 37 

2918705 

(1) “Emergency circumstances” means a physical or family medical 
emergency that prevents a member from attending in person. 

(2) “Just cause” means any of the following: 

(A) A childcare or caregiving need of a child, parent, grandparent, 
grandchild, sibling, spouse, or domestic partner that requires them to participate 
remotely.  “Child,” “parent,” “grandparent,” “grandchild,” and “sibling” have the same 
meaning as those terms do in Section 12945.2. 

(B) A contagious illness that prevents a member from attending in 
person. 

(C) A need related to a physical or mental disability as defined in 
Sections 12926 and 12926.1 not otherwise accommodated by subdivision (g). 

(D) Travel while on official business of the legislative body or another 
state or local agency. 

(3) “Remote location” means a location from which a member of a legislative 
body participates in a meeting pursuant to subdivision (f), other than any physical 
meeting location designated in the notice of the meeting.  Remote locations need not 
be accessible to the public. 

(4) “Remote participation” means participation in a meeting by 
teleconference at a location other than any physical meeting location designated in the 
notice of the meeting.  Watching or listening to a meeting via webcasting or another 
similar electronic medium that does not permit members to interactively hear, discuss, or 
deliberate on matters, does not constitute remote participation. 

(5) “State of emergency” means a state of emergency proclaimed pursuant 
to Section 8625 of the California Emergency Services Act (Article 1 (commencing with 
Section 8550) of Chapter 7 of Division 1 of Title 2). 

(6) “Teleconference” means a meeting of a legislative body, the members of 
which are in different locations, connected by electronic means, through either audio or 
video, or both. 

(7) “Two-way audiovisual platform” means an online platform that provides 
participants with the ability to participate in a meeting via both an interactive video 
conference and a two-way telephonic function. 

(8) “Two-way telephonic service” means a telephone service that does not 
require internet access, is not provided as part of a two-way audiovisual platform, and 
allows participants to dial a telephone number to listen and verbally participate. 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 38 

2918705 

(9) “Webcasting” means a streaming video broadcast online or on television, 
using streaming media technology to distribute a single content source to many 
simultaneous listeners and viewers. 

(k) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2026, and as of that date is 
repealed.  

Section 54953.1. Grand jury testimony 

The provisions of this chapter shall not be construed to prohibit the members of the 
legislative body of a local agency from giving testimony in private before a grand jury, 
either as individuals or as a body. 

Section 54953.2. Meetings to conform to Americans with Disabilities Act 

All meetings of a legislative body of a local agency that are open and public shall meet 
the protections and prohibitions contained in Section 202 of the Americans with 
Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sec. 12132), and the federal rules and regulations 
adopted in implementation thereof. 

Section 54953.3. Registration of attendance 

A member of the public shall not be required, as a condition to attendance at a meeting 
of a legislative body of a local agency, to register his or her name, to provide other 
information, to complete a questionnaire or otherwise to fulfill any condition precedent 
to his or her attendance. 

If an attendance list, register, questionnaire or other similar document is posted at or near 
the entrance to the room where the meeting is to be held or is circulated to the persons 
present during the meeting, it shall state clearly that the signing, registering or completion 
of the document is voluntary and that all persons may attend the meeting regardless of 
whether a person signs, registers or completes the document. 

Section 54953.5. Recording proceedings 

(a) Any person attending an open and public meeting of a legislative body of a local 
agency shall have the right to record the proceedings with an audio or video recorder 
or a still or motion picture camera in the absence of a reasonable finding by the 
legislative body of the local agency that the recording cannot continue without noise, 
illumination or obstruction of view that constitutes, or would constitute, a persistent 
disruption of the proceedings. 

(b) Any audio or video recording of an open and public meeting made for whatever 
purpose by, or at the direction of the local agency, shall be subject to inspection 
pursuant to the California Public Records Act (Division 10 (commencing with 
Section 7920.000) of Title 1), but, notwithstanding Section 34090, may be erased or 
destroyed 30 days after the recording.  Any inspection of an audio or video recording 
shall be provided without charge on equipment made available by the local agency. 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 39 

2918705 

Section 54953.6. Restrictions on broadcasts of proceedings 

No legislative body of a local agency shall prohibit or otherwise restrict the broadcast of 
its open and public meetings in the absence of a reasonable finding that the broadcast 
cannot be accomplished without noise, illumination or obstruction of view that would 
constitute a persistent disruption of the proceedings. 

Section 54953.7. Access to meetings beyond minimal standards 

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, legislative bodies of local agencies may 
impose requirements upon themselves which allow greater access to their meetings than 
prescribed by the minimal standards set forth in this chapter.  In addition thereto, an 
elected legislative body of a local agency may impose such requirements on those 
appointed legislative bodies of the local agency of which all or a majority of the 
members are appointed by or under the authority of the elected legislative body. 

Section 54953.8.  Open meetings: teleconferences: neighborhood councils 

(a)(1) An eligible legislative body may use teleconferencing without complying with 
paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) of Section 54953 if the eligible legislative body complies 
with paragraphs (2) to (4), inclusive.  

(2) An eligible legislative body may only use teleconferencing as described in 
this section after all the following have occurred:  

(A) The city council for a city described in subdivision (c) considers 
whether to adopt a resolution to authorize eligible legislative bodies to use 
teleconferencing as described in paragraph (1) at an open and regular meeting.  

(B) If the city council adopts a resolution described in subparagraph (A), 
an eligible legislative body may elect to use teleconferencing pursuant to this section if 
two-thirds of the eligible legislative body votes to do so. The eligible legislative body shall 
notify the city council if it elects to use teleconferencing pursuant to this section and its 
justification for doing so.  

(C) Upon receiving notification from a legislative body as described in 
subparagraph (B), the city council may adopt a resolution to prohibit the eligible 
legislative body from using teleconferencing pursuant to this section.  

(3) After completing the requirements in paragraph (2), an eligible legislative 
body that holds a meeting pursuant to this subdivision shall do all of the following:  

(A) In each instance in which notice of the time of the teleconferenced 
meeting is otherwise given or the agenda for the meeting is otherwise posted, the eligible 
legislative body shall also give notice of the means by which members of the public may 
access the meeting and offer public comment.  The agenda shall identify and include 
an opportunity for all persons to attend via a call-in option or an internet-based service 
option.  



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 40 

2918705 

(B) In the event of a disruption that prevents the eligible legislative body 
from broadcasting the meeting to members of the public using the call-in option or 
internet-based service option, or in the event of a disruption within the eligible legislative 
body’s control that prevents members of the public from offering public comments using 
the call-in option or internet-based service option, the eligible legislative body shall take 
no further action on items appearing on the meeting agenda until public access to the 
meeting via the call-in option or internet-based service option is restored.  Actions taken 
on agenda items during a disruption that prevents the eligible legislative body from 
broadcasting the meeting may be challenged pursuant to Section 54960.1.  

(C) The eligible legislative body shall not require public comments to be 
submitted in advance of the meeting and shall provide an opportunity for the public to 
address the legislative body and offer comment in real time.  

(D) Notwithstanding Section 54953.3, an individual desiring to provide 
public comment through the use of an internet website, or other online platform, not 
under the control of the eligible legislative body, that requires registration to log in to a 
teleconference may be required to register as required by the third-party internet website 
or online platform to participate.  

(E) (i) An eligible legislative body that provides a timed public 
comment period for each agenda item shall not close the public comment period for 
the agenda item, or the opportunity to register, pursuant to subparagraph (D), to provide 
public comment until that timed public comment period has elapsed.  

(ii) An eligible legislative body that does not provide a timed 
public comment period, but takes public comment separately on each agenda item, 
shall allow a reasonable amount of time per agenda item to allow public members the 
opportunity to provide public comment, including time for members of the public to 
register pursuant to subparagraph (D), or otherwise be recognized for the purpose of 
providing public comment.  

(iii) An eligible legislative body that provides a timed general 
public comment period that does not correspond to a specific agenda item shall not 
close the public comment period or the opportunity to register, pursuant to 
subparagraph (D), until the timed general public comment period has elapsed.  

(F) At least a quorum of the members of the eligible legislative body 
shall participate from locations within the boundaries of the city in which the eligible 
legislative body is established.  

(G) At least once per year, at least a quorum of the members of the 
eligible legislative body shall participate in person from a singular physical location that 
is open to the public and within the boundaries of the eligible legislative body.  

(4) An eligible legislative body that holds a meeting pursuant to this subdivision 
shall do the following, as applicable:  



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 41 

2918705 

(A) If the meeting is during regular business hours of the offices of the city 
council member that represents the area that includes the eligible legislative body, the 
eligible legislative body shall provide a publicly accessible physical location from which 
the public may attend or comment, which shall be the offices of the city council member 
who represents the area where the eligible legislative body is located, unless the eligible 
legislative body identifies an alternative location.  

(B) If the meeting is outside regular business hours, the eligible legislative 
body shall make reasonable efforts to accommodate any member of the public that 
requests an accommodation to participate in the meeting.  For the purposes of this 
subparagraph, “accommodation” means providing a publicly accessible physical 
location for the member of the public to participate from, providing access to 
technology necessary to participate in the meeting, or identifying locations or resources 
available that could provide the member of the public with an opportunity to participate 
in the meeting.  

(b) The legislative body shall comply with all other requirements of Section 54953.  

(c) As used in this section, “eligible legislative body” means a neighborhood council 
that is an advisory body with the purpose to promote more citizen participation in 
government and make government more responsive to local needs that is established 
pursuant to the charter of a city with a population of more than 3,000,000 people that is 
subject to this chapter.  

(d) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2026, and as of that date is 
repealed.  

Section 54954. Rules for conduct of business; Time and place of meetings 

(a) Each legislative body of a local agency, except for advisory committees or 
standing committees, shall provide by ordinance, resolution, bylaws or by whatever other 
rule is required for the conduct of business by that body, the time and place for holding 
regular meetings.  Meetings of advisory committees or standing committees for which an 
agenda is posted at least 72 hours in advance of the meeting pursuant to subdivision (a) 
of Section 54954.2, shall be considered for purposes of this chapter as regular meetings 
of the legislative body. 

(b) Regular and special meetings of the legislative body shall be held within the 
boundaries of the territory over which the local agency exercises jurisdiction, except to 
do any of the following: 

(1) Comply with state or federal law or court order, or attend a judicial or 
administrative proceeding to which the local agency is a party. 

(2) Inspect real or personal property which cannot be conveniently brought 
within the boundaries of the territory over which the local agency exercises jurisdiction, 
provided that the topic of the meeting is limited to items directly related to the real or 
personal property. 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 42 

2918705 

(3) Participate in meetings or discussions of multiagency significance that are 
outside the boundaries of a local agency’s jurisdiction.  However, any meeting or 
discussion held pursuant to this subdivision shall take place within the jurisdiction of one 
of the participating local agencies and be noticed by all participating agencies as 
provided for in this chapter. 

(4) Meet in the closest meeting facility if the local agency has no meeting 
facility within the boundaries of the territory over which the local agency exercises 
jurisdiction, or at the principal office of the local agency if that office is located outside 
the territory over which the agency exercises jurisdiction. 

(5) Meet outside their immediate jurisdiction with elected or appointed officials 
of the United States or the State of California when a local meeting would be impractical 
solely to discuss a legislative or regulatory issue affecting the local agency and over 
which the federal or state officials have jurisdiction. 

(6) Meet outside their immediate jurisdiction if the meeting takes place in or 
nearby a facility owned by the agency, provided that the topic of the meeting is limited 
to items directly related to the facility. 

(7) Visit the office of the local agency’s legal counsel for a closed session on 
pending litigation held pursuant to Section 54956.9, when to do so would reduce legal 
fees or costs. 

(c) Meetings of the governing board of a school district shall be held within the district, 
except under the circumstances enumerated in subdivision (b) or to do any of the 
following: 

(1) Attend a conference on non-adversarial collective bargaining techniques. 

(2) Interview members of the public residing in another district with reference 
to the trustees’ potential employment of an applicant for the position of the 
superintendent of the district. 

(3) Interview a potential employee from another district. 

(d) Meetings of a joint powers authority shall occur within the territory of at least one 
of its member agencies or as provided in subdivision (b).  However, a joint powers 
authority which has members throughout the state may meet at any facility in the state 
which complies with the requirements of Section 54961. 

(e) If, by reason of fire, flood, earthquake or other emergency, it shall be unsafe to 
meet in the place designated, the meetings shall be held for the duration of the 
emergency at the place designated by the presiding officer of the legislative body or his 
or her designee in a notice to the local media that have requested notice pursuant to 
Section 54956, by the most rapid means of communication available at the time. 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 43 

2918705 

Section 54954.1. Request for notice; Renewal; Fee 

Any person may request that a copy of the agenda, or a copy of all the documents 
constituting the agenda packet, of any meeting of a legislative body be mailed to that 
person.  If a local agency has an internet website, the legislative body or its designee 
shall email a copy of, or website link to, the agenda or a copy of all the documents 
constituting the agenda packet if the person requests that the item or items be delivered 
by email.  If the local agency determines it is technologically infeasible to send a copy 
of all documents constituting the agenda packet or a link to a website that contains the 
documents by email or by other electronic means, the legislative body or its designee 
shall send by mail a copy of the agenda or a website link to the agenda and mail a copy 
of all other documents constituting the agenda packet in accordance with the mailing 
requirements established pursuant to this section.  If requested, the agenda and 
documents in the agenda packet shall be made available in appropriate alternative 
formats to persons with a disability, as required by Section 202 of the Americans with 
Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sec. 12132), and the federal rules and regulations 
adopted in implementation thereof.  Upon receipt of the written request, the legislative 
body or its designee shall cause the requested materials to be mailed at the time the 
agenda is posted pursuant to Section 54954.2 and 54956 or upon distribution to all, or a 
majority of all, of the members of a legislative body, whichever occurs first.  Any request 
for mailed copies of agendas or agenda packets shall be valid for the calendar year in 
which it is filed, and must be renewed following January 1 of each year.  The legislative 
body may establish a fee for mailing the agenda or agenda packet, which fee shall not 
exceed the cost of providing the service.  Failure of the requesting person to receive the 
agenda or agenda packet pursuant to this section shall not constitute grounds for 
invalidation of the actions of the legislative body taken at the meeting for which the 
agenda or agenda packet was not received. 

Section 54954.2. Posting of agenda; Actions not on agenda 

(a) (1) At least 72 hours before a regular meeting, the legislative body of the local 
agency, or its designee, shall post an agenda containing a brief general description of 
each item of business to be transacted or discussed at the meeting, including items to 
be discussed in closed session.  A brief general description of an item generally need not 
exceed 20 words.  The agenda shall specify the time and location of the regular meeting 
and shall be posted in a location that is freely accessible to members of the public and 
on the local agency's internet website, if the local agency has one.  If requested, the 
agenda shall be made available in appropriate alternative formats to persons with a 
disability, as required by Section 202 of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 
U.S.C. Sec. 12132) and the federal rules and regulations adopted in implementation 
thereof.  The agenda shall include information regarding how, to whom and when a 
request for disability-related modification or accommodation, including auxiliary aids or 
services, may be made by a person with a disability who requires a modification or 
accommodation in order to participate in the public meeting. 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 44 

2918705 

(2) For a meeting occurring on and after January 1, 2019 of a legislative body 
of a city, county, city and county, special district, school district or political subdivision 
established by the state that has an internet website, the following provisions shall apply: 

(A) An online posting of an agenda shall be posted on the primary 
internet website home page of a city, county, city and county, special district, school 
district or political subdivision established by the state that is accessible through a 
prominent, direct link to the current agenda.  The direct link to the agenda shall not be 
in a contextual menu; however, a link in addition to the direct link to the agenda may be 
accessible through a contextual menu. 

(B) An online posting of an agenda, including, but not limited to, an 
agenda posted in an integrated agenda management platform shall be posted in an 
open format that meets all of the following requirements: 

(i) Retrievable, downloadable, indexable and electronically 
searchable by commonly used internet search applications.  

(ii) Platform independent and machine readable. 

(iii) Available to the public free of charge and without any 
restriction that would impede the reuse or redistribution of the agenda. 

(C) A legislative body of a city, county, city and county, special district, 
school district or political subdivision established by the state that has an internet website 
and an integrated agenda management platform shall not be required to comply with 
subparagraph (A) if all of the following are met: 

(i) A direct link to the integrated agenda management platform 
shall be posted on the primary Internet website home page of a city, county, city and 
county, special district, school district or political subdivision established by the state.  The 
direct link to the integrated agenda management platform shall not be in a contextual 
menu.  When a person clicks on the direct link to the integrated agenda management 
platform, the direct link shall take the person directly to an internet website with the 
agendas of the legislative body of a city, county, city and county, special district, school 
district or political subdivision established by the state. 

(ii) The integrated agenda management platform may contain 
the prior agendas of a legislative body of a city, county, city and county, special district, 
school district or political subdivision established by the state for all meetings occurring 
on or after January 1, 2019. 

(iii) The current agenda of the legislative body of a city, county, 
city and county, special district, school district or political subdivision established by the 
state shall be the first agenda available at the top of the integrated agenda 
management platform. 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 45 

2918705 

(iv) All agendas posted in the integrated agenda management 
platform shall comply with the requirements in clauses (i), (ii) and (iii) of subparagraph 
(B). 

(D) For the purposes of this paragraph, both of the following definitions 
shall apply: 

(i) “Integrated agenda management platform” means an 
Internet Web site of a city, county, city and county, special district, school district or 
political subdivision established by the state dedicated to providing the entirety of the 
agenda information for the legislative body of the city, county, city and county, special 
district, school district or political subdivision established by the state to the public. 

(ii) “Legislative body” has the same meaning as that term is used 
in subdivision (a) of Section 54952. 

(E) The provisions of this paragraph shall not apply to a political 
subdivision of a local agency that was established by the legislative body of the city, 
county, city and county, special district, school district or political subdivision established 
by the state. 

(3) No action or discussion shall be undertaken on any item not appearing on 
the posted agenda, except that members of a legislative body or its staff may briefly 
respond to statements made or questions posed by persons exercising their public 
testimony rights under Section 54954.3.  In addition, on their own initiative or in response 
to questions posed by the public, a member of a legislative body or its staff may ask a 
question for clarification, make a brief announcement, or make a brief report on their 
own activities.  Furthermore, a member of a legislative body, or the body itself, subject to 
rules or procedures of the legislative body, may provide a reference to staff or other 
resources for factual information, request staff to report back to the body at a 
subsequent meeting concerning any matter, or take action to direct staff to place a 
matter of business on a future agenda. 

(b) Notwithstanding subdivision (a), the legislative body may take action on items of 
business not appearing on the posted agenda under any of the conditions stated below.  
Prior to discussing any item pursuant to this subdivision, the legislative body shall publicly 
identify the item. 

(1) Upon a determination by a majority vote of the legislative body that an 
emergency situation exists as defined in Section 54956.5. 

(2) Upon a determination by a two-thirds vote of the members of the legislative 
body present at the meeting, or, if less than two-thirds of the members are present, a 
unanimous vote of those members present that there is a need to take immediate action 
and that the need for action came to the attention of the local agency subsequent to 
the agenda being posted as specified in subdivision (a). 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 46 

2918705 

(3) The item was posted pursuant to subdivision (a) for a prior meeting of the 
legislative body occurring not more than five calendar days prior to the date action is 
taken on the item, and at the prior meeting the item was continued to the meeting at 
which action is being taken. 

(4)  To consider action on a request from a member to participate in a meeting 
remotely due to emergency circumstances, pursuant to Section 54953, if the request 
does not allow sufficient time to place the proposed action on the posted agenda for 
the meeting for which the request is made.  The legislative body may approve such a 
request by a majority vote of the legislative body. 

(c) This section is necessary to implement and reasonably within the scope of 
paragraph (1) of subdivision (b) of Section 3 of Article I of the California Constitution. 

(d) For purposes of subdivision (a), the requirement that the agenda be posted on the 
local agency’s internet website, if the local agency has one, shall only apply to a 
legislative body that meets either of the following standards: 

(1) A legislative body as that term is defined by subdivision (a) of Section 54952. 

(2) A legislative body as that term is defined by subdivision (b) of Section 54952, 
if the members of the legislative body are compensated for their appearance, and if one 
or more of the members of the legislative body are also members of a legislative body 
as that term is defined by subdivision (a) of Section 54952. 

(e) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2026, and as of that date is 
repealed. 

Section 54954.3. Public testimony at regular meetings 

(a) Every agenda for regular meetings shall provide an opportunity for members of 
the public to directly address the legislative body on any item of interest to the public, 
before or during the legislative body’s consideration of the item that is within the subject 
matter jurisdiction of the legislative body, provided that no action shall be taken on any 
item not appearing on the agenda unless the action is otherwise authorized by 
subdivision (b) of Section 54954.2.  However, the agenda need not provide an 
opportunity for members of the public to address the legislative body on any item that 
has already been considered by a committee, composed exclusively of members of the 
legislative body at a public meeting wherein all interested members of the public were 
afforded the opportunity to address the committee on the item, before or during the 
committee’s consideration of the item, unless the item has been substantially changed 
since the committee heard the item, as determined by the legislative body.  Every notice 
for a special meeting shall provide an opportunity for members of the public to directly 
address the legislative body concerning any item that has been described in the notice 
for the meeting before or during consideration of that item. 

(b) (1) The legislative body of a local agency may adopt reasonable regulations 
to ensure that the intent of subdivision (a) is carried out, including, but not limited to, 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 47 

2918705 

regulations limiting the total amount of time allocated for public testimony on particular 
issues and for each individual speaker. 

(2) Notwithstanding paragraph (1), when the legislative body of a local 
agency limits time for public comment, the legislative body of a local agency shall 
provide at least twice the allotted time to a member of the public who utilizes a translator 
to ensure that non-English speakers receive the same opportunity to directly address the 
legislative body of a local agency. 

(3) Paragraph (2) shall not apply if the legislative body of a local agency utilizes 
simultaneous translation equipment in a manner that allows the legislative body of a local 
agency to hear the translated public testimony simultaneously. 

(c) The legislative body of a local agency shall not prohibit public criticism of the 
policies, procedures, programs or services of the agency or of the acts or omissions of the 
legislative body.  Nothing in this subdivision shall confer any privilege or protection for 
expression beyond that otherwise provided by law. 

Section 54954.4. Legislative findings and declarations relating to reimbursements; 
Legislative intent; Review of claims 

(a) The Legislature hereby finds and declares that Section 12 of Chapter 641 of the 
Statutes of 1986 authorizing reimbursement to local agencies and school districts for costs 
mandated by the state pursuant to that act, shall be interpreted strictly.  The intent of the 
Legislature is to provide reimbursement for only those costs which are clearly and 
unequivocally incurred as the direct and necessary result of compliance with Chapter 
641 of the Statutes of 1986. 

(b) In this regard, the Legislature directs all state employees and officials involved in 
reviewing or authorizing claims for reimbursement or otherwise participating in the 
reimbursement process, to rigorously review each claim and authorize only those claims, 
or parts thereof, which represent costs which are clearly and unequivocally incurred as 
the direct and necessary result of compliance with Chapter 641 of the Statutes of 1986 
and for which complete documentation exists.  For purposes of Section 54954.2, costs 
eligible for reimbursement shall only include the actual cost to post a single agenda for 
any one meeting. 

(c) The Legislature hereby finds and declares that complete, faithful and 
uninterrupted compliance with the Ralph M. Brown Act (Chapter 9 (commencing with 
Section 54950) of Part 1 of Division 2 of Title 5 of the Government Code) is a matter of 
overriding public importance.  Unless specifically stated, no future Budget Act or related 
budget enactments, shall, in any manner, be interpreted to suspend, eliminate or 
otherwise modify the legal obligation and duty of local agencies to fully comply with 
Chapter 641 of the Statutes of 1986 in a complete, faithful and uninterrupted manner. 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 48 

2918705 

Section 54954.5. Description of closed session items 

For purposes of describing closed session items pursuant to Section 54954.2, the agenda 
may describe closed sessions as provided below.  No legislative body or elected official 
shall be in violation of Section 54954.2 or 54956 if the closed session items were described 
in substantial compliance with this section.  Substantial compliance is satisfied by 
including the information provided below, irrespective of its format. 

(a) With respect to a closed session held pursuant to Section 54956.7: 

LICENSE/PERMIT DETERMINATION 

Applicant(s):  (Specify number of applicants) 

(b) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session pursuant 
to Section 54956.8: 

CONFERENCE WITH REAL PROPERTY NEGOTIATORS 

Property:  (Specify street address, or if no street address, the parcel number or 
other unique reference of the real property under negotiation) 

Agency negotiator:  (Specify names of negotiators attending the closed session) 
(If circumstances necessitate the absence of a specified negotiator, an agent or 
designee may participate in place of the absent negotiator so long as the name 
of the agent or designee is announced at an open session held prior to the closed 
session.) 

Negotiating parties:  (Specify name of party (not agent)) 

Under negotiation:  (Specify whether instruction to negotiator will concern price, 
terms of payment or both) 

(c) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session pursuant 
to Section 54956.9: 

CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL -- EXISTING LITIGATION 
(Paragraph (1) of subdivision (d) of Section 54956.9) 

Name of case:  (Specify by reference to claimant’s name, names of parties, case 
or claim numbers) 

or 

Case name unspecified:  (Specify whether disclosure would jeopardize service of 
process or existing settlement negotiations) 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 49 

2918705 

CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL -- ANTICIPATED LITIGATION 

Significant exposure to litigation pursuant to paragraph (2) or (3) of subdivision (d) 
of Section 54956.9:  (Specify number of potential cases) 

(In addition to the information noticed above, the agency may be required to 
provide additional information on the agenda or in an oral statement prior to the 
closed session pursuant to paragraphs (2) to (5), inclusive of subdivision (e) of 
Section 54956.9.) 

Initiation of litigation pursuant to paragraph (4) of subdivision (d) of 
Section 54956.9:  (Specify number of potential cases) 

(d) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session pursuant 
to Section 54956.95: 

LIABILITY CLAIMS 

Claimant:  (Specify name unless unspecified pursuant to Section 54961) 

Agency claimed against:  (Specify name) 

(e) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session pursuant 
to Section 54957: 

THREAT TO PUBLIC SERVICES OR FACILITIES 

Consultation with:  (Specify name of law enforcement agency and title of officer, 
or name of applicable agency representative and title) 

PUBLIC EMPLOYEE APPOINTMENT 

Title:  (Specify description of position to be filled) 

PUBLIC EMPLOYMENT 

Title:  (Specify description of position to be filled) 

PUBLIC EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE EVALUATION 

Title:  (Specify position title of employee being reviewed) 

PUBLIC EMPLOYEE DISCIPLINE/DISMISSAL/RELEASE 

(No additional information is required in connection with a closed session to 
consider discipline, dismissal, or release of a public employee.  Discipline includes 
potential reduction of compensation.) 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 50 

2918705 

(f) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session pursuant 
to Section 54957.6: 

CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATORS 

Agency designated representatives:  (Specify names of designated 
representatives attending the closed session).  (If circumstances necessitate the 
absence of a specified designated representative, an agent or designee may 
participate in place of the absent representative so long as the name of the agent 
or designee is announced at an open session held prior to the closed session). 

Employee organization:  (Specify name of organization representing employee or 
employees in question). 

or 

Unrepresented employee:  (Specify position title of unrepresented employee who 
is the subject of the negotiations). 

(g) With respect to closed sessions called pursuant to Section 54957.8: 

CASE REVIEW/PLANNING 

(No additional information is required in connection with a closed session to 
consider case review or planning). 

(h) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session pursuant 
to Sections 1461, 32106 and 32155 of the Health and Safety Code or Sections 37606 and 
37624.3 of the Government Code: 

REPORT INVOLVING TRADE SECRET 

Discussion will concern:  (Specify whether discussion will concern proposed new 
service, program or facility). 

Estimated date of public disclosure:  (Specify month and year). 

HEARINGS 

Subject matter:  (Specify whether testimony/deliberation will concern staff 
privileges, report of medical audit committee, or report of quality assurance 
committee). 

(i) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session 
pursuant to Section 54956.86: 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 51 

2918705 

CHARGE OR COMPLAINT INVOLVING INFORMATION PROTECTED BY FEDERAL LAW 

(No additional information is required in connection with a closed session to discuss 
a charge or complaint pursuant to Section 54956.86). 

(j) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session 
pursuant to Section 54956.96: 

CONFERENCE INVOLVING A JOINT POWERS AGENCY (Specify by name) 

Discussion will concern:  (Specify closed session description used by the joint 
powers agency). 

Name of local agency representative on joint powers agency board:  (Specify 
name). 

(Additional information listing the names of agencies or titles of representatives 
attending the closed session as consultants or other representatives). 

(k) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session 
pursuant to Section 54956.75: 

AUDIT BY CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR’S OFFICE 

Section 54954.6. Public meeting on general tax or assessment; Notice 

(a) (1) Before adopting any new or increased general tax or any new or increased 
assessment, the legislative body of a local agency shall conduct at least one public 
meeting at which local officials shall allow public testimony regarding the proposed new 
or increased general tax or new or increased assessment in addition to the noticed public 
hearing at which the legislative body proposes to enact or increase the general tax or 
assessment. 

For purposes of this section, the term “new or increased assessment” does not include 
any of the following: 

(A) A fee that does not exceed the reasonable cost of providing the 
services, facilities or regulatory activity for which the fee is charged. 

(B) A service charge, rate or charge, unless a special district's principal 
act requires the service charge, rate or charge to conform to the requirements of this 
section. 

(C) An ongoing annual assessment if it is imposed at the same or lower 
amount as any previous year. 

(D) An assessment that does not exceed an assessment formula or 
range of assessments previously specified in the notice given to the public pursuant to 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 52 

2918705 

subparagraph (G) of paragraph (2) of subdivision (c) and that was previously adopted 
by the agency or approved by the voters in the area where the assessment is imposed. 

(E) Standby or immediate availability charges. 

(2) The legislative body shall provide at least 45 days' public notice of the 
public hearing at which the legislative body proposes to enact or increase the general 
tax or assessment.  The legislative body shall provide notice for the public meeting at the 
same time and in the same document as the notice for the public hearing, but the 
meeting shall occur prior to the hearing. 

(b) (1) The joint notice of both the public meeting and the public hearing required 
by subdivision (a) with respect to a proposal for a new or increased general tax shall be 
accomplished by placing a display advertisement of at least one-eighth page in a 
newspaper of general circulation for three weeks pursuant to Section 6063 and by a first-
class mailing to those interested parties who have filed a written request with the local 
agency for mailed notice of public meetings or hearings on new or increased general 
taxes.  The public meeting pursuant to subdivision (a) shall take place no earlier than 10 
days after the first publication of the joint notice pursuant to this subdivision.  The public 
hearing shall take place no earlier than seven days after the public meeting pursuant to 
this subdivision.  Notwithstanding paragraph (2) of subdivision (a), the joint notice need 
not include notice of the public meeting after the meeting has taken place.  The public 
hearing pursuant to subdivision (a) shall take place no earlier than 45 days after the first 
publication of the joint notice pursuant to this subdivision.  Any written request for mailed 
notices shall be effective for one year from the date on which it is filed unless a renewal 
request is filed.  Renewal requests for mailed notices shall be filed on or before April 1 of 
each year.  The legislative body may establish a reasonable annual charge for sending 
notices based on the estimated cost of providing the service. 

(2) The notice required by paragraph (1) of this subdivision shall include, but 
not be limited to, the following: 

(A) The amount or rate of the tax.  If the tax is proposed to be increased 
from any previous year, the joint notice shall separately state both the existing tax rate 
and the proposed tax rate increase. 

(B) The activity to be taxed. 

(C) The estimated amount of revenue to be raised by the tax annually. 

(D) The method and frequency for collecting the tax. 

(E) The dates, times and locations of the public meeting and hearing 
described in subdivision (a). 

(F) The telephone number and address of an individual, office or 
organization that interested persons may contact to receive additional information 
about the tax. 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 53 

2918705 

(c) (1) The joint notice of both the public meeting and the public hearing required 
by subdivision (a) with respect to a proposal for a new or increased assessment on real 
property or businesses shall be accomplished through a mailing, postage prepaid, in the 
United States mail and shall be deemed given when so deposited.  The public meeting 
pursuant to subdivision (a) shall take place no earlier than 10 days after the joint mailing 
pursuant to this subdivision.  The public hearing shall take place no earlier than seven 
days after the public meeting pursuant to this subdivision.  The envelope or the cover of 
the mailing shall include the name of the local agency and the return address of the 
sender.  This mailed notice shall be in at least 10-point type and shall be given to all 
property owners or business owners proposed to be subject to the new or increased 
assessment by a mailing by name to those persons whose names and addresses appear 
on the last equalized county assessment roll, the State Board of Equalization assessment 
roll or the local agency’s records pertaining to business ownership, as the case may be. 

(2) The joint notice required by paragraph (1) of this subdivision shall include, 
but not be limited to, the following: 

(A) In the case of an assessment proposed to be levied on property, the 
estimated amount of the assessment per parcel.  In the case of an assessment proposed 
to be levied on businesses, the proposed method and basis of levying the assessment in 
sufficient detail to allow each business owner to calculate the amount of assessment to 
be levied against each business.  If the assessment is proposed to be increased from any 
previous year, the joint notice shall separately state both the amount of the existing 
assessment and the proposed assessment increase. 

(B) A general description of the purpose or improvements that the 
assessment will fund. 

(C) The address to which property owners may mail a protest against the 
assessment. 

(D) The telephone number and address of an individual, office or 
organization that interested persons may contact to receive additional information 
about the assessment. 

(E) A statement that a majority protest will cause the assessment to be 
abandoned if the assessment act used to levy the assessment so provides.  Notice shall 
also state the percentage of protests required to trigger an election, if applicable. 

(F) The dates, times and locations of the public meeting and hearing 
described in subdivision (a). 

(G) A proposed assessment formula or range as described in 
subparagraph (D) of paragraph (1) of subdivision (a) if applicable and that is noticed 
pursuant to this section. 

(3) Notwithstanding paragraph (1), in the case of an assessment that is 
proposed exclusively for operation and maintenance expenses imposed throughout the 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 54 

2918705 

entire local agency or exclusively for operation and maintenance assessments proposed 
to be levied on 50,000 parcels or more, notice may be provided pursuant to this 
subdivision or pursuant to paragraph (1) of subdivision (b) and shall include the estimated 
amount of the assessment of various types, amounts or uses of property and the 
information required by subparagraphs (B) to (G), inclusive, of paragraph (2) of 
subdivision (c). 

(4) Notwithstanding paragraph (1), in the case of an assessment proposed to 
be levied pursuant to Part 2 (commencing with Section 22500) of Division 2 of the Streets 
and Highways Code by a regional park district, regional park and open-space district or 
regional open-space district formed pursuant to Article 3 (commencing with 
Section 5500) of Chapter 3 of Division 5 of, or pursuant to Division 26 (commencing with 
Section 35100) of the Public Resources Code, notice may be provided pursuant to 
paragraph (1) of subdivision (b). 

(d) The notice requirements imposed by this section shall be construed as additional 
to, and not to supersede existing provisions of law, and shall be applied concurrently with 
the existing provisions so as to not delay or prolong the governmental decision making 
process. 

(e) This section shall not apply to any new or increased general tax or any new or 
increased assessment that requires an election of either of the following: 

(1) The property owners subject to the assessment. 

(2) The voters within the local agency imposing the tax or assessment. 

(f) Nothing in this section shall prohibit a local agency from holding a consolidated 
meeting or hearing at which the legislative body discusses multiple tax or assessment 
proposals. 

(g) The local agency may recover the reasonable costs of public meetings, public 
hearings and notice required by this section from the proceeds of the tax or assessment.  
The costs recovered for these purposes, whether recovered pursuant to this subdivision 
or any other provision of law, shall not exceed the reasonable costs of the public 
meetings, public hearings and notice. 

(h) Any new or increased assessment that is subject to the notice and hearing 
provisions of Article XIII C or XIII D of the California Constitution is not subject to the notice 
and hearing requirements of this section. 

Section 54955. Adjournment of meetings 

The legislative body of a local agency may adjourn any regular, adjourned regular, 
special or adjourned special meeting to a time and place specified in the order of 
adjournment.  Less than a quorum may so adjourn from time to time.  If all members are 
absent from any regular or adjourned regular meeting, the clerk or secretary of the 
legislative body may declare the meeting adjourned to a stated time and place and he 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 55 

2918705 

or she shall cause a written notice of the adjournment to be given in the same manner 
as provided in Section 54956 for special meetings, unless such notice is waived as 
provided for special meetings.  A copy of the order or notice of adjournment shall be 
conspicuously posted on or near the door of the place where the regular, adjourned 
regular, special or adjourned special meeting was held within 24 hours after the time of 
the adjournment.  When a regular or adjourned regular meeting is adjourned as provided 
in this section, the resulting adjourned regular meeting is a regular meeting for all 
purposes.  When an order of adjournment of any meeting fails to state the hour at which 
the adjourned meeting is to be held, it shall be held at the hour specified for regular 
meetings by ordinance, resolution, bylaw or other rule. 

Section 54955.1. Continuance of hearing 

Any hearing being held, or noticed or ordered to be held by a legislative body of a local 
agency at any meeting may by order or notice of continuance be continued or re-
continued to any subsequent meeting of the legislative body in the same manner and 
to the same extent set forth in Section 54955 for the adjournment of meetings; provided, 
that if the hearing is continued to a time less than 24 hours after the time specified in the 
order or notice of hearing, a copy of the order or notice of continuance of hearing shall 
be posted immediately following the meeting at which the order or declaration of 
continuance was adopted or made. 

Section 54956. Special meetings; call; notice; meetings regarding local agency 
executive salaries, salary schedules or compensation in form of 
fringe benefits; posting on Internet Web site 

(a) A special meeting may be called at any time by the presiding officer of the 
legislative body of a local agency or by a majority of the members of the legislative body, 
by delivering written notice to each member of the legislative body and to each local 
newspaper of general circulation and radio or television station requesting notice in 
writing and posting a notice on the local agency's Internet Web site, if the local agency 
has one.  The notice shall be delivered personally or by any other means and shall be 
received at least 24 hours before the time of the meeting as specified in the notice.  The 
call and notice shall specify the time and place of the special meeting and the business 
to be transacted or discussed.  No other business shall be considered at these meetings 
by the legislative body.  The written notice may be dispensed with as to any member 
who at or prior to the time the meeting convenes files with the clerk or secretary of the 
legislative body a written waiver of notice.  The waiver may be given by telegram.  The 
written notice may also be dispensed with as to any member who is actually present at 
the meeting at the time it convenes. 

The call and notice shall be posted at least 24 hours prior to the special meeting in a 
location that is freely accessible to members of the public. 

(b) Notwithstanding any other law, a legislative body shall not call a special meeting 
regarding the salaries, salary schedules or compensation paid in the form of fringe 
benefits of a local agency executive, as defined in subdivision (d) of Section 3511.1.  



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 56 

2918705 

However, this subdivision does not apply to a local agency calling a special meeting to 
discuss the local agency's budget. 

(c) For purposes of subdivision (a), the requirement that the agenda be posted on the 
local agency's Internet Web site, if the local agency has one, shall only apply to a 
legislative body that meets either of the following standards: 

(1) A legislative body as that term is defined by subdivision (a) of Section 54952. 

(2) A legislative body as that term is defined by subdivision (b) of Section 54952, 
if the members of the legislative body are compensated for their appearance, and if one 
or more of the members of the legislative body are also members of a legislative body 
as that term is defined by subdivision (a) of Section 54952. 

Section 54956.5. Emergency meetings; Notice 

(a) For purposes of this section, “emergency situation” means both of the following: 

(1) An emergency, which shall be defined as a work stoppage, crippling 
activity or other activity that severely impairs public health, safety or both, as determined 
by a majority of the members of the legislative body. 

(2) A dire emergency, which shall be defined as a crippling disaster, mass 
destruction, terrorist act or threatened terrorist activity that poses peril so immediate and 
significant that requiring a legislative body to provide one-hour notice before holding an 
emergency meeting under this section may endanger the public health, safety or both, 
as determined by a majority of the members of the legislative body. 

(b) (1) Subject to paragraph (2), in the case of an emergency situation involving 
matters upon which prompt action is necessary due to the disruption or threatened 
disruption of public facilities, a legislative body may hold an emergency meeting without 
complying with either the 24-hour notice requirement or the 24-hour posting requirement 
of Section 54956, or both, of the notice and posting requirements. 

(2) Each local newspaper of general circulation and radio or television station 
that has requested notice of special meetings pursuant to Section 54956 shall be notified 
by the presiding officer of the legislative body or designee thereof, one hour prior to the 
emergency meeting, or, in the case of a dire emergency, at or near the time that the 
presiding officer or designee notifies the members of the legislative body of the 
emergency meeting.  This notice shall be given by telephone and all telephone numbers 
provided in the most recent request of a newspaper or station for notification of special 
meetings shall be exhausted.  In the event that telephone services are not functioning, 
the notice requirements of this section shall be deemed waived and the legislative body 
or designee of the legislative body, shall notify those newspapers, radio stations or 
television stations of the fact of the holding of the emergency meeting, the purpose of 
the meeting and any action taken at the meeting as soon after the meeting as possible. 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 57 

2918705 

(c) During a meeting held pursuant to this section, the legislative body may meet in 
closed session pursuant to Section 54957 if agreed to by a two-thirds vote of the members 
of the legislative body present, or, if less than two-thirds of the members are present, by 
a unanimous vote of the members present. 

(d) All special meeting requirements as prescribed in Section 54956, shall be 
applicable to a meeting called pursuant to this section, with the exception of the 24-hour 
notice requirement. 

(e) The minutes of a meeting called pursuant to this section, a list of person(s) who is 
the presiding officer of the legislative body or designee of the legislative body, notified 
or attempted to notify, a copy of the rollcall vote and any actions taken at the meeting 
shall be posted for a minimum of 10 days in a public place as soon after the meeting as 
possible. 

Section 54956.6. Fees 

No fees may be charged by the legislative body of a local agency for carrying out any 
provision of this chapter, except as specifically authorized by this chapter. 

Section 54956.7. Closed sessions regarding application from person with criminal 
record 

Whenever a legislative body of a local agency determines that it is necessary to discuss 
and determine whether an applicant for a license or license renewal, who has a criminal 
record is sufficiently rehabilitated to obtain the license, the legislative body may hold a 
closed session with the applicant and the applicant’s attorney, if any, for the purpose of 
holding the discussion and making the determination.  If the legislative body determines, 
as a result of the closed session, that the issuance or renewal of the license should be 
denied, the applicant shall be offered the opportunity to withdraw the application.  If 
the applicant withdraws the application, no record shall be kept of the discussions or 
decisions made at the closed session and all matters relating to the closed session shall 
be confidential.  If the applicant does not withdraw the application, the legislative body 
shall take action at the public meeting during which the closed session is held or at its 
next public meeting denying the application for the license, but all matters relating to 
the closed session are confidential and shall not be disclosed without the consent of the 
applicant, except in an action by an applicant who has been denied a license 
challenging the denial of the license. 

Section 54956.75. Closed session for response to final draft audit report 

(a) Nothing contained in this chapter shall be construed to prevent the legislative 
body of a local agency that has received a confidential final draft audit report from the 
Bureau of State Audits from holding closed sessions to discuss its response to that report. 

(b) After the public release of an audit report by the Bureau of State Audits, if a 
legislative body of a local agency meets to discuss the audit report, it shall do so in an 
open session unless exempted from that requirement by some other provision of law. 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 58 

2918705 

Section 54956.8. Closed sessions regarding real property negotiations 

Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, a legislative body of a local agency 
may hold a closed session with its negotiator prior to the purchase, sale, exchange or 
lease of real property by or for the local agency to grant authority to its negotiator 
regarding the price and terms of payment for the purchase, sale, exchange or lease.   

However, prior to the closed session, the legislative body of the local agency shall hold 
an open and public session in which it identifies its negotiators, the real property or real 
properties which the negotiations may concern and the person or persons with whom its 
negotiators may negotiate. 

For purposes of this section, negotiators may be members of the legislative body of the 
local agency. 

For purposes of this section, “lease” includes renewal or renegotiation of a lease. 

Nothing in this section shall preclude a local agency from holding a closed session for 
discussions regarding eminent domain proceedings pursuant to Section 54956.9. 

Section 54956.81. Closed sessions regarding purchase or sale of pension fund 
investments 

Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, a legislative body of a local agency 
that invests pension funds may hold a closed session to consider the purchase or sale of 
particular specific pension fund investments.  All investment transaction decisions made 
during the closed session shall be made by rollcall vote entered into the minutes of the 
closed session as provided in subdivision (a) of Section 54957.2. 

Section 54956.86. Closed session for health plan member 

Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, a legislative body of a local agency 
which provides services pursuant to Section 14087.3 of the Welfare and Institutions Code 
may hold a closed session to hear a charge or complaint from a member enrolled in its 
health plan if the member does not wish to have his or her name, medical status or other 
information that is protected by federal law publicly disclosed.  Prior to holding a closed 
session pursuant to this section, the legislative body shall inform the member, in writing, of 
his or her right to have the charge or complaint heard in an open session rather than a 
closed session. 

Section 54956.87. Disclosure of records and information; Meetings in closed session 

(a) Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, the records of a health plan 
that is licensed pursuant to the Knox-Keene Health Care Service Plan Act of 1975 
(Chapter 2.2 (commencing with Section 1340) of Division 2 of the Health and Safety 
Code) and that is governed by a county board of supervisors, whether paper records, 
records maintained in the management information system or records in any other form, 
that relate to provider rate or payment determinations, allocation or distribution 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 59 

2918705 

methodologies for provider payments, formulas or calculations for these payments and 
contract negotiations with providers of health care for alternative rates are exempt from 
disclosure for a period of three years after the contract is fully executed.  The transmission 
of the records, or the information contained therein in an alternative form to the board 
of supervisors shall not constitute a waiver of exemption from disclosure and the records 
and information once transmitted to the board of supervisors shall be subject to this same 
exemption. 

(b) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the governing board of a health plan 
that is licensed pursuant to the Knox-Keene Health Care Service Plan Act of 1975 
(Chapter 2.2 (commencing with Section 1340) of Division 2 of the Health and Safety 
Code) and that is governed by a county board of supervisors may order that a meeting 
held solely for the purpose of discussion or taking action on health plan trade secrets, as 
defined in subdivision (f), shall be held in closed session.  The requirements of making a 
public report of action taken in closed session and the vote or abstention of every 
member present, may be limited to a brief general description without the information 
constituting the trade secret. 

(c) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the governing board of a health plan 
may meet in closed session to consider and take action on matters pertaining to 
contracts and contract negotiations by the health plan with providers of health care 
services concerning all matters related to rates of payment.  The governing board may 
delete the portion or portions containing trade secrets from any documents that were 
finally approved in the closed session held pursuant to subdivision (b) that are provided 
to persons who have made the timely or standing request. 

(d) Nothing in this section shall be construed as preventing the governing board from 
meeting in closed session as otherwise provided by law. 

(e) The provisions of this section shall not prevent access to any records by the Joint 
Legislative Audit Committee in the exercise of its powers pursuant to Article 1 
(commencing with Section 10500) of Chapter 4 of Part 2 of Division 2 of Title 2.  The 
provisions of this section also shall not prevent access to any records by the Department 
of Managed Health Care in the exercise of its powers pursuant to Article 1 (commencing 
with Section 1340) of Chapter 2.2 of Division 2 of the Health and Safety Code. 

(f) For purposes of this section, “health plan trade secret” means a trade secret, as 
defined in subdivision (d) of Section 3426.1 of the Civil Code, that also meets both of the 
following criteria: 

(1) The secrecy of the information is necessary for the health plan to initiate a 
new service, program, marketing strategy, business plan or technology, or to add a 
benefit or product. 

(2) Premature disclosure of the trade secret would create a substantial 
probability of depriving the health plan of a substantial economic benefit or opportunity. 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 60 

2918705 

Section 54956.9. Closed sessions concerning pending litigation; Lawyer-client 
privilege 

(a) Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to prevent a legislative body of a local 
agency, based on advice of its legal counsel, from holding a closed session to confer 
with, or receive advice from, its legal counsel regarding pending litigation when 
discussion in open session concerning those matters would prejudice the position of the 
local agency in the litigation. 

(b) For purposes of this chapter, all expressions of the lawyer-client privilege other than 
those provided in this section are hereby abrogated.  This section is the exclusive 
expression of the lawyer-client privilege for purposes of conducting closed-session 
meetings pursuant to this chapter. 

(c) For purposes of this section, “litigation” includes any adjudicatory proceeding, 
including eminent domain, before a court or administrative body exercising its 
adjudicatory authority, hearing officer or arbitrator. 

(d) For purposes of this section, litigation shall be considered pending when any of the 
following circumstances exist: 

(1) Litigation, to which the local agency is a party, has been initiated formally. 

(2) A point has been reached where, in the opinion of the legislative body of 
the local agency on the advice of its legal counsel based on existing facts and 
circumstances, there is a significant exposure to litigation against the local agency. 

(3) Based on existing facts and circumstances, the legislative body of the local 
agency is meeting only to decide whether a closed session is authorized pursuant to 
paragraph (2). 

(4) Based on existing facts and circumstances, the legislative body of the local 
agency has decided to initiate or is deciding whether to initiate litigation. 

(e) For purposes of paragraphs (2) and (3) of subdivision (d), “existing facts and 
circumstances” shall consist only of one of the following: 

(1) Facts and circumstances that might result in litigation against the local 
agency but which the local agency believes are not yet known to a potential plaintiff or 
plaintiffs, which facts and circumstances need not be disclosed. 

(2) Facts and circumstances, including, but not limited to, an accident, 
disaster, incident or transactional occurrence that might result in litigation against the 
agency and that are known to a potential plaintiff or plaintiffs, which facts or 
circumstances shall be publicly stated on the agenda or announced. 

(3) The receipt of a claim pursuant to the Government Claims Act (Division 3.6 
(commencing with Section 810) of Title 1 of the Government Code) or some other written 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 61 

2918705 

communication from a potential plaintiff threatening litigation, which claim or 
communication shall be available for public inspection pursuant to Section 54957.5. 

(4) A statement made by a person in an open and public meeting threatening 
litigation on a specific matter within the responsibility of the legislative body. 

(5) A statement threatening litigation made by a person outside an open and 
public meeting on a specific matter within the responsibility of the legislative body, so 
long as the official or employee of the local agency receiving knowledge of the threat 
makes a contemporaneous or other record of the statement prior to the meeting, which 
record shall be available for public inspection pursuant to Section 54957.5.  The records 
so created need not identify the alleged victim of unlawful or tortious sexual conduct or 
anyone making the threat on their behalf, or identify a public employee who is the 
alleged perpetrator of any unlawful or tortious conduct upon which a threat of litigation 
is based, unless the identity of the person has been publicly disclosed. 

(f) Nothing in this section shall require disclosure of written communications that are 
privileged and not subject to disclosure pursuant to the California Public Records Act 
(Division 10 (commencing with Section 7920.000) of Title 1). 

(g) Prior to holding a closed session pursuant to this section, the legislative body of the 
local agency shall state on the agenda or publicly announce the paragraph of 
subdivision (d) that authorizes the closed session.  If the session is closed pursuant to 
paragraph (1) of subdivision (d), the body shall state the title of or otherwise specifically 
identify the litigation to be discussed, unless the body states that to do so would 
jeopardize the agency’s ability to effectuate service of process upon one or more 
unserved parties, or that to do so would jeopardize its ability to conclude existing 
settlement negotiations to its advantage. 

(h) A local agency shall be considered to be a “party” or to have a “significant 
exposure to litigation” if an officer or employee of the local agency is a party or has 
significant exposure to litigation concerning prior or prospective activities or alleged 
activities during the course and scope of that office or employment, including litigation 
in which it is an issue whether an activity is outside the course and scope of the office or 
employment. 

Section 54956.95. Closed sessions regarding liability 

(a) Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to prevent a joint powers agency 
formed pursuant to Article 1 (commencing with Section 6500) of Chapter 5 of Division 7 
of Title 1 for purposes of insurance pooling, or a local agency member of the joint powers 
agency from holding a closed session to discuss a claim for the payment of tort liability 
losses, public liability losses or workers’ compensation liability incurred by the joint powers 
agency or a local agency member of the joint powers agency. 

(b) Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to prevent the Local Agency Self-
Insurance Authority formed pursuant to Chapter 5.5 (commencing with Section 6599.01) 
of Division 7 of Title 1, or a local agency member of the authority, from holding a closed 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 62 

2918705 

session to discuss a claim for the payment of tort liability losses, public liability losses or 
workers’ compensation liability incurred by the authority or a local agency member of 
the authority. 

(c) Nothing in this section shall be construed to affect Section 54956.9 with respect to 
any other local agency. 

Section 54956.96. Disclosure of specified information in closed session of joint powers 
agency, Clean Power Alliance of Southern California; Authorization 
of designated alternate to attend closed session; Closed session of 
legislative body of local agency member 

(a) Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to prevent the legislative body of a joint 
powers agency formed pursuant to Article 1 (commencing with Section 6500) of Chapter 
5 of Division 7 of Title 1, from adopting a policy or a bylaw, or including in its joint powers 
agreement provisions that authorize either or both of the following: 

(1) All information received by the legislative body of the local agency 
member in a closed session related to the information presented to the joint powers 
agency in closed session shall be confidential.  However, a member of the legislative 
body of a local agency member may disclose information obtained in a closed session 
that has direct financial or liability implications for that local agency to the following 
individuals: 

(A) Legal counsel of that local agency member for purposes of 
obtaining advice on whether the matter has direct financial or liability implications for 
that local agency member. 

(B) Other members of the legislative body of the local agency present 
in a closed session of that local agency member. 

(2) Any designated alternate member of the legislative body of the joint 
powers agency who is also a member of the legislative body of a local agency member 
and who is attending a properly noticed meeting of the joint powers agency in lieu of a 
local agency member’s regularly appointed member to attend closed sessions of the 
joint powers agency. 

(b) (1) In addition to the authority described in subdivision (a), the Clean Power 
Alliance of Southern California or its successor entity, may adopt a policy or a bylaw or 
include in its joint powers agreement a provision that authorizes both of the following: 

(A) A designated alternate member of the legislative body of the Clean 
Power Alliance of Southern California or its successor entity, who is not a member of the 
legislative body of a local agency member and who is attending a properly noticed 
meeting of the Clean Power Alliance of Southern California or its successor entity, in lieu 
of a local agency member's regularly appointed member to attend closed sessions of 
the Clean Power Alliance of Southern California or its successor entity. 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 63 

2918705 

(B) All information that is received by a designated alternate member 
of the legislative body of the Clean Power Alliance of Southern California or its successor 
entity, who is not a member of the legislative body of a local agency member and that 
is presented to the Clean Power Alliance of Southern California or its successor entity, in 
closed session, shall be confidential.  However, the designated alternate member may 
disclose information obtained in a closed session that has direct financial or liability 
implications for the local agency member for which the designated alternate member 
attended the closed session, to the following individuals: 

(i) Legal counsel of that local agency member for purposes of 
obtaining advice on whether the matter has direct financial or liability implications for 
that local agency member. 

(ii) Members of the legislative body of the local agency present 
in a closed session of that local agency member. 

(2) If the Clean Power Alliance of Southern California or its successor entity, 
adopts a policy or bylaw or includes in its joint powers agreement a provision authorized 
pursuant to paragraph (1), the Clean Power Alliance of Southern California or its 
successor entity, shall establish policies to prevent conflicts of interest and to address 
breaches of confidentiality that apply to a designated alternate member who is not a 
member of the legislative body of a local agency member who attends a closed session 
of the Clean Power Alliance of Southern California or its successor entity. 

(c) If the legislative body of a joint powers agency adopts a policy or a bylaw or 
includes provisions in its joint powers agreement pursuant to subdivision (a) or (b), then 
the legislative body of the local agency member, upon the advice of its legal counsel, 
may conduct a closed session in order to receive, discuss and take action concerning 
information obtained in a closed session of the joint powers agency pursuant to 
paragraph (1) of subdivision (a) or paragraph (1) of subdivision (b). 

(d) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2025 and as of that date is 
repealed. 

Section 54956.97. Public bank; governing board or committee of governing board; 
closed session  

Notwithstanding any provision of law, the governing board or a committee of the 
governing board of a public bank, as defined in Section 57600 of the Government Code, 
may meet in closed session to consider and take action on matters pertaining to all of 
the following: 

(a) A loan or investment decision. 

(b) A decision of the internal audit committee, the compliance committee or the 
governance committee. 

(c) A meeting with a state or federal regulator.  



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 64 

2918705 

Section 54956.98. Public bank; policy or bylaw; information from a closed session 
considered confidential 

(a) For purposes of this section, the following definitions shall apply:  

(1) “Shareholder, member, or owner local agency” or “shareholder, member, 
or owner” means a local agency that is a shareholder of a public bank. 

(2) “Public bank” has the same meaning as defined in Section 57600. 

(b) The governing board of a public bank may adopt a policy or a bylaw or include 
in its governing documents provisions that authorize any of the following: 

(1) All information received by a shareholder, member or owner of the public 
bank in a closed session related to the information presented to the governing board of 
a public bank in closed session shall be confidential.  However, a member of the 
governing board of a shareholder, member or owner local agency may disclose 
information obtained in a closed session that has direct financial or liability implications 
for that local agency to the following individuals: 

(A) Legal counsel of that shareholder, member or owner local agency 
for purposes of obtaining advice on whether the matter has direct financial or liability 
implications for that shareholder local agency. 

(B) Other members of the governing board of the local agency present 
in a closed session of that shareholder, member or owner local agency. 

(2) A designated alternate member of the governing board of the public bank 
who is also a member of the governing board of a shareholder, member or owner of the 
local agency and who is attending a properly noticed meeting of the public bank 
governing board in lieu of a shareholder, member or owner of the local agency's 
regularly appointed member may attend a closed session of the public bank governing 
board. 

(c) If the governing board of a public bank adopts a policy or a bylaw or includes 
provisions in its governing documents pursuant to subdivision (b), then the governing 
board of the shareholder, member or owner of the local agency, upon the advice of its 
legal counsel, may conduct a closed session in order to receive, discuss and take action 
concerning information obtained in a closed session of the public bank governing board 
pursuant to paragraph (1) of subdivision (b). 

Section 54957. Closed session regarding public security, facilities, employees, 
examination of witness 

(a) This chapter shall not be construed to prevent the legislative body of a local 
agency from holding closed sessions with the Governor, Attorney General, district 
attorney, agency counsel, sheriff or chief of police, or their respective deputies or a 
security consultant or a security operations manager, on matters posing a threat to the 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 65 

2918705 

security of public buildings, a threat to the security of essential public services, including 
water, drinking water, wastewater treatment, natural gas service and electric service, or 
a threat to the public’s right of access to public services or public facilities. 

(b) (1) Subject to paragraph (2), this chapter shall not be construed to prevent the 
legislative body of a local agency from holding closed sessions during a regular or special 
meeting to consider the appointment, employment, evaluation of performance, 
discipline or dismissal of a public employee or to hear complaints or charges brought 
against the employee by another person or employee unless the employee requests a 
public session. 

(2) As a condition to holding a closed session on specific complaints or charges 
brought against an employee by another person or employee, the employee shall be 
given written notice of his or her right to have the complaints or charges heard in an open 
session rather than a closed session, which notice shall be delivered to the employee 
personally or by mail at least 24 hours before the time for holding the session.  If notice is 
not given, any disciplinary or other action taken by the legislative body against the 
employee based on the specific complaints or charges in the closed session shall be null 
and void. 

(3) The legislative body also may exclude from the public or closed meeting 
during the examination of a witness, any or all other witnesses in the matter being 
investigated by the legislative body. 

(4) For the purposes of this subdivision, the term “employee” shall include an 
officer or an independent contractor who functions as an officer or an employee but 
shall not include any elected official, member of a legislative body or other independent 
contractors.  This subdivision shall not limit local officials’ ability to hold closed session 
meetings pursuant to Sections 1461, 32106 and 32155 of the Health and Safety Code or 
Sections 37606 and 37624.3 of the Government Code.  Closed sessions held pursuant to 
this subdivision shall not include discussion or action on proposed compensation except 
for a reduction of compensation that results from the imposition of discipline. 

Section 54957.1. Public report of action taken in closed session; Form; Availability; 
Actions for injury to interests  

(a) The legislative body of any local agency shall publicly report any action taken in 
closed session and the vote or abstention on that action of every member present, as 
follows: 

(1) Approval of an agreement concluding real estate negotiations pursuant to 
Section 54956.8 shall be reported after the agreement is final, as follows: 

(A) If its own approval renders the agreement final, the body shall report 
that approval and the substance of the agreement in open session at the public meeting 
during which the closed session is held. 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 66 

2918705 

(B) If final approval rests with the other party to the negotiations, the 
local agency shall disclose the fact of that approval and the substance of the 
agreement upon inquiry by any person as soon as the other party or its agent has 
informed the local agency of its approval. 

(2) Approval given to its legal counsel to defend, or seek or refrain from seeking 
appellate review or relief, or to enter as an amicus curiae in any form of litigation as the 
result of a consultation under Section 54956.9 shall be reported in open session at the 
public meeting during which the closed session is held.  The report shall identify, if known, 
the adverse party or parties and the substance of the litigation.  In the case of approval 
given to initiate or intervene in an action, the announcement need not identify the 
action, the defendants or other particulars, but shall specify that the direction to initiate 
or intervene in an action has been given and that the action, the defendants and the 
other particulars shall, once formally commenced, be disclosed to any person upon 
inquiry, unless to do so would jeopardize the agency’s ability to effectuate service of 
process on one or more unserved parties, or that to do so would jeopardize its ability to 
conclude existing settlement negotiations to its advantage. 

(3) Approval given to its legal counsel of a settlement of pending litigation, as 
defined in Section 54956.9, at any stage prior to or during a judicial or quasi-judicial 
proceeding shall be reported after the settlement is final, as follows: 

(A) If the legislative body accepts a settlement offer signed by the 
opposing party, the body shall report its acceptance and identify the substance of the 
agreement in open session at the public meeting during which the closed session is held. 

(B) If final approval rests with some other party to the litigation or with 
the court, then as soon as the settlement becomes final and upon inquiry by any person, 
the local agency shall disclose the fact of that approval and identify the substance of 
the agreement. 

(4) Disposition reached as to claims discussed in closed session pursuant to 
Section 54956.95 shall be reported as soon as reached in a manner that identifies the 
name of the claimant, the name of the local agency claimed against, the substance of 
the claim and any monetary amount approved for payment and agreed upon by the 
claimant. 

(5) Action taken to appoint, employ, dismiss, accept the resignation of or 
otherwise affect the employment status of a public employee in closed session pursuant 
to Section 54957 shall be reported at the public meeting during which the closed session 
is held.  Any report required by this paragraph shall identify the title of the position.  The 
general requirement of this paragraph notwithstanding, the report of a dismissal or of the 
nonrenewal of an employment contract shall be deferred until the first public meeting 
following the exhaustion of administrative remedies, if any. 

(6) Approval of an agreement concluding labor negotiations with represented 
employees pursuant to Section 54957.6 shall be reported after the agreement is final and 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 67 

2918705 

has been accepted or ratified by the other party.  The report shall identify the item 
approved and the other party or parties to the negotiation. 

(7) Pension fund investment transaction decisions made pursuant to 
Section 54956.81 shall be disclosed at the first open meeting of the legislative body held 
after the earlier of the close of the investment transaction or the transfer of pension fund 
assets for the investment transaction. 

(b) Reports that are required to be made pursuant to this section may be made orally 
or in writing.  The legislative body shall provide to any person who has submitted a written 
request to the legislative body within 24 hours of the posting of the agenda, or to any 
person who has made a standing request for all documentation as part of a request for 
notice of meetings pursuant to Section 54954.1 or 54956, if the requester is present at the 
time the closed session ends, copies of any contracts, settlement agreements or other 
documents that were finally approved or adopted in the closed session.  If the action 
taken results in one or more substantive amendments to the related documents requiring 
retyping, the documents need not be released until the retyping is completed during 
normal business hours, provided that the presiding officer of the legislative body or his or 
her designee orally summarizes the substance of the amendments for the benefit of the 
document requester or any other person present and requesting the information. 

(c) The documentation referred to in subdivision (b) shall be available to any person 
on the next business day following the meeting in which the action referred to is taken 
or, in the case of substantial amendments, when any necessary retyping is complete. 

(d) Nothing in this section shall be construed to require that the legislative body 
approve actions not otherwise subject to legislative body approval. 

(e) No action for injury to a reputational, liberty or other personal interest may be 
commenced by or on behalf of any employee or former employee with respect to whom 
a disclosure is made by a legislative body in an effort to comply with this section. 

(f) This section is necessary to implement, and reasonably within the scope of, 
paragraph (1) of subdivision (b) of Section 3 of Article I of the California Constitution. 

Section 54957.2. Minute book for closed sessions 

(a) The legislative body of a local agency may, by ordinance or resolution, designate 
a clerk or other officer or employee of the local agency who shall then attend each 
closed session of the legislative body and keep and enter in a minute book a record of 
topics discussed and decisions made at the meeting.  The minute book made pursuant 
to this section is not a public record subject to inspection pursuant to the California Public 
Records Act (Division 10 (commencing with Section 7920.000) of Title 1), and shall be kept 
confidential.  The minute book shall be available only to members of the legislative body 
or, if a violation of this chapter is alleged to have occurred at a closed session, to a court 
of general jurisdiction wherein the local agency lies.  Such minute book may, but need 
not, consist of a recording of the closed session. 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 68 

2918705 

(b) An elected legislative body of a local agency may require that each legislative 
body all or a majority of whose members are appointed by or under the authority of the 
elected legislative body keep a minute book as prescribed under subdivision (a). 

Section 54957.5. Agendas and other writings as public records  

(a) Agendas of public meetings are disclosable public records under the California 
Public Records Act (Division 10 (commencing with Section 7920.000) of Title 1), and shall 
be made available upon request without delay and in compliance with Section 54954.2 
or Section 54956, as applicable.  However, this section shall not apply to a writing, or 
portion thereof, that is exempt from public disclosure. 

(b) (1) If a writing is a public record related to an agenda item for an open session 
of a regular meeting of the legislative body of a local agency and is distributed to all, or 
a majority of all, of the members of a legislative body of a local agency by a person in 
connection with a matter subject to a discussion or consideration at an open meeting of 
the body less than 72 hours before that meeting, the writing shall be made available for 
public inspection pursuant to paragraph (2) at the time the writing is distributed to all, or 
a majority of all, of the members of the body. 

(2) (A) Except as provided in subparagraph (B), a local agency shall 
comply with both of the following requirements: 

(i) A local agency shall make any writing described in 
paragraph (1) available for public inspection at a public office or location that the 
agency shall designate for this purpose. 

(ii) A local agency shall list the address of the office or location 
designated pursuant to clause (i) on the agendas for all meetings of the legislative body 
of that agency. 

(B) A local agency shall not be required to comply with the 
requirements of subparagraph (A) if all of the following requirements are met: 

(i) An initial staff report or similar document containing an 
executive summary and the staff recommendation, if any, relating to that agenda item 
is made available for public inspection at the office or location designated pursuant to 
clause (i) of subparagraph (A) at least 72 hours before the meeting. 

(ii) The local agency immediately posts any writing described in 
paragraph (1) on the local agency’s Internet Website in a position and manner that 
makes it clear that the writing relates to an agenda item for an upcoming meeting. 

(iii) The local agency lists the web address of the local agency’s 
internet website on the agendas for all meetings of the legislative body of that agency. 

(iv) (I) Subject to subclause (II), the local agency makes 
physical copies available for public inspection, beginning the next regular business hours 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 69 

2918705 

for the local agency, at the office or location designated pursuant to clause (i) of 
subparagraph (A). 

(II) This clause is satisfied only if the next regular business 
hours of the local agency commence at least 24 hours before that meeting. 

(c) Writings that are public records described in subdivision (b) and distributed during 
a public meeting shall be made available for public inspection at the meeting if 
prepared by the local agency or a member of its legislative body, or after the meeting if 
prepared by some other person.  These writings shall be made available in appropriate 
alternative formats upon request by a person with a disability, as required by Section 202 
of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sec. 12132) and the federal rules 
and regulations adopted in implementation thereof. 

(d) This chapter shall not be construed to prevent the legislative body of a local 
agency from charging a fee or deposit for a copy of a public record pursuant to 
Section 7922.530, except that a surcharge shall not be imposed on persons with 
disabilities in violation of Section 202 of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 
U.S.C. Sec. 12132) and the federal rules and regulations adopted in implementation 
thereof. 

(e) This section shall not be construed to limit or delay the public’s right to inspect or 
obtain a copy of any record required to be disclosed under the requirements of the 
California Public Records Act (Division 10 (commencing with Section 7920.000) of Title 1), 
including, but not limited to, the ability of the public to inspect public records pursuant to 
Section 7922.525 and obtain copies of public records pursuant to either subdivision (b) of 
Section 7922.53 or Section 7922.535.  This chapter shall not be construed to require a 
legislative body of a local agency to place any paid advertisement or any other paid 
notice in any publication. 

Section 54957.6. Closed sessions regarding employee matters 

(a) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a legislative body of a local agency 
may hold closed sessions with the local agency’s designated representatives regarding 
the salaries, salary schedules or compensation paid in the form of fringe benefits of its 
represented and unrepresented employees, and, for represented employees, any other 
matter within the statutorily provided scope of representation. 

However, prior to the closed session, the legislative body of the local agency shall hold 
an open and public session in which it identifies its designated representatives. 

Closed sessions of a legislative body of a local agency, as permitted in this section, shall 
be for the purpose of reviewing its position and instructing the local agency’s designated 
representatives. 

Closed sessions, as permitted in this section, may take place prior to and during 
consultations and discussions with representatives of employee organizations and 
unrepresented employees. 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 70 

2918705 

Closed sessions with the local agency’s designated representative regarding the salaries, 
salary schedules or compensation paid in the form of fringe benefits may include 
discussion of an agency’s available funds and funding priorities, but only insofar as these 
discussions relate to providing instructions to the local agency’s designated 
representative. 

Closed sessions held pursuant to this section shall not include final action on the proposed 
compensation of one or more unrepresented employees. 

For the purposes enumerated in this section, a legislative body of a local agency may 
also meet with a state conciliator who has intervened in the proceedings. 

(b) For the purposes of this section, the term “employee” shall include an officer or an 
independent contractor who functions as an officer or an employee, but shall not 
include any elected official, member of a legislative body or other independent 
contractors. 

Section 54957.7. Disclosure of items to be discussed at closed session 

(a) Prior to holding any closed session, the legislative body of the local agency shall 
disclose in an open meeting, the item or items to be discussed in the closed session.  The 
disclosure may take the form of a reference to the item or items as they are listed by 
number or letter on the agenda.  In the closed session, the legislative body may consider 
only those matters covered in its statement.  Nothing in this section shall require or 
authorize a disclosure of information prohibited by state or federal law. 

(b) After any closed session, the legislative body shall reconvene into open session 
prior to adjournment and shall make any disclosures required by Section 54957.1 of 
action taken in the closed session. 

(c) The announcements required to be made in open session pursuant to this section 
may be made at the location announced in the agenda for the closed session, as long 
as the public is allowed to be present at that location for the purpose of hearing the 
announcements. 

Section 54957.8. Closed sessions of multijurisdictional drug law enforcement 
agencies 

(a) For purposes of this section, “multijurisdictional law enforcement agency” means 
a joint powers entity formed pursuant to Article 1 (commencing with Section 6500) of 
Chapter 5 of Division 7 of Title 1 that provides law enforcement services for the parties to 
the joint powers agreement for the purpose of investigating criminal activity involving 
drugs; gangs; sex crimes; firearms trafficking or felony possession of a firearm; high 
technology, computer or identity theft; human trafficking; or vehicle theft. 

(b) Nothing contained in this chapter shall be construed to prevent the legislative 
body of a multijurisdictional law enforcement agency, or an advisory body of a 
multijurisdictional law enforcement agency, from holding closed sessions to discuss the 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 71 

2918705 

case records of any ongoing criminal investigation of the multijurisdictional law 
enforcement agency or of any party to the joint powers agreement, to hear testimony 
from persons involved in the investigation and to discuss courses of action in particular 
cases. 

Section 54957.9. Authorization to clear room where meeting willfully interrupted; 
Readmission 

In the event that any meeting is willfully interrupted by a group or groups of persons so as 
to render the orderly conduct of such meeting unfeasible and order cannot be restored 
by the removal of individuals who are willfully interrupting the meeting, the members of 
the legislative body conducting the meeting may order the meeting room cleared and 
continue in session.  Only matters appearing on the agenda may be considered in such 
a session.  Representatives of the press or other news media, except those participating 
in the disturbance, shall be allowed to attend any session held pursuant to this section.  
Nothing in this section shall prohibit the legislative body from establishing a procedure for 
readmitting an individual or individuals not responsible for willfully disturbing the orderly 
conduct of the meeting. 

Section 54957.95 Removal of Disruptive Individuals 

(a) (1) In addition to authority exercised pursuant to Sections 54954.3 and 54957.9, 
the presiding member of the legislative body conducting a meeting or their designee 
may remove, or cause the removal of, an individual for disrupting the meeting. 

(2) Prior to removing an individual, the presiding member or their designee shall 
warn the individual that their behavior is disrupting the meeting and that their failure to 
cease their behavior may result in their removal.  The presiding member or their designee 
may then remove the individual if they do not promptly cease their disruptive behavior.  
This paragraph does not apply to any behavior described in subparagraph (B) of 
paragraph (1) of subdivision (b). 

(b) As used in this section: 

(1) “Disrupting” means engaging in behavior during a meeting of a legislative 
body that actually disrupts, disturbs, impedes, or renders infeasible the orderly conduct 
of the meeting and includes, but is not limited to, one of the following: 

(A) A failure to comply with reasonable and lawful regulations adopted 
by a legislative body pursuant to Section 54954.3 or any other law. 

(B) Engaging in behavior that constitutes use of force or a true threat of 
force. 

(2)“True threat of force” means a threat that has sufficient indicia of intent and 
seriousness, that a reasonable observer would perceive it to be an actual threat to use 
force by the person making the threat. 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 72 

2918705 

Section 54957.10. Closed sessions regarding application for early withdrawal of 
deferred compensation plan funds 

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a legislative body of a local agency may 
hold closed sessions to discuss a local agency employee’s application for early 
withdrawal of funds in a deferred compensation plan when the application is based on 
financial hardship arising from an unforeseeable emergency due to illness, accident, 
casualty or other extraordinary event, as specified in the deferred compensation plan. 

Section 54958. Application of chapter 

The provisions of this chapter shall apply to the legislative body of every local agency 
notwithstanding the conflicting provisions of any other state law. 

Section 54959. Criminal penalty for violation of chapter 

Each member of a legislative body who attends a meeting of that legislative body where 
action is taken in violation of any provision of this chapter, and where the member intends 
to deprive the public of information to which the member knows, or has reason to know, 
the public is entitled under this chapter, is guilty of a misdemeanor. 

Section 54960. Proceeding to prevent violation of chapter; Recording closed 
sessions; Procedure for discovery of tapes 

(a) The district attorney or any interested person may commence an action by 
mandamus, injunction, or declaratory relief for the purpose of stopping or preventing 
violations or threatened violations of this chapter by members of the legislative body of 
a local agency or to determine the applicability of this chapter to ongoing actions or 
threatened future actions of the legislative body, or to determine the applicability of this 
chapter to past actions of the legislative body, subject to Section 54960.2, or to 
determine whether any rule or action by the legislative body to penalize or otherwise 
discourage the expression of one or more of its members is valid or invalid under the laws 
of this state or of the United States, or to compel the legislative body to audio record its 
closed sessions as hereinafter provided. 

(b) The court in its discretion may, upon a judgment of a violation of Section 54956.7, 
54956.8, 54956.9, 54956.95, 54957 or 54957.6, order the legislative body to audio record its 
closed sessions and preserve the audio recordings for the period and under the terms of 
security and confidentiality the court deems appropriate. 

(c) (1) Each recording so kept shall be immediately labeled with the date of the 
closed session recorded and the title of the clerk or other officer who shall be custodian 
of the recording. 

(2) The audio recordings shall be subject to the following discovery 
procedures: 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 73 

2918705 

(A) In any case in which discovery or disclosure of the audio recording 
is sought by either the district attorney or the plaintiff in a civil action pursuant to 
Section 54959, 54960 or 54960.1 alleging that a violation of this chapter has occurred in a 
closed session that has been recorded pursuant to this section, the party seeking 
discovery or disclosure shall file a written notice of motion with the appropriate court with 
notice to the governmental agency that has custody and control of the audio recording.  
The notice shall be given pursuant to subdivision (b) of Section 1005 of the Code of Civil 
Procedure. 

(B) The notice shall include, in addition to the items required by 
Section 1010 of the Code of Civil Procedure, all of the following: 

(i) Identification of the proceeding in which discovery or 
disclosure is sought, the party seeking discovery or disclosure, the date and time of the 
meeting recorded and the governmental agency that has custody and control of the 
recording. 

(ii) An affidavit that contains specific facts indicating that a 
violation of the act occurred in the closed session. 

(3) If the court, following a review of the motion, finds that there is good cause 
to believe that a violation has occurred, the court may review, in camera, the recording 
of that portion of the closed session alleged to have violated the act. 

(4) If, following the in camera review, the court concludes that disclosure of a 
portion of the recording would be likely to materially assist in the resolution of the litigation 
alleging violation of this chapter, the court shall, in its discretion, make a certified 
transcript of the portion of the recording a public exhibit in the proceeding. 

(5) This section shall not permit discovery of communications that are 
protected by the attorney-client privilege. 

Section 54960.1. Proceeding to determine validity of action; Demand for correction 

(a) The district attorney or any interested person may commence an action by 
mandamus or injunction for the purpose of obtaining a judicial determination that an 
action taken by a legislative body of a local agency in violation of Section 54953, 54954.2, 
54954.5, 54954.6, 54956 or 54956.5 is null and void under this section.  Nothing in this 
chapter shall be construed to prevent a legislative body from curing or correcting an 
action challenged pursuant to this section. 

(b) Prior to any action being commenced pursuant to subdivision (a), the district 
attorney or interested person shall make a demand of the legislative body to cure or 
correct the action alleged to have been taken in violation of Section 54953, 54954.2, 
54954.5, 54954.6, 54956 or 54956.5.  The demand shall be in writing and clearly describe 
the challenged action of the legislative body and nature of the alleged violation. 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 74 

2918705 

(c) (1) The written demand shall be made within 90 days from the date the action 
was taken unless the action was taken in an open session but in violation of 
Section 54954.2, in which case the written demand shall be made within 30 days from the 
date the action was taken. 

(2) Within 30 days of receipt of the demand, the legislative body shall cure or 
correct the challenged action and inform the demanding party in writing of its actions 
to cure or correct or inform the demanding party in writing of its decision not to cure or 
correct the challenged action. 

(3) If the legislative body takes no action within the 30-day period, the inaction 
shall be deemed a decision not to cure or correct the challenged action, and the 15-
day period to commence the action described in subdivision (a) shall commence to run 
the day after the 30-day period to cure or correct expires. 

(4) Within 15 days of receipt of the written notice of the legislative body’s 
decision to cure or correct, or not to cure or correct, or within 15 days of the expiration 
of the 30-day period to cure or correct, whichever is earlier, the demanding party shall 
be required to commence the action pursuant to subdivision (a) or thereafter be barred 
from commencing the action. 

(d) An action taken that is alleged to have been taken in violation of Section 54953, 
54954.2, 54954.5, 54954.6, 54956 or 54956.5 shall not be determined to be null and void if 
any of the following conditions exist: 

(1) The action taken was in substantial compliance with Sections 54953, 
54954.2, 54954.5, 54954.6, 54956 and 54956.5. 

(2) The action taken was in connection with the sale or issuance of notes, 
bonds, or other evidences of indebtedness or any contract, instrument or agreement 
thereto. 

(3) The action taken gave rise to a contractual obligation, including a contract 
let by competitive bid other than compensation for services in the form of salary or fees 
for professional services, upon which a party has, in good faith and without notice of a 
challenge to the validity of the action, detrimentally relied. 

(4) The action taken was in connection with the collection of any tax. 

(5) Any person, city, city and county, county, district or any agency or 
subdivision of the state alleging noncompliance with subdivision (a) of Section 54954.2, 
Section 54956 or Section 54956.5, because of any defect, error, irregularity or omission in 
the notice given pursuant to those provisions, had actual notice of the item of business 
at least 72 hours prior to the meeting at which the action was taken, if the meeting was 
noticed pursuant to Section 54954.2, or 24 hours prior to the meeting at which the action 
was taken if the meeting was noticed pursuant to Section 54956, or prior to the meeting 
at which the action was taken if the meeting is held pursuant to Section 54956.5. 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 75 

2918705 

(e) During any action seeking a judicial determination pursuant to subdivision (a) if 
the court determines, pursuant to a showing by the legislative body that an action 
alleged to have been taken in violation of Section 54953, 54954.2, 54954.5, 54954.6, 54956 
or 54956.5 has been cured or corrected by a subsequent action of the legislative body, 
the action filed pursuant to subdivision (a) shall be dismissed with prejudice. 

(f) The fact that a legislative body takes a subsequent action to cure or correct an 
action taken pursuant to this section shall not be construed or admissible as evidence of 
a violation of this chapter. 

Section 54960.2 Proceeding to determine the applicability of chapter to past 
actions of legislative body; Conditions; Cease and desist letter 

(a) The district attorney or any interested person may file an action to determine the 
applicability of this chapter to past actions of the legislative body pursuant to subdivision 
(a) of Section 54960 only if all of the following conditions are met: 

(1) The district attorney or interested person alleging a violation of this chapter 
first submits a cease and desist letter by postal mail or facsimile transmission to the clerk 
or secretary of the legislative body being accused of the violation, as designated in the 
statement pertaining to that public agency on file pursuant to Section 53051, or if the 
agency does not have a statement on file designating a clerk or a secretary, to the chief 
executive officer of that agency, clearly describing the past action of the legislative body 
and nature of the alleged violation. 

(2) The cease and desist letter required under paragraph (1) is submitted to 
the legislative body within nine months of the alleged violation. 

(3) The time during which the legislative body may respond to the cease and 
desist letter pursuant to subdivision (b) has expired and the legislative body has not 
provided an unconditional commitment pursuant to subdivision (c). 

(4) Within 60 days of receipt of the legislative body's response to the cease and 
desist letter, other than an unconditional commitment pursuant to subdivision (c), or 
within 60 days of the expiration of the time during which the legislative body may respond 
to the cease and desist letter pursuant to subdivision (b), whichever is earlier, the party 
submitting the cease and desist letter shall commence the action pursuant to subdivision 
(a) of Section 54960 or thereafter be barred from commencing the action. 

(b) The legislative body may respond to a cease and desist letter submitted pursuant 
to subdivision (a) within 30 days of receiving the letter.  This subdivision shall not be 
construed to prevent the legislative body from providing an unconditional commitment 
pursuant to subdivision (c) at any time after the 30-day period has expired, except that 
in that event the court shall award court costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees to the 
plaintiff in an action brought pursuant to this section in accordance with Section 54960.5. 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 76 

2918705 

(c) (1) If the legislative body elects to respond to the cease and desist letter with 
an unconditional commitment to cease, desist from and not repeat the past action that 
is alleged to violate this chapter, that response shall be in substantially the following form: 

To ______________________: 

The [name of legislative body] has received your cease and desist letter dated 
[date] alleging that the following described past action of the legislative body 
violates the Ralph M. Brown Act: 

[Describe alleged past action, as set forth in the cease and desist letter submitted 
pursuant to subdivision (a)] 

In order to avoid unnecessary litigation and without admitting any violation of the 
Ralph M. Brown Act, the [name of legislative body] hereby unconditionally 
commits that it will cease, desist from and not repeat the challenged past action 
as described above. 

The [name of legislative body] may rescind this commitment only by a majority 
vote of its membership taken in open session at a regular meeting and noticed on 
its posted agenda as “Rescission of Brown Act Commitment.”  You will be provided 
with written notice, sent by any means or media you provide in response to this 
message, to whatever address or addresses you specify, of any intention to 
consider rescinding this commitment at least 30 days before any such regular 
meeting.  In the event that this commitment is rescinded, you will have the right to 
commence legal action pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section 54960 of the 
Government Code.  That notice will be delivered to you by the same means as 
this commitment, or may be mailed to an address that you have designated in 
writing. 

Very truly yours, 

________________________________________________ 

[Chairperson or acting chairperson of the legislative body] 

(2) An unconditional commitment pursuant to this subdivision shall be 
approved by the legislative body in open session at a regular or special meeting as a 
separate item of business, and not on its consent agenda. 

(3) An action shall not be commenced to determine the applicability of this 
chapter to any past action of the legislative body for which the legislative body has 
provided an unconditional commitment pursuant to this subdivision.  During any action 
seeking a judicial determination regarding the applicability of this chapter to any past 
action of the legislative body pursuant to subdivision (a), if the court determines that the 
legislative body has provided an unconditional commitment pursuant to this subdivision, 
the action shall be dismissed with prejudice.  Nothing in this subdivision shall be construed 
to modify or limit the existing ability of the district attorney or any interested person to 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 77 

2918705 

commence an action to determine the applicability of this chapter to ongoing actions 
or threatened future actions of the legislative body. 

(4) Except as provided in subdivision (d), the fact that a legislative body 
provides an unconditional commitment shall not be construed or admissible as evidence 
of a violation of this chapter. 

(d) If the legislative body provides an unconditional commitment as set forth in 
subdivision (c), the legislative body shall not thereafter take or engage in the challenged 
action described in the cease and desist letter, except as provided in subdivision (e).  
Violation of this subdivision shall constitute an independent violation of this chapter, 
without regard to whether the challenged action would otherwise violate this chapter.  
An action alleging past violation or threatened future violation of this subdivision may be 
brought pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section 54960, without regard to the procedural 
requirements of this section. 

(e) The legislative body may resolve to rescind an unconditional commitment made 
pursuant to subdivision (c) by a majority vote of its membership taken in open session at 
a regular meeting as a separate item of business not on its consent agenda, and noticed 
on its posted agenda as “Rescission of Brown Act Commitment,” provided that not less 
than 30 days prior to such regular meeting, the legislative body provides written notice 
of its intent to consider the rescission to each person to whom the unconditional 
commitment was made, and to the district attorney.  Upon rescission, the district attorney 
or any interested person may commence an action pursuant to subdivision (a) of 
Section 54960.  An action under this subdivision may be brought pursuant to subdivision 
(a) of Section 54960, without regard to the procedural requirements of this section. 

Section 54960.5. Costs and attorneys’ fees 

A court may award court costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees to the plaintiff in an action 
brought pursuant to Section 54960, 54960.1 or 54960.2 where it is found that a legislative 
body of the local agency has violated this chapter.  Additionally, when an action 
brought pursuant to Section 54960.2 is dismissed with prejudice because a legislative 
body has provided an unconditional commitment pursuant to paragraph (1) of 
subdivision (c) of that section at any time after the 30-day period for making such a 
commitment has expired, the court shall award court costs and reasonable attorneys’ 
fees to the plaintiff if the filing of that action caused the legislative body to issue the 
unconditional commitment.  The costs and fees shall be paid by the local agency and 
shall not become a personal liability of any public officer or employee of the local 
agency. 

A court may award court costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees to a defendant in any 
action brought pursuant to Section 54960 or 54960.1 where the defendant has prevailed 
in a final determination of such action and the court finds that the action was clearly 
frivolous and totally lacking in merit. 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 78 

2918705 

Section 54961. Meeting place with discriminatory admission policies; Identification 
of victim of sexual or child abuse 

(a) No legislative body of a local agency shall conduct any meeting in any facility 
that prohibits the admittance of any person or persons, on the basis of ancestry or any 
characteristic listed or defined in Section 11135, or which is inaccessible to disabled 
persons, or where members of the public may not be present without making a payment 
or purchase.  This section shall apply to every local agency as defined in Section 54951. 

(b) No notice, agenda, announcement or report required under this chapter need 
identify any victim or alleged victim of tortious sexual conduct or child abuse unless the 
identity of the person has been publicly disclosed. 

Section 54962. Prohibition against closed sessions except as expressly authorized 

Except as expressly authorized by this chapter, or by Sections 1461, 1462, 32106 and 32155 
of the Health and Safety Code, or by Sections 37606, 37606.1 and 37624.3 of the 
Government Code as they apply to hospitals, or by any provision of the Education Code 
pertaining to school districts and community college districts, no closed session may be 
held by any legislative body of any local agency. 

Section 54963. Disclosure of confidential information acquired in closed session 
prohibited; Disciplinary action for violation 

(a) A person may not disclose confidential information that has been acquired by 
being present in a closed session authorized by Section 54956.7, 54956.8, 54956.86, 
54956.87, 54956.9, 54957, 54957.6, 54957.8 or 54957.10 to a person not entitled to receive 
it, unless the legislative body authorizes disclosure of that confidential information. 

(b) For purposes of this section, “confidential information” means a communication 
made in a closed session that is specifically related to the basis for the legislative body of 
a local agency to meet lawfully in closed session under this chapter. 

(c) Violation of this section may be addressed by the use of such remedies as are 
currently available by law, including, but not limited to: 

(1) Injunctive relief to prevent the disclosure of confidential information 
prohibited by this section. 

(2) Disciplinary action against an employee who has willfully disclosed 
confidential information in violation of this section. 

(3) Referral of a member of a legislative body who has willfully disclosed 
confidential information in violation of this section to the grand jury. 

(d) Disciplinary action pursuant to paragraph (2) of subdivision (c) shall require that 
the employee in question has either received training as to the requirements of this 
section or otherwise has been given notice of the requirements of this section. 



Text of the Ralph M. Brown Act 

Ralph M. Brown Act   Page 79 

2918705 

(e) A local agency may not take any action authorized by subdivision (c) against a 
person, nor shall it be deemed a violation of this section, for doing any of the following: 

(1) Making a confidential inquiry or complaint to a district attorney or grand 
jury concerning a perceived violation of law, including disclosing facts to a district 
attorney or grand jury that are necessary to establish the illegality of an action taken by 
a legislative body of a local agency or the potential illegality of an action that has been 
the subject of deliberation at a closed session if that action were to be taken by a 
legislative body of a local agency. 

(2) Expressing an opinion concerning the propriety or legality of actions taken 
by a legislative body of a local agency in closed session, including disclosure of the 
nature and extent of the illegal or potentially illegal action. 

(3) Disclosing information acquired by being present in a closed session under 
this chapter that is not confidential information. 

(f) Nothing in this section shall be construed to prohibit disclosures under the 
whistleblower statutes contained in Section 1102.5 of the Labor Code or Article 4.5 
(commencing with Section 53296) of Chapter 2 of this code. 



Tkejctfu-!Ycvuqp!'!Igtujqp!fgnkxgtu!rtcevkecn!cfxkeg!cpf!uqnwvkqpu!

vcknqtgf!vq!vjg!wpkswg!pggfu!qh!Ecnkhqtpkc!rwdnke!gpvkvkgu/

Cfokpkuvtcvkxg!Ncy!!

Cktrqtvu-!Tckn!'!Vtcpukv

Dtqyp!Cev

Ecppcdku

EGSC!

Eqcuvcn!Cev!!

Eqfg!Gphqtegogpv

$;9D5/?> ;2 &9?1=1>?!

Eqpuvtwevkqp!'!!

Rwdnke!Yqtmu

Cdqwv

Urgekcnvkgu!Kpenwfg<

Gngevkqpu!

Gokpgpv!Fqockp

Gpxktqpogpv!'!!

Pcvwtcn!Tguqwtegu

Jqwukpi

Ncdqt!'!Gornq{ogpv

Ncpf!Wug!'!Rncppkpi

Nkvkicvkqp

Rqnkeg!Rtcevkegu

Rwdnke!Hkpcpeg

Rwdnke!Tgeqtfu!Cev!!

Tgcn!Guvcvg!'!Ngcukpi

Tgpv!Eqpvtqn!!

Uwdfkxkukqpu!'!\qpkpi!!

Vczgu-!Hggu!'!!

Cuuguuogpvu!!

Vgngeqoowpkecvkqpu!!

Uqnkf!Ycuvg!

Uvqtoycvgt!Eqornkcpeg!!

Ycvgt!Tkijvu!'!Ycvgt!Ncy

NQU!CPIGNGU

461!U/!Itcpf!Cxgpwg

48vj!Hnqqt!

Nqu!Cpigngu-!EC!;1182

+#( %*#($&+$)

Qpg!Ucpuqog!Uvtggv

Uwkvg!3961

Ucp!Htcpekueq-!EC!;5215

QTCPIG!EQWPV[

2!Ekxke!Egpvgt!Ekteng!

R/Q/!Dqz!216;

Dtgc-!EC!;3933

VGOGEWNC

52111!Ockp!Uvtggv!!

Uwkvg!427

Vgogewnc-!EC!;36;1

EGPVTCN!EQCUV!!

958!Oqpvgtg{!Uvtggv

Uwkvg!317

Ucp!Nwku!Qdkurq-!EC!;4512

UCETCOGPVQ!

3411!P!Uvtggv

Uwkvg!4

Ucetcogpvq-!EC!!;6927

Wmrgi#4=87###()$%")!#'&

,;=6593 >1-871>>7B -/=;>> ;2C/1> 59 ';> #93171>" +-9 %=-9/5>/;" !

Qtcpig!Eqwpv{-!Vgogewnc-!vjg!Egpvtcn!Eqcuv-!cpf!Ucetcogpvq!qwt!!

fgfkecvgf!vgco!qh!gzrgtvu!rtqxkfgu!vjg!hwnn.ueqrg!qh!rwdnke!ncy!ugtxkegu/

,1 -=1 ?41 7-AB1=> ;2 /4;5/1 2;= /7519?> A4; >116 =175-.71" 12C/519?" !

cpf!ghhgevkxg!ngicn!eqwpugn/!Tkejctfu-!Ycvuqp!'!Igtujqp!ugtxgu!cu!!

ekv{!cvvqtpg{-!urgekcn!eqwpugn!cpf!igpgtcn!eqwpugn!vq!enkgpvu!!

qh!cnn!uk|gu!cpf!fgoqitcrjkeu/

)@= -??;=91B> -=1 <=;C/519? 59 -=1-> ;2 7-A ;97B 2;@90 59 - C=8 A5?4 

uwduvcpvkcn!gzrgtkgpeg!kp!rwdnke!cigpe{!tgrtgugpvcvkqp/!Nqecn!!

iqxgtpogpvu!eqwpv!qp!wu!hqt!jgnr!ykvj!vjgkt!oquv!eqorngz!rtqdngou/



 

 

 

 

 

 

6. a. General Manager’s Report 



ARCADE CREEK RECREATION & PARK DISTRICT 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 

STAFF REPORT 
DATE: 9-16-2024
TO:  BOARD OF DIRECTORS
FROM: BRANDY WADE, GENERAL MANAGER
SUBJECT: GENERAL MANAGER STAFF REPORT

OBJECTIVE 
To provide an update as to the current operational status. Information included in this report is non-
agendized items. 

BACKGROUND 
This report is developed in conjunction with ACRPD Staff. 

SUMMARY 
• Parks:

o Hamilton Street Park (HSP)
 Maintenance Shop/Yard

• Siding - currently collecting siding and paint quotes. So far eight 
contractors have come out and are in the process of compiling their 
quotes.

 Restroom
• Collecting quotes on dry rot repairs, fixing or replacing toilet/leaks, and 

fixing the roof. So far five contractors are tentatively providing quotes.
 Basketball Court

• Currently compiling court resurfacing quotes (also for ACP); three have 
been received.

 District Office
• ACRPD Mailbox installed in place of glass mail slot on front door as well 

as preparation of cancelling our PO Box number.
• Decking off the back is blocked off due to safety. A piece of plywood has 

been placed over a space that a staff member’s foot went through.
• Have met with multiple contractors to bid on office, community center 

building, shop, and restroom roof.
• ACRPD Board members have personal mailboxes at the District staff for 

all personal items received or to be communicated.
o Arcade Creek Park (ACP)

 Restroom – moving forward with installation of new water meter, additional 
backflow and cage install, and concrete/parking lot work

 Meeting was held on 8/22/24 with Staples contractor and Park staff in regards to 
the final stages of this project.

 Meeting was held on 9/5/24 with Sacramento County Sewer, Staples, Virg, and 
Parks staff to coordinate restarting the sewer project on 9/16/24 and provide 
updates as to Staples’ remaining work.

o Oakdale
 Pending orientation and overall assessment.



o General Maintenance
 Irrigation – in communication with four irrigation auditors in regards to obtaining

quotes and scope of work.
 Equipment - mower equipment needs one entire gear box replaced, one needs

entire new deck and metal fell off while mowing, third is missing wheels. One
quote has been received for a replacement mower.

• Administrative:
o Bonnie Pattee joined our ACRPD staff as our new Account Clerk where her first day

was 8/19/24.
o Met with Scott Miller, Board Chair, on 8/22/24 to discuss various topics
o Staff met with Roseville Umpqua staff on 8/26/24 to update ACRPD bank account

information and point of contact.
o Met with Matt Duarte, Executive Director of CAPRI on 8/30/24, to review District’s

insurance as well as ACRPD’s 2023 CAPRI District Visit Report
o Staff are currently working with the county to set up multiple trainings for items such as

CALPERS, Compass, and other systems.
o Staff and Board Members have been notified and assigned required trainings, with a

deadline of overdue trainings to be completed by the end of the month.
o Sacramento County staff have been trouble shooting with ACRPD staff in regards to

Compass bill pay system as we are still waiting for log-ins and software access.
o District staff were advised by legal that staff are not to engage with any transient camps

and to refer all concerning issues to Sacramento Sheriff Homeless Outreach Team –
HOT. Staff are requesting any public calls to send an email and photos to
northhot@sacsheriff.com and cc’ ACRPD’s email info@acrpd.com. Emails
correspondence located in 10.a.

o Fastbreak replaced two older office phones that staff were having issues with as well as
moved our accounting software data from Quicken 2005 to Quicken online. Staff are still
learning the system and looking forward to working with an updated system.

o Meeting held with Derek Cole, ACRPD’s attorney, and Scott Miller Chairman, to discuss
ACRPD policies, procedures, and trainings on 9/6/24

o Met with Blair Aas, VP of SCI – Public Finance Consulting Services, to discuss SCI’s
partnership with seven other special districts and their contracted services to help
compile ACRPD’s Impact Fee Study and County required reports. Executed SCI’s
Engagement Letter. ACRPD will need to provide a report stating our intentions on
utilizing Impact Fees and SCI will help draft this document.

o District Logo – ACRPD’s original logo has been reimaged due to not being able to
locate a copy or high resolution electronic copy. This new logo the district will utilize was
created from the original seal and is in both a circular shape as well as a letterhead
shape.

• Recreation:
o Spoke with GameTime company in regards to the replacement swing bar and replacing

HSP’s missing merry-go-round.
o Met with American River College Recreation Intern, Gina, and she will be helping with

parks maintenance.
• Homeless Outreach Team Correspondence:

o See attached emails for communication received.

ATTACHMENTS 
• SCI Engagement Letter for Five Year Findings Report
• ACRPD’s Reimaged District Logos













 

 

 

 

 

 

10. a. 
Information/Correspondence/Announcements 





Sacramento Sheriff HOT (Homeless Outreach Team)  

Email Correspondence 8/15-9/11/24 

 

 




	09-19-2024 Board Agenda Meeting
	7 a Board Minutes 07-18-2024
	7 a Board Minutes Budget Workshop 8.3.2024
	Board Minutes 08-15-2024
	Xerox Scan_08292024133604
	Xerox Scan_08292024133548
	General Managers Report
	7 j GM Report - 09.19.24
	Xerox Scan_08292024114949
	Sacramento Sheriff HOT Email Correspondence 9.11.24
	District Financial Report Title Sheet
	ACRPD_Spending_11Sep24
	CSDA Board Member Handbook
	Special-District-Board-Member-Handbook-2020-Update
	PLACE HOLDER FOR PAYROLL REPORT
	10.a Information Correspondence Anncouncements
	Xerox Scan_09112024162204
	RWG - 2024 Brown Act Handbook.pdf
	2024 Brown Act Handbook
	Table of Contents
	Introduction
	Part One:  Summary of the Major Provisions and Requirements of the Ralph M. Brown Act
	I.  Application of Brown Act to "Legislative Bodies"
	II.  Definition of "Meeting"
	III. Exceptions to Meeting Requirement
	A.  The Individual Contact Exception
	B.  The Seminar or Conference Exception
	C.  The Community Meeting Exception
	D.  The Other Legislative Body Exception
	E.  The Social or Ceremonial Occasion Exception
	F.  The Standing Committee Exception

	IV.  Permitted Locations of Meetings and Teleconferencing
	A.  Permitted Locations of Meetings
	B.  Teleconferencing

	V.  ADA Compliance
	VI.  Simultaneous or Successive Meetings
	VII.  Serial Meetings
	A.  Contacts with Staff
	B.  Contacts with Constituents, Developers and Lobbyists
	C.  Contacts with Fellow Members of the Same Legislative Body
	D.  Contacts on Social Media

	VIII.  Notice, Agenda and Reporting Requirements
	A.  Time of Notice and Content of Agenda
	B.  Action and Discussion on Non-agenda Items
	C.  Reporting of Actions

	IX.  Public Participation
	A.  Regular Meetings
	B.  Public Comments at Special Meetings
	C.  Limitations on the Length and Content of Public Comments
	D.  Additional Rights of the Public

	X.  Closed Sessions
	XI.  Enforcement
	XII.  Conclusion
	Part Two:  The Ralph M. Brown Act




